MALGLYCEMIA AND HEALTH OUTCOMES IN HOSPITALIZED PATIENTS WITH ACUTE MYELOID LEUKEMIA

Susan Storey

Submitted to the faculty of the University Graduate School in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree Doctor of Philosophy in the School of Nursing, Indiana University

July 2015

Accepted by the Graduate Faculty of Indiana University, in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy.

Diane Von Ah, PhD, RN, FAAN, Chair

Anna McDaniel, PhD, RN, FAAN

Doctoral Committee

Patricia Ebright, PhD, RN, FAAN

April 9, 2015

Michael Weaver, PhD, RN, FAAN

DEDICATION

This dissertation is dedicated to cancer patients, whose demonstration of bravery in the most difficult of situations is my inspiration.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This academic endeavor would not have been possible without the support of many wonderful people who challenged and inspired me along the way. I would like specifically thank the following people.

I would like to thank my dissertation committee, Dr. Diane Von Ah, Dr. Anna McDaniel, Dr. Patricia Ebright, and Dr. Michael Weaver who each in different ways shared their expertise with me and supported me in this academic journey.

To my committee chair, Dr. Von Ah, I wish to thank her for sharing her expertise in research and challenging me to think more critically. Dr. Von Ah's unwavering patience, guidance, and support have been sincerely appreciated. I attribute my success in the program to her excellent mentorship.

I am grateful to Dr. Anna McDaniel, for her advisement prior to admission and early in the doctoral program. Her ongoing support and encouragement of this endeavor have been steadfast.

I would like to thank Dr. Patricia Ebright, for serving on my dissertation committee. Her sincere interest in the success of my research and celebration of the milestones along the way were very much appreciated.

I would like to acknowledge Dr. Weaver for serving on my dissertation committee. Under his patient tutelage, I have learned to appreciate the importance of statistics in research.

I am grateful for mentors from the early years of my career, Patti Campbell and Dr. Lois Ellis, who inspired and encouraged me to further my education and pursue a lifetime of learning.

iv

I would also like to recognize the many co-workers and to my Clinical Nurse Specialist colleagues who often, without knowing, provided encouragement through a kind word or action, a smile, or a laugh when needed the most.

Thank you to Elizabeth Moore, Mindy Dillow, and Lynn Murphy whose skill sets facilitated aspects of this study. The expertise and attention to detail you each provided have been invaluable.

I would like to express sincere gratitude to my parents, Tom and Evelyn Haddock, who provided the foundation of a good education upon which to build and demonstrated that persistence and a strong work ethic is necessary to accomplish your goals.

To my children, Christopher and Christine, thank you for your relentless support of this endeavor. Your love, patience, and words of encouragement meant more to me than you will ever know.

To my husband, Jan, I could not have accomplished this without your love and support. You sacrificed much and took on additional responsibilities in order for me to reach this goal. You keep me centered and remind me to focus on the important things in life. I will be forever grateful for the selflessness and love you consistently demonstrate.

Lastly, and most importantly, I am thankful for the prayers of my husband, mother, and mother-in-law Rebecca Storey, other family and friends throughout this journey. I know that God placed all of these people in my life to help me reach this goal. Ultimately, it is only because of His love and strength that this has come to fruition. "I can do all things through Christ who strengthens me" (Philippians 4:13, KJV).

v

This study was supported by funding from:

The St. Vincent Foundation

Sigma Theta Tau International, Alpha Chapter

Susan Storey

MALGLYCEMIA AND HEALTH OUTCOMES IN HOSPITALIZED PATIENTS WITH ACUTE MYELOID LEUKEMIA

Acute Myeloid Leukemia (AML) is the most common hematologic malignancy. Malglycemia is a disorder of glucose metabolism and includes hyperglycemia, hypoglycemia and the combination of hyperglycemia and hypoglycemia. Malglycemia has been shown to occur frequently during hospitalization among critical care patients and has been associated with increased risk of sepsis and mortality. Little is known, however, about the prevalence and role of malglycemia on the health outcomes of AML patients hospitalized for initial induction therapy. Malglycemia may be of particular importance to the patient with AML because, researchers have found that malglycemia may promote cellular changes which facilitate the progression of cancer, alter treatment response, and attenuate immune response.

The purpose of this study was to determine the prevalence of malglycemia (hyperglycemia, hypoglycemia or the combination) and to examine its role on a comprehensive set of health outcomes (neutropenic days, infection, and septicemia, and sepsis, induction hospital length of stay, complete remission and mortality) in AML patients hospitalized for initial induction therapy.

A retrospective cohort study design was used. Records of 103 AML patients, hospitalized for initial induction chemotherapy were reviewed. Results of the study showed that 98% of the AML patients had at least one episode of hyperglycemia, with a prevalence rate of 33% over the entire induction inpatient hospitalization for this population. All patients noted with hyperglycemia also had hypoglycemia and thus, the

vii

prevalence rate of hypoglycemia alone could not be determined. Prevalence of the combination of hyperglycemia and hypoglycemia was 1.4 %. Although not statistically significant, a trend was noted for AML patients with hyperglycemia to experience more days with neutropenia, greater numbers of infection, sepsis, septicemia and death (mortality) than patients without hyperglycemia during induction treatment. Patients with the combination of hyperglycemia and hypoglycemia also experienced an increased risk of developing septicemia (p = .025) and sepsis (p = .057). Future studies with larger sample sizes are needed to confirm these findings.

Findings indicate that malglycemia is common and may have a detrimental impact on outcomes in AML patients. More research is warranted to elucidate clinically significant levels of malglycemia and its impact on health outcomes.

Diane Von Ah, PhD, RN, FAAN, Chair

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Chapter 1. Nature of the Study	
Significance	1
Cancer (AML) and Malglycemia	4
Overview of Malglycemia and Health Outcomes	5
Hyperglycemia	5
Hypoglycemia	
Combination of Hyperglycemia and Hypoglycemia	9
Statement of the Problem	11
Purpose and Aims of the Study	
Aim 1	
Aim 2	
Aim 3	13
Aim 4	13
Aim 5	14
Aim 6	14
Aim 7	15
Aim 8	15
Chapter 2. Background, Review of Literature & Conceptual Framework	17
Part One: Overview of Physiologic Systems	17
Glucose Metabolism	17
Insulin Resistance & Hyperinsulinemia	
Hypothalamic-Pituitary-Adrenal Axis	

Oxidative Stress & Cellular Milieu	22
The Immune System	24
Inflammation & Inflammatory Response	25
Part Two: Malglycemia, Cancer, and Health Outcomes	26
Part Three: Malglycemia, AML, and Health Outcomes	29
Part Four: Conceptual Frameworks	30
The Immunologic Surveillance Theory	32
Theory of Immunoediting	33
The Malglycemia Orbit Model	35
Guiding Framework	36
Outcomes	37
Number of neutropenic days	38
Infection	39
Septicemia	41
Sepsis	41
HLOS	41
Complete remission	42
Mortality	42
Covariates	43
Age	43
Comorbidities	44
CRF	44
The Malglycemia and AML Outcomes Model	44

Chapter 3. Method
Study Design
Sample Criteria
Inclusion/Exclusion Criteria 49
Sample Size
Protection of Human Subjects 49
Data Collection
Independent Variable: Malglycemia50
Outcomes
Neutropenic Days
Infection
Septicemia53
Sepsis
HLOS
Complete Remission
Mortality
Covariates
Age
Comorbidities
CRF
Data Collection

Data Analysis	
Logistic Regression	
Multicollinearity	
Tests of overall model	
Outliers	
Kaplan-Meier and Cox Regression	
Chapter 4. Results	
Sample Characteristics	
Specific Aims and Hypothesis Testing	
Aim 1 Prevalence	
Prevalence of hyperglycemia	
Prevalence of combination	
Aim 2 Neutropenic Days	
Hyperglycemia and neutropenic days	
Combination and neutropenic days	
Aim 3 Infection	
Hyperglycemia and infection	
Combination and infection	
Aim 4 Septicemia	
Hyperglycemia and septicemia	
Combination and septicemia	71

Ai	im 5 Sepsis	72
	Hyperglycemia and sepsis	72
	Combination and sepsis	73
Ai	im 6 Induction HLOS	74
	Hyperglycemia and induction HLOS	74
	Combination and induction HLOS	74
Ai	im 7 Complete Remission	75
	Hyperglycemia and complete remission	76
	Combination and complete remission	76
Ai	im 8 Mortality	77
	Hyperglycemia and induction mortality	78
	Combination and induction mortality	79
Chapter 5. 1	Discussion	80
Prevale	ence	80
Hy	yperglycemia	80
Co	ombination (Hyperglycemia and Hypoglycemia)	80
Measu	rement Issues	81
Outcor	mes	82
Nı	umber of Neutropenic Days	82
Int	fection	83
Se	epticemia	85
Se	- epsis	86
HI	LOS	87
HI	LOS	87

Complete Remission	
Mortality	89
Summary	
Limitations	
Implications for Practice	
Conclusion	
Appendix A. Overview of Physiologic Processes	
Appendix B. Normal Glucose Metabolism	
Appendix D. Literature Review and Outcome Table	
Appendix E. NCCN Cytogenetic Risk	104
Appendix F. Malglycemia and AML Outcomes	105
Appendix G. CCI	106
Appendix H. Malglycemia Measurement Table	107
Appendix I. Institutional Review Board Approval	
References	
Curriculum Vitae	

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1 Patient Demographic and Medical Characteristics of Sample, $N = 10361$
Table 2 Overall Patient Characteristics by Health Outcome 61
Table 3 Comparison of Patient Characteristics by Hyperglycemic Status 63
Table 4 Comparison of Patient Characteristics by Combination (Hyperglycemia and
Hypoglycemia) Status 64
Table 5 Health Outcomes by Hyperglycemic Status 65
Table 6 Health Outcomes by Combination (Hyperglycemia and
Hypoglycemia) Status 65

LIST OF FIGURES

1.	Guiding framework for this study: The malglycemia and AML	
	outcomes model	.47
2.	Rationale for exclusion from study	.48

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

- ADA American Diabetes Association
- AML Acute myeloid leukemia
- BMI Body mass index
- BMT Bone marrow transplant
- CBC Complete blood count
- CCI Charlson Comorbidity Index
- CRF Cytogenetic risk factor
- HLOS Hospital length of stay
- ICU Intensive care unit
- NCCI National Comprehensive Cancer Network
- ROS Reactive oxygen species
- WBC White blood cell

CHAPTER 1. NATURE OF THE STUDY

The following research focuses on malglycemia (hyperglycemia, hypoglycemia, or the combination) and health outcomes in hospitalized patients with Acute myeloid leukemia (AML). The main objective of this study was to examine the prevalence and impact of malglycemia (hyperglycemia, hypoglycemia, or the combination) on the health outcomes of the hospitalized AML patient. Specifically, this study examined the impact of malglycemia, hypoglycemia, or the combination) on neutropenic days, infection, septicemia, sepsis, and induction length of stay, overall hospital length of hospital stay, complete remission, and mortality during hospitalization for induction therapy. Findings from this study provide information regarding the prevalence and consequences associated with malglycemia (hyperglycemia, hypoglycemia, hypoglycemia, or the combination) in the hospitalized patient with AML. Ultimately, this research will be used to support the need for the development of interventions to monitor and control blood glucose, mitigate the untoward consequences associated with malglycemia and improve the quality of life among hospitalized patients with AML.

Significance

It is estimated that the global incidence of new cancer cases will be over 22 million by 2030 (Bray, Jemal, Grey, Ferlay, & Forman, 2012). The current life time risk for developing cancer is 41% (National Cancer Institute, 2012). Cancer is a complex physiologic process that interplays with many body systems. A hematologic cancer, AML, is the most common type of acute leukemia in adults (O'Donnell et al., 2012). It is estimated that approximately 14,000 people are diagnosed and 10,000 die from AML each year in the United States (National Cancer Institute, 2012). The incidence of AML

increases with age (Rodak, Fritsma, & Keohane, 2012) with a median age of diagnosis at 67 years (O'Donnell et al., 2012). A diagnosis of AML is associated with both high acuity and symptom profile and is attributed to the highest number of leukemia-related deaths annually (O'Donnell et al., 2012). The overall survival rate for AML is approximately 30% (Fanning, Sekeres, & Theil, 2009).

An aggressive disease, AML is characterized by the rapid propagation of neoplastic hematopoietic (blood forming) cells and is highly fatal without treatment (Pulte, Gondos, & Brenner, 2010). It presents as an excessive production of blasts (immature blood forming cells) in the myeloid cells such as the white blood cells, red blood cells, or the cells that make platelets, resulting in the crowding of normal blood cells, disruption of normal hematopoiesis, and subsequent failure of the bone marrow (Plass, Oakes, Blum, & Marcucci, 2008). In AML, aberrant cell progression is thought to occur via the inactivation of tumor suppressor cells leading to disproportionately higher rates of cell proliferation than cell death—a process called clonal expansion (Nowak, Michor, & Iwasa, 2006). Clonal expansion occurs in the myeloid blasts located in the peripheral blood, bone marrow, and/or other tissues (O'Donnell et al., 2012).

Treatment for AML is based on age, chromosomal translocation, cytogenetic risk status, and initial response to induction chemotherapy (National Comprehensive Cancer Network [NCCN] Guidelines for AML, 2012). Initial induction chemotherapy may be followed by one to four additional cycles of consolidation chemotherapy and/or stem-cell transplantation (Roboz, 2011). In general, there are three phases of treatment that can be repeated based on response: (a) initial induction chemotherapy, (b) post-remission

consolidation and in some cases stem-cell transplantation (bone marrow transplant [BMT]), and (c) relapse.

The initial induction phase for AML is a crucial time period for the patients. The response to the initial treatment can determine the success or need for subsequent re-induction treatments. Initial induction therapy includes the administration of two cytotoxic chemotherapy agents, cyatarabine (also known as ARA-C) and an anthracycline (either idarubicin or daunorubicin). This standard treatment consists of seven days of continuous intravenous cytarabine infusion during which the anthracycline is administered over the first 3 days—known as 7+3 (NCCN, 2012; Tefferi & Letendre, 2012). The goal of initial induction chemotherapy in AML is to reduce the leukemic cell population in the body from approximately 10¹² to below the detectable cytology level of about 10⁹ cells and to restore the production of normal blood cells (Lawson, 2013). A bone marrow aspiration after the completion of induction chemotherapy is used to determine if complete remission has occurred. The AML patient continues to receive chemotherapy even if complete remission has been achieved to treat undetected leukemia cells and attempt to thwart relapse (Lawson, 2013).

The severity of side effects associated with the 7+3 depends on the patient's age and comorbidities and the dosage of chemotherapy. Common side effects of treatment include immunosuppression, fatigue, alopecia, and mucositis. Suppression of the bone marrow is the most life-threatening treatment side effect, leaving the patient vulnerable to infection. Bone marrow recovery varies by individual patient characteristics but generally takes 2–3 weeks and is typically required before discharge from the hospital (Texas Oncology, 2014).

During initial induction chemotherapy, medications used in the treatment regimen for AML may also influence malglycemia. Corticosteroids used to potentiate the effects of chemotherapy and to mitigate the emetogenic side effect of chemotherapy can induce hyperglycemia. Additionally, decreases in activity and appetite may influence hypoglycemia and/or the combination (hyperglycemia and hypoglycemia). Therefore, AML patients may be at higher risk for malglycemia (hyperglycemia, hypoglycemia, or combination) as a result of the aggregation of the disease process, treatment, and physical alterations in diet and activity, potentially resulting in detrimental outcomes.

Cancer (AML) and Malglycemia

A complex reciprocal relationship has been observed between cancer, including AML, and malglycemia (hyperglycemia, hypoglycemia, or the combination of hyperglycemia and hypoglycemia). Malglycemia is a disorder of glucose metabolism and includes hyperglycemia (blood glucose ≥ 126 mg/dL), hypoglycemia (blood glucose < 70 mg/dL), and/or glycemic variability; defined in this study as the combination of hyperglycemia and hypoglycemia (Hammer et al., 2009; Monnier, Colette, & Owens, 2008; Siegelaar, Holleman, Hoekstra, & DeVries, 2010). Researchers have shown that malglycemia (hyperglycemia, hypoglycemia, or the combination) can detrimentally impact health outcomes in critical care patients (Egi et al., 2008; Egi et al., 2010; Hermanides et al., 2010a; Krinsley, 2003; Krinsley & Glover, 2007). However, few studies have examined the relationship of malglycemia (hyperglycemia, hypoglycemia, or the combination) on outcomes in cancer patients. Therefore, the overarching goal of this study was to focus on three components of malglycemia (hyperglycemia,

hypoglycemia, or the combination) and their impact on health outcomes in hospitalized AML patients.

Overview of Malglycemia and Health Outcomes

Malglycemia (hyperglycemia, hypoglycemia, or combination) may be common among hospitalized patients with or without diabetes. The physiologic and psychological stress of illness, medical treatments, and changes in nutrition and activity can alter the metabolism of glucose resulting in malglycemia. Normoglycemia or acceptable parameters for blood glucose range from 70 mg/dL to125 mg/dL (American Diabetes Association [ADA], 2013). Parameters for hyperglycemia and hypoglycemia also have been established by the ADA. Hyperglycemia is defined as any blood glucose (FBG) \geq 126 mg/dL. Hypoglycemia is defined as blood glucose of < 70 mg/dL (ADA, 2013). Glycemic variability has been measured in various ways including standard deviation mean amplitude of glycemic excursions, mean of daily differences, and average daily risk range. In this study, the combination of hyperglycemic and hypoglycemic fasting blood glucoses served as a proxy measure of glycemic variability.

Hyperglycemia

Hyperglycemia may be prevalent among hospitalized patients. Studies have demonstrated the incidence of hyperglycemia to be approximately 32% of critical and non-critical care hospitalized adult patients (Swanson, Potter, Kongable, & Cook, 2011). Much less is known, however, regarding the prevalence of hyperglycemia in cancer patents. Hammer (2008) reported that 99% of the 1,175 BMT cancer patients had hyperglycemia (blood glucose \geq 126 mg/dL) through day 99 post-transplant. However, BMT cancer patients may not represent all cancer patients because they typically have aggressive and resistant cancers and undergo more extensive treatment regimens. In AML patients no studies have examined the prevalence of hyperglycemia. Only one study of AML patients, which used different thresholds for hyperglycemia than the ADA definition of ≥ 126 mg/dL, noted 91% of 283 AML patients had at least one blood glucose > 110 mg/dL, and 52% had at least one blood glucose > 150 mg/dL (Ali et al., 2007). This study suggested that hyperglycemia may be a prevalent problem among hospitalized cancer patients including patients with AML, however, more research is needed.

Hyperglycemia also may have a detrimental impact on health outcomes. Clinical research of critically ill patients have demonstrated an association between hyperglycemia and increased incidence of infection and/or sepsis (Benfield, Jensen, & Nordestgaard, 2007), longer hospital length of stay ((HLOS; Krinsley, 2003), and increased morbidity and mortality (Kreutziger, Schlaepfer, Wenzel, & Constantinescu, 2009; Krinsley, 2003; Umpierrez et al., 2002; Van den Berghe et al., 2001). Fewer studies have been conducted in non-critical care patients, but findings suggest that hyperglycemia may be associated with poorer health outcomes. In general medical–surgical patients, hyperglycemia on admission was associated with the deleterious outcomes including increased urinary tract infections, stroke, hemorrhage, infections, ileus, and venous thromboembolism (Carr, 2001; Mraovic et al., 2010), mortality (Kent, Soukup, & Fabian, 2001; Lemkes et al., 2010; Marchant, Viens, Cook, Vail, & Bolognesi, 2009) and longer length of hospital stay (Carr, 2001). In addition, patients with hyperglycemia during hospitalization were found to be more likely to

require a transfer to the intensive care unit (ICU) and less likely to be discharged directly home (Umpierrez et al., 2002).

Among cancer patients, emerging experimental and clinical evidence suggests hyperglycemia may impact health outcomes. Researchers have found that hyperglycemia may impact diagnostic imaging studies, promote cellular changes that facilitate the development and progression of cancers (Barone et al., 2008; Becker, Dossus, & Kaaks, 2009; Duan et al., 2014; Larrson, Mantzoros, & Wolk, 2007; Larsson, Orsini, & Wolk, 2005; Onitilo et al., 2012b; Ryu, Park, & Scherer, 2014), alter response to treatment (Biernacka et al., 2013; Tredan, Galmarini, & Tannock, 2007; Yi-Shing et al., 2013; Zeng, 2010) and/or result in poor health outcomes (infection, mortality, length of hospital stay) in cancer patients (Storey & Von Ah, 2012).

The significance of malglycemia (hyperglycemia, hypoglycemia, or the combination) to outcomes in AML patients is largely unknown and has yet to be fully explored. To date only three studies have been conducted to examine the impact of hyperglycemia on health outcomes in AML patients (Ali et al., 2007; Matias et al., 2014; Storey & Von Ah, 2015). Ali and colleagues (2007) found that hyperglycemia increased the odds of developing infection/sepsis (*OR* 1.15; *p* < .005), severe sepsis (*OR* 1.24; *p* < .001), or severe sepsis with respiratory failure (*OR* 2.04; *p* < .001) in 283 patients with AML. In Ali and colleagues' study (2007), hyperglycemia also was linked with increases in hospital mortality (*p* < .001). Ali et al. (2007) noted a clear association between even mild levels of hyperglycemia (110 mg/dL–150 mg/dL) and mortality, which remained after adjusting for disease-specific and clinical variables. Matias et al. (2013) noted increased odds for developing a complicated infection (*OR* 3.97; *p* < 0.001)

and death (*OR* 3.55; p < 0.001) when hyperglycemia was present. Storey and Von Ah (2015) found in a pilot study of leukemia patients which included patients with AML, that those patients with hyperglycemia had 1.6 higher odds (*OR* 1.6; p < 0.01) of experiencing neutropenia and longer HLOS (2 days versus 15 days; p = 0.000) than patients with normoglycemia; however, a relationship between hyperglycemia and documented infection was not noted. Further studies are needed to identify the role of hyperglycemia on health outcomes in this patient population.

Hypoglycemia

Hypoglycemia has been noted to be less common than hyperglycemia in hospitalized patients. The percentage of hospital patients experiencing hypoglycemia is estimated between 5.7% (Swanson et al., 2011) and 10% (Boucai, Southern, & Zonszein, 2011). Among BMT patients, Hammer (2008) noted 16% (189/1175) had at least one episode of hypoglycemia. Few studies among cancer patients, including patients with AML, have examined the prevalence of hypoglycemia.

Although, the occurrence of hypoglycemia is less frequent than hyperglycemia the impact on outcomes also has been shown to be detrimental. Critically ill patients were shown to be 2 (2.1) times (p < .001) more likely to die when they experienced hypoglycemia in the ICU (Hermanides et al., 2010b). Bagshaw and colleagues (2009) found hypoglycemia to be associated with death. In fact, patients with hypoglycemia in the ICU (OR 1.4; 95% CI [1.31–1.54]) and hospital (OR 1.36; CI [1.27–1.46]) were more likely to die than those without hypoglycemia. Gamble, Eurick, Marrie, and Majumdar (2010) noted hospital mortality was higher among patients with admission hypoglycemia when compared to those with normoglycemia ([aHR] 2.96; p = .005). In 2,582 diabetic

patients admitted to general medical units, Turchin et al. (2009) found that each additional day with hypoglycemia was associated with an 85.3% increase in the odds (p = .0003) of inpatient mortality. These findings suggest that hypoglycemia, though reported less often, also can have a nocuous impact on the health outcomes of hospitalized patients. The impact of hypoglycemia on health outcomes in cancer patients, on the other hand, has not been well studied. Only one study of BMT patients consisting of a variety of cancer diagnoses (chronic myeloid leukemia, AML, acute lymphoblastic leukemia, chronic lymphoblastic leukemia, and non-Hodgins lymphoma) and pre-cancer (myelodysplastic syndrome and aplastic anemia) diagnoses has been conducted to examine the impact of hypoglycemia on health outcomes. Hammer and colleagues (2009) noted an association between hypoglycemia and non-relapse mortality in 1,175 of BMT patients. Specifically, patients with blood glucose of \leq 89 mg/dL had 2 times higher risk of mortality at 200 days post-BMT (Hammer et al., 2009). Findings from this lone study suggest that hypoglycemia may have a detrimental impact on health outcomes in cancer patients. However, to date no studies have been conducted evaluating the relationship of hypoglycemia on a comprehensive set of health outcomes (neutropenic days, infection, and septicemia, and sepsis, induction HLOS, complete remission, and mortality) in the hospitalized AML patient. Further research is warranted to understand the role of hypoglycemia on health outcomes in AML patients.

Combination of Hyperglycemia and Hypoglycemia

Glycemic variability or fluctuations in high and low blood glucose levels, also can be defined as the combination of hyperglycemia and hypoglycemia. Variations in blood glucose are difficult to measure; a standard statistical measurement has yet to be defined.

In this study, the term *combination*, which includes both episodes of hyperglycemia and hypoglycemia, will be used as proxy for glycemic variability.

The impact of the combination (hyperglycemia and hypoglycemia), a newer phenomenon, has been shown to detrimentally effect the outcomes of critically ill patients. Bagshaw et al. (2009) found critical care patients with glycemic variability had a greater odds of ICU (*OR* 1.5; 95% CI [1.4, 1.6] and hospital (*OR* 1.4; 95% CI [1.3, 1.5]) mortality when compared to patients with hypoglycemia only or those with normoglycemia.

Glycemic variability was studied by two researchers in BMT patients with conflicting results. Fuji et al. (2009) assessed the impact of glycemic variability in BMT patients and infection but no association was noted. However, Hammer et al. (2009) studied glycemic variability in BMT patients and found it to be associated with a 14.5-fold increase in non-relapse mortality. The limited number of studies may be due to the complexity in assessing and collecting measures of glycemic variability.

Overall, malglycemia (hyperglycemia, hypoglycemia, or the combination) may play an important role in impacting health outcomes among hospitalized cancer patients, specifically those with AML. However, there is paucity of research regarding malglycemia (hyperglycemia, hypoglycemia, or the combination) and its impact on health outcomes in the AML patient population. Among AML patients, the impact of malglycemia (hyperglycemia, hypoglycemia, or the combination) has not been well studied. Only two studies have examined the component of hyperglycemia in AML patients. These studies examined the role of hyperglycemia on health outcomes (hospital mortality and sepsis) in AML patients (Ali et al., 2007; Matias et al., 2013). At this time,

no studies among AML patients have included all three components of malglycemia. Because malglycemia (hyperglycemia, hypoglycemia, or the combination) has been associated with poorer outcomes among other patient populations, it is important to determine if malglycemia during hospitalization is associated with poorer health outcomes among this vulnerable population.

Statement of the Problem

Research is needed to determine the prevalence of malglycemia (hyperglycemia, hypoglycemia, or the combination) and its impact on health outcomes of hospitalized AML patients. The frequency with which malglycemia (hyperglycemia, hypoglycemia, or the combination) occurs among patients with hematologic cancers has not been well described. Among cancer patients, studies in BMT patients noted the rate of hyperglycemia to be as high as 93% (Hammer et al., 2009). Despite indications that hyperglycemia is common, there is limited information on the prevalence and impact on health outcomes during induction treatment for patients hospitalized with AML. Researchers have shown a link between malglycemia (hyperglycemia, hypoglycemia, or the combination) and poorer health outcomes in cancer patients (Storey & Von Ah, 2012). However, those studies were limited by focusing solely on hyperglycemia and/or focusing predominately on BMT patients.

Patients with AML may have a high incidence of malglycemia (hyperglycemia, hypoglycemia, or the combination) and as a result may experience poor health outcomes. To date, only three studies have examined the impact of malglycemia on health outcomes in AML patients during hospital admissions. While informative, these studies focused on hyperglycemia and failed identify the important role of all three components of

malglycemia (hyperglycemia, hypoglycemia, or the combination) on health outcomes in the newly diagnosed AML patient hospitalized for induction treatment—a critical time point in the treatment/survival trajectory for AML patients.

Purpose and Aims of the Study

The purpose of this study was to advance knowledge regarding the prevalence of malglycemia (hyperglycemia, hypoglycemia, or the combination) and evaluate its association with the following health outcomes: neutropenic days, infection, septicemia, and sepsis, HLOS, induction length of stay, complete remission, and mortality in hospitalized AML patients during initial induction chemotherapy. This study will broaden the scope of previous studies and improve understanding of the untoward impact of malglycemia on a comprehensive set of health outcomes in hospitalized AML patients.

Aim 1

Describe the prevalence of malglycemia (hyperglycemia, hypoglycemia, or the combination) among AML patients during hospitalization for induction therapy.

Aim 2

Examine the association between malglycemia (hyperglycemia, hypoglycemia, or the combination) and neutropenic days controlling for known covariates of age and comorbidities among AML patients during hospitalization for induction therapy.

H2.1.0: There is no association between hyperglycemia and the neutropenic days when controlling for known covariates of age and comorbidities.

H2.2.0: There is no association between hypoglycemia and the neutropenic days when controlling for known covariates of age and comorbidities.

H2.3.0: There is no association between the combination of hyperglycemia and hypoglycemia and the number of neutropenic days controlling for the known covariates of age and comorbidities.

Aim 3

Examine the association between malglycemia (hyperglycemia, hypoglycemia, or the combination) and infection controlling for known covariates of age and comorbidities among AML patients during hospitalization for induction.

H3.1.0: There is no association between hyperglycemia and infection when controlling for known covariates of age and comorbidities.

H3.2.0: There is no association between hypoglycemia and infection when controlling for known covariates of age and comorbidities.

H3.3.0: There is no association between the combination of hyperglycemia and hypoglycemia and infection when controlling for known covariates of age and comorbidities.

Aim 4

Examine the association(s) between malglycemia (hyperglycemia, hypoglycemia, or the combination) and septicemia controlling for known covariates of age and comorbidities among AML patients during hospitalization for induction.

H4.1.0: There is no association between hyperglycemia and septicemia when controlling for known covariates of age and comorbidities.

H4.2.0: There is no association between hypoglycemia and septicemia when controlling for known covariates of age and comorbidities.

H4.3.0: There is no association between the combination of hyperglycemia and hypoglycemia and septicemia when controlling for known covariates of age and comorbidities.

Aim 5

Examine the association between malglycemia (hyperglycemia, hypoglycemia, or the combination) and sepsis controlling for known covariates of age and comorbidities among AML patients during hospitalization for induction.

H5.1.0: There is no association between hyperglycemia and sepsis when controlling for known covariates of age and comorbidities.

H5.2.0: There is no association between hypoglycemia and sepsis when controlling for known covariates of age and comorbidities.

H5.3.0: There is no association between the combination of hyperglycemia and hypoglycemia and sepsis when controlling for known covariates of age and comorbidities.

Aim 6

Examine the association between malglycemia (hyperglycemia, hypoglycemia, or the combination) and HLOS controlling for known covariates of age and comorbidities among AML patients during hospitalization for induction.

H6.1.0: There is no association between hyperglycemia and HLOS when controlling for known covariates of age and comorbidities.

H6.2.0: There is no association between hypoglycemia and HLOS when controlling for known covariates of age and comorbidities.

H6.3.0: There is no association between the combination of hyperglycemia and hypoglycemia and HLOS when controlling for known covariates of age and comorbidities.

Aim 7

Examine the association between malglycemia (hyperglycemia, hypoglycemia, or the combination) and complete remission controlling for known covariates of age, comorbidities and cytogenetic risk factor (CRF) among AML patients during hospitalization for induction.

H7.1.0: There is no association between hyperglycemia and complete remission when controlling for known covariates of age, comorbidities, and CRF.

H7.2.0: There is no association between hypoglycemia and complete remission when controlling for known covariates of age, comorbidities, and CRF.

H7.3.0: There is no association between the combination of hyperglycemia and hypoglycemia and complete remission when controlling for known covariates of age, comorbidities, and CRF.

Aim 8

Examine the association between malglycemia (hyperglycemia, hypoglycemia, or the combination) and induction mortality controlling for known covariates of age, comorbidities, and CRF among AML patients during hospitalization for induction.

H8.1.0: There is no association between hyperglycemia and mortality when controlling for known covariates of age, comorbidities, and CRF.

H8.2.0: There is no association between hypoglycemia and mortality when controlling for known covariates of age, comorbidities, and CRF.

H8.2.0: There is no association between the combination of hyperglycemia and hypoglycemia and mortality when controlling for known covariates of age, comorbidities, and CRF.

This is the first study to examine the three components of malglycemia (hyperglycemia, hypoglycemia, or combination) on a comprehensive set of health outcomes in hospitalized patients with AML. Findings from this study provide information regarding the consequences associated with malglycemia (hyperglycemia, hypoglycemia, or the combination) in the hospitalized patient with AML. Ultimately, this research will be used to facilitate the development of interventions to monitor and control blood glucose, mitigate the untoward consequences associated with malglycemia, and improve quality of life among hospitalized patients with AML.

CHAPTER 2. BACKGROUND, REVIEW OF LITERATURE & CONCEPTUAL FRAMEWORK

The human body has many equally dynamic complex systems embedded within. Malglycemia (hyperglycemia, hypoglycemia, or the combination) and cancer elicit a cascade of reciprocal effects on these systems in the body. See Appendix A for overview of physiologic processes associated with malglycemia, AML and health outcomes. These independent yet reciprocal physiologic processes that occur in malglycemia (hyperglycemia, hypoglycemia, or the combination) and cancer are important to understand, as they may impact toxicities, response to treatment, progression of cancer, survival, and mortality. The purpose of this chapter is to connect the science of malglycemia (hyperglycemia, hypoglycemia, or the combination) research to health outcomes in hospitalized patients with AML. The chapter is divided into four sections including overviews of the following: (a) glucose metabolism and physiologic systems; (b) malglycemia, cancer, and health outcomes; (c) malglycemia, AML, and health outcomes; and (d) conceptual frameworks and the guiding framework for this study. Malglycemia, cancer, and AML are multifarious physiologic processes that involve research from many scientific disciplines; this overview will include information from sources in biology, biochemistry, pathophysiology, endocrinology, immunology, medicine, and nursing.

Part One: Overview of Physiologic Systems

Glucose Metabolism

Maintaining homeostasis in plasma glucose concentrations requires a precise balance between intake, production, and delivery of glucose to cells (Giugliano,

Ceriello, & Esposito, 2008). Glucose is needed for energy and cellular function (Hammer & Voss, 2012; Martini, Nath, & Bartholomew, 2012) and is transported to the cell through multiple metabolic pathways (Giugliano et al., 2008). Three primary sources: intestinal absorption of carbohydrates through digestion, glycogenolysis (conversion of glycogen stores in the liver to glucose), and gluconeogenesis (formation of new glucose from glycogen) supply glucose (Gearhart & Parbhoo, 2006; Giugliano et al., 2008; Martini et al., 2012). Glycogen is the stored form of glucose, an important energy reserve that is broken down by the liver for mobilization of glucose in times of metabolic need (Martini et al., 2012; Mizock, 2001). Glyconeogenesis is a complex multi-step process, whereas glycogenolysis takes place quickly and involves a single enzymatic step (Martini et al., 2012).

The regulation of glucose is dependent upon hormone release and feedback mechanisms that include glucagon (hyperglycemic hormone) from the alpha cells, insulin (hypoglycemic hormone) from beta cells of the pancreas, and hepatic and neural auto-regulatory mechanisms (Massa, Gagliardino, & Francini, 2011; Mizock, 2001). Appendix B demonstrates normal glucose metabolism. Glucagon is a hyperglycemic hormone that accelerates the breakdown of glycogen in the liver and causes the level of blood glucose to rise within minutes (Giugliano et al., 2008). In addition to glucagon, catecholamines, cortisol, and growth hormones elevate blood glucose through stimulation of glycogenolysis, gluconeogenesis, and inhibition of insulin uptake by the cells (Hammer & Voss, 2012; Martini et al., 2012; Mizock, 2001).

Insulin is a hypoglycemic hormone that enhances cellular uptake of glucose and synthesis of glycogen by suppressing gluconeogenesis (Hammer & Voss, 2012; Martini

et al., 2012; Mizock, 2001). Insulin increases the permeability of cells to glucose, facilitates the transport of glucose into the cells, and stimulates glycogen formation and causes blood glucose levels to decrease. Insulin binds to insulin receptors on the cell surface and opens the channels for glucose to enter the cells where it is then converted into energy.

Under normal conditions insulin levels fluctuate rapidly to correspond with changes in blood glucose concentrations. Central and peripheral gluco-sensors are important for regulation because they monitor the availability of glucose (Mizock, 2001). In hypoglycemia, counter-regulatory hormones are secreted to elevate blood glucose (Marik & Raghavan, 2004; Mizock, 2001) increasing the rate of impulses among the neurons that stimulate the hypothalamus to increase sympathetic outflow and decrease parasympathetic activity. This elevates blood glucose by promoting glycogenolysis and inhibiting secretion of insulin (Mizock, 2001). In hyperglycemia central receptors in the hypothalamus increase activity that releases the inhibitory sympathetic tone on the pancreas stimulating the release of insulin (Mizock, 2001). Peripheral glucose sensors located in the portal vein, small intestine, and liver decrease the rate of impulses to neurons during times of higher glucose concentrations. These signals are transmitted from the vagus nerve to the medulla, resulting in increased secretion of insulin and hepatic uptake of glucose and inhibition of catecholamines (Mizock, 2001).

Insulin Resistance & Hyperinsulinemia

Insulin is the primary regulator of fat, carbohydrate, and protein metabolism regulating the synthesis of glycogen, inhibiting the synthesis of glucose by the liver, and stimulating the storage and release of fat as well as protein needed for function, repair
and growth of cells (Taubes, 2009). The fundamental role of insulin is to coordinate the use of fuels in the body determining whether they get utilized or stored. Insulin signals information on the availability of fuel from the periphery to the brain and the central nervous system (Taubes, 2009). Under normal conditions when glucose is elevated, insulin stores the excess glucose as fat in tissue or transfers it to muscle. Insulin then conveys a message to the mitochondria of the cell signaling it to use the glucose for energy. As blood glucose drops, insulin mobilizes the fatty acids and signals the mitochondria to utilize those as the energy source instead of glucose (Taubes, 2009; Martini et al., 2012). In addition, insulin has properties that have been shown to reduce inflammation, proinflammatory cytokines, and oxidative stress (Marik & Raghavan, 2004).

When persistent elevations in blood glucose occur, the over-secretion of insulin is no longer able to compensate for combined insulin resistance and high levels of glucose (Kellenberger et al., 2010). Insulin resistance is defined as a decrease in the effective response of tissues to insulin in terms of glucose uptake and inhibition of gluconeogenesis (Becker et al., 2009). Excess body weight and adiposity have been directly linked to this reduction in sensitivity to insulin (Becker et al., 2009). High levels of circulating proinflammatory cytokines Interleukin-6 (IL-6) and Tumor necrosis factor-alpha (TNF α) sustain insulin resistance and hyperglycemia (Becker et al., 2009). The resistance to insulin causes the pancreas to increase production of insulin resulting in high circulating levels referred to as hyperinsulinemia which, in turn, continues to perpetuate insulin resistance (Shank et al., 2008; Taubes, 2009) and hyperglycemia. Insulin resistance and hyperinsulinemia impair the entry of glucose into cells limiting the

ability of cells to access fuel (Kellenberger et al., 2010) increasing the amount of circulating blood glucose.

Hyperinsulinemia and insulin resistance have been shown to exacerbate inflammation and are considered a major factor contributing to the association between diabetes and cancer (Buysschaert & Sadikot, 2013; Parekh, Lin, Hayes, Albu, & Lu-Yao, 2010; Soop et al., 2002;). Elevated levels of insulin may stimulate cell proliferation and tumorigenesis (production of tumors) by increasing circulating insulin growth factors (Buysschaert & Sadikot, 2013; Onitilo et al., 2012b) that can lead to proliferation of aberrant cells and decreased apoptosis, or controlled cell death (Buysschaert & Sadikot, 2013; Qin, Wang, Tao, & Wang, 2012). Modulation of circulating insulin and glucose levels by anti-diabetic medications appear to play a role in altering cancer risk and is currently being studied (Parekh et al., 2010; Onitilo et al., 2012a).

Hypothalamic-Pituitary-Adrenal Axis

Glucose regulation also occurs via the hypothalamus, which provides high level endocrine control during periods of stress by integrating activities of the nervous and endocrine systems (Martini et al., 2012; Vasa & Molitch, 2001). Through a process of signaling, the hypothalamus synthesizes hormones and transports them to the pituitary gland where they are released into circulation (Kalsbeek et al., 2010; Martini et al., 2012). Corticotropin-releasing hormone is secreted by the hypothalamus, which stimulates the pituitary gland to secrete adrenocorticotropin hormone. As a result, the adrenal glands are stimulated to release the steroid hormones corticosterone and cortisol increasing blood glucose levels (Martini et al., 2012). Glucocorticosteroids are glucose sparing and act by increasing glucose synthesis and glycogen formation in the liver.

Adipose tissue releases fatty acids into circulation and tissues begin to breakdown the fatty acids and proteins for energy utilization rather than glucose (Martini et al., 2012).

Activation of the hypothalamic–pituitary–adrenal axis is an essential component of general adaptation to illness and stress and contributes to the maintenance of cellular and organ homeostasis. Physiologic stress such as severe illness challenges the compensatory mechanisms used to maintain homeostasis, resulting in the inability of those systems to continue to adapt. Evidence suggests that patients with and without a diagnosis of hyperglycemia may have poorer outcomes. In fact, Umpierrez et al. (2002) noted in 2,030 hospitalized patients that hyperglycemia was an independent predictor of poor outcomes and that those patients without diabetes who experience malglycemia (hyperglycemia) had significantly higher mortality rates and poorer functional outcomes than patients with the diagnosis of diabetes (Umpierrez et al., 2002).

Oxidative Stress & Cellular Milieu

Mitochondria within the cells are responsible for the production of energy to maintain cell survival and function (Martini et al., 2012). The production of energy is coupled with oxygen consumption then reduced to water with 4% to 5% being converted to reactive oxygen species (ROS) also known as free radicals (Klaunig & Kamendulis, 2004). Byproducts of normal cell metabolism, ROS, and antioxidants modulate ROS and maintain cellular homeostasis (Richards, Wang, & Jelinek, 2007).

Abnormal inflammatory states occur in the presence of malglycemia, causing mitochondrial dysfunction, thus producing more oxygen than required to generate cellular energy. A *superoxide* state occurs in which an over-production of oxidants causes oxidative stress (Giacco & Brownlee, 2010; Wang et al., 2012). Oxidative stress is

defined as an imbalance between production of ROS and the counterbalancing of antioxidants that neutralize and eliminate them (Brinkman et al., 2011; Klaunig & Kamendulis, 2004). Oxidative stress causes interruptions to normal cell metabolism, cell pathway signaling and cell to cell homeostasis (Pitocco et al., 2010; Wang et al., 2012).

Malglycemia (hyperglycemia, hypoglycemia, or the combination) induces oxidative stress in cells (Ceriello et al., 2012; Ceriello & Kilpatrick, 2013; Monnier et al., 2006; Vincent et al., 2005; Wang et al., 2012). When oxidative stress is increased due to malglycemia (hyperglycemia, hypoglycemia, or the combination), cellular responses are initiated that include active cell death, gene activation, and proliferation (Ayra, Pokharia, & Tripathi, 2011; Singh, Jain, & Kaur, 2004), endothelial cell dysfunction, and alteration in important cell signaling cascades (Wang et al., 2012). Additionally, hyperglycemia-induced oxidative stress invokes toxic effects on beta cells by decreasing the level and content of insulin production (Pitocco et al., 2010).

Malglycemia (hyperglycemia, hypoglycemia, or the combination) is a risk factor for the development of cancer and progression of cancer and has been shown to promote a cellular milieu conducive to the promulgation of cancer (Adham et al., 2014; Kellenberger et al., 2010; Li et al., 2012; Onitilo et al., 2012a;). Oxidative stress, which may be precipitated by malglycemia (hyperglycemia, hypoglycemia, or the combination), promotes mechanisms that influence tumor growth such as cell signal transduction, increased DNA damage, and mutations, (Klaunig & Kamendulis, 2004) cellular proliferation (Giacco & Brownlee, 2010; Ziech et al., 2010;) and progression of cells towards cancer development and metastasis (Reuter, Gupta, Chaturvedi, & Aggarwal, 2010; Visconti & Grieco, 2009). Endothelial cell dysfunction caused by oxidative stress

has been associated with increased vascular permeability and subsequent tumor metastasis (Franses & Edelman, 2011). In addition, persistent oxidative stress can lead to chronic inflammation activating the immune system which in turn can facilitate cancer (Calle & Fernandez, 2012; Onitilo et al., 2012b; Reuter et al., 2010).

The Immune System

The immune system is a highly adaptive defense system whose purpose is to (a) defend against foreign organisms, (b) maintain homeostasis by destroying aged or damaged cells, and (c) provide surveillance (Goldsby, Kindt, & Osborne, 2000). Research defined two types of immune response. Innate immunity allows the body to differentiate between normal self and non-self; it is non-antigen specific with no immunologic memory. Adaptive immunity is antigen dependent, specific, and has immunologic memory (Muehlbauer & Schwartzentruber, 2005).

The immune system is impacted by malglycemia (hyperglycemia, hypoglycemia, or the combination). Animal studies have demonstrated that hyperglycemia for as little as 3 hours can significantly diminish immune function (Kwoun et al., 1997), induce oxidative stress, and activate the release of cytokines (Ling, Mueller, Smith, & Bistrian, 2003). Malglycemia (hyperglycemia, hypoglycemia, or the combination) has been shown to attenuate the immune system by triggering prolonged expression of proinflammatory cytokines impairing immune cell signaling (Dandona, Chaudhuri, & Dhindsa, 2010; Germenis & Karanikas, 2007). Additionally, hyperglycemia has been noted to impact the immune system by reducing migration of leukocytes impairing the mechanisms of phagocytosis and reducing the proliferation of lymphocytes-augmenting vulnerability to

infections (Collier, Dossett, May, & Diaz, 2008; Price & Knight, 2009; Turina, Fry, & Polk, 2005).

Inflammation & Inflammatory Response

The inflammatory process is mediated by a tight network between the immune system, neuroendocrine system, and tumor suppressor network (Fulop et al., 2010). Cytokines regulate the intensity and duration of the immune system response by stimulating or inhibiting activation, proliferation, and/or differentiation of cells, as well as controlling the secretion of antibodies or other cytokines (Goldsby et al., 2000). Cytokines share similar properties with hormones and growth factors, but unlike hormones their action is short-lived (Goldsby et al., 2000). Oxidative stress and the release of proinflammatory cytokines mediate inflammation but also can perpetuate the inflammatory process (Frederico, Morgillo, Tuccillo, Ciardiello, & Loguercio, 2007; Gearhart & Parbhoo, 2006; Leonidou et al., 2007).

The production and release of high levels of proinflammatory cytokines play a significant role in the development and perseveration of malglycemia (hyperglycemia, hypoglycemia, or the combination). Increases in TNF α and IL-6 perpetuate a state of malglycemia (hyperglycemia and hypoglycemia) through the release of the counter-regulatory hormones and modification of insulin signal transduction and reception resulting in insulin resistance (Becker et al., 2009; Dotson, Freeman, Failing, & Adler, 2008; Gearhart & Parbhoo, 2006; Gogitidze et al., 2010; Leonidou et al., 2007). The increased concentration of circulating cytokines disrupts glucose and lipid homeostasis further promoting malglycemia and insulin resistance (Becker et al., 2002; Leonidou et al., 2009) and the continuation of cytokine production (Esposito et al., 2002; Leonidou et al., 2007).

Cells exposed to long durations of inflammation have a greater risk of becoming malignant due to the high secretion of IL-6 and TNF α , which can promote the outgrowth of neoplastic cells (Frederico et al., 2007; Kellenberger et al., 2010). Proinflammatory cytokines, specifically IL-6 and TNF α , have been implicated in the development of cancer (Pothiwala, Jain, &Yaturu, 2009) and also associated with sickness behaviors (depression, fatigue), and lower quality of life in cancer patients (Von Ah, Kang, & Carpenter, 2008). In addition to the development of cancer, inflammation in the tumor milieu modulates responsiveness and resistance to conventional antineoplastic agents (de Visser & Jonkers, 2009; Reuter et al., 2010) and sensitivity to radiation therapy (Reuter et al., 2010).

Malglycemia (hyperglycemia, hypoglycemia, or the combination) and cancer initiate and perpetuate similar pathologic processes and pathways. See Appendix C for shared pathways of malglycemia and AML. Malglycemia (hyperglycemia, hypoglycemia, or the combination), excessive production of insulin, and cancer can lead to decreased immune function, oxidative stress, chronic inflammation, and high levels of circulating proinflammatory cytokines, which are common pathways leading to epigenetic changes, increased tumorigenesis, and cancer promotion. Monitoring for and controlling blood glucose could potentially impede these perpetual nascent pathways and improve response to treatment, symptom profile, and quality of life for cancer patients.

Part Two: Malglycemia, Cancer, and Health Outcomes

Emerging evidence indicates that hyperglycemia in cancer patients may have serious ramifications as it has been shown to affect imaging studies, development of and progression of cancer, increased toxicity, and decreased response to treatment. Rabkin,

Israel, and Keidar (2010) retrospectively analyzed the ¹⁸F-FDG PET/CT results of patients and recorded the presence of diabetes and level of glucose prior to the diagnostic test. Results demonstrated that hyperglycemia at the time of the scan reduced the sensitivity of ¹⁸F-FDG PET/CT in detecting malignancy and yielded higher false negative results. In experimental and clinical research, malglycemia (hyperglycemia, hypoglycemia, or the combination) has been associated with increased inflammation (Kellenberger et al., 2010; Wang et al., 2012), proinflammatory cytokine release (Fuji et al., 2007; Mantovani, Allavena, Sica, & Balkwill, 2008), and oxidative stress causing structural changes to the endothelial cells, which increases the likelihood of metastasis (Barone et al., 2008; Becker et al., 2009; Duan et al., 2014). In vitro studies have shown high levels of glucose may aid malignant cells to resist apoptosis (normal programmed cell death) resulting in resistance to chemotherapy (Biernacka et al., 2013; de Visser & Jonkers, 2009; Duan et al., 2014; Tredan et al., 2007; Zeng et al., 2010).

In patients with cancer, malglycemia (hyperglycemia, hypoglycemia, or the combination) has been associated with increased treatment-related complications, poor health outcomes, decreased survival (Derr, Hsiao, & Sauder, 2008; Fuji et al., 2007; Griffith et al., 2011; Matias et al., 2013; Pidala et al., 2011; Villarreal-Garza et al., 2012; Weiser et al., 2004;), and increased mortality (Ali et al., 2007; Fuji et al., 2007, Hammer et al., 2009; Jackson et al., 2012; Matias et al., 2013; Pidala et al., 2013; Pidala et al., 2011; Soysal et al., 2012).

Storey and Von Ah (2012) conducted the first comprehensive literature review of the impact of malglycemia (hyperglycemia, hypoglycemia, or the combination) on health outcomes in cancer patients. Eleven studies (3,445 cancer patients) were found that

examined at least one indicator of malglycemia (hyperglycemia, hypoglycemia, or glycemic variability) and their impact on at least one of five health outcomes including infection, survival, mortality, toxicity, and length of stay. Since Storey and Von Ahs' (2012) review, the investigator found an additional 10 studies for a total of 21 studies that focus on malglycemia (hyperglycemia, hypoglycemia, or the combination) in cancer (including over 5,000 cancer patients). See Appendix D for literature review and outcome table of findings related to malglycemia and outcomes. The studies ranged over a time span of 9 years from 2004–2014. The majority of those studies (18/21; 86%) focused primarily on one indicator of malglycemia (hyperglycemia) and only two (10%) examined all three indicators of malglycemia—hyperglycemia, hypoglycemia, and glycemic variability (Fuji et al., 2009; Hammer et al., 2009).

The primary outcomes of interest identified from this literature review of malglycemia (hyperglycemia, hypoglycemia, or the combination) and cancer research were infection, survival, mortality, toxicity, and length of stay. Many of the studies looked at multiple outcomes; however, none of the studies included all of the outcomes. While results were mixed, findings suggest that malglycemia (hyperglycemia, hypoglycemia, or the combination) may have a negative impact on outcomes for hospitalized patients with cancer (Storey & Von Ah, 2012). Specifically, increased rates of infection, length of stay, toxicities, and mortality, as well as decreased survival, were reported. The current literature is limited however, in that most 11 of 21 (53%) of the studies in this area focused solely on the BMT population, which patients are considered the most critically ill cancer patients demonstrating a high side-effect profile. Therefore,

results may not generalize to patients with other hematological malignancies such as AML.

Part Three: Malglycemia, AML, and Health Outcomes

Malglycemia, specifically hyperglycemia, may be of particular importance to the patient with AML. Research (Collier et al., 2008; Price & Knight, 2009; Turina et al., 2005) shows that the presence of hyperglycemia exacerbates the blunting of cellular activity decreasing phagocytosis (a function of the neutrophils) and chemotaxsis (cellular movement). Therefore, AML patients with hyperglycemia may be at greater risk for more profound immune-compromise, subsequent infections, longer periods of neutropenia, increased HLOS, and mortality.

Patients with AML are immunocompromised and vulnerable to infections as a result of bone marrow suppression from both the malignancy and the treatment regimens. The bone marrow is suppressed as a result of the rapid clonal expansion of the tumor cells in the bone marrow which contributes to neutrophil dysfunction by crowding out the cells that produce neutrophils. Additionally, chemotherapy agents suppress the bone marrow and damage the stem cells that produce neutrophils. Neutrophils are the first line of defense to the invasion of bacteria. When the bone marrow is suppressed, the number of mature circulating neutrophils are eliminated and are not readily replaced; leading to a condition called neutropenia. Neutropenia is defined as an absolute neutrophil count (ANC) less than 500 cells/mm² (Freifeld et al., 2011). Neutropenia may occur in the presence of a normal white blood cell count, which range from 4,000–10,000 cells/mm² (Camp-Sorrell, 2005). Therefore, in order to accurately assess the ANC, a complete blood count (CBC) with differential is necessary. Neutropenia leaves the patient vulnerable to

infection/sepsis, which potentially can increase HLOS and mortality. Hyperglycemia in patients with AML may play a contributing role in these adverse outcomes during hospitalization.

These findings suggest that hyperglycemia may impact health outcomes in AML patients. However, research regarding the incidence of malglycemia (hyperglycemia, hypoglycemia, or the combination) and its impact on health outcomes in AML patients is lacking. The limited number of studies on this important topic reveals gaps in knowledge as it relates to the full effects of malglycemia (hyperglycemia, hypoglycemia, or the combination) on the health outcomes of hospitalized AML patients. This study of malglycemia (hyperglycemia, hypoglycemia, or the combination) and outcomes in hospitalized AML patients aligns with the Oncology Nursing Society Research Priorities agenda (LoBiondo-Wood et al., 2014). This study is important because it is the first study to examine the impact of all three indicators of malglycemia (hyperglycemia, hypoglycemia, or the combination) in AML patients on a set of comprehensive health outcomes. Ultimately, this research will facilitate the need for development of interventions to manage blood glucose more effectively and mitigate the adverse consequences of malglycemia (hyperglycemia, hypoglycemia, or the combination), thus improving quality of life for AML patients.

Part Four: Conceptual Frameworks

Theories are constructed to express new ideas or insights or to address unanswered questions about a phenomenon of interest (Walker & Avant, 2005). Smith and Liehr (2008) describe theories as patterns of ideas that represent phenomena in an organized format. Visual depictions of a theory often are used to explain complex

interactions and relationships. Therefore, theory development provides a way to identify and express key ideas that form the foundations for clinical practice.

Analysis of theories includes examining strengths and weaknesses and may determine the need for refinement or additional theory development. Theory analysis is necessary to determine validity and approximation of the concepts to the real world (Walker & Avant, 2005). Walker and Avant (2005) identified six keys steps for theory analysis: (a) identify origins of theory, (b) examine the meaning of the theory, (c) determine logical adequacy, (d) determine usefulness of the theory, (e) provide generalizability and parsimony of the theory, and (f) include testability of the theory. Origins of theory refer to the events that prompted the development of the theory and the evidence to support or refute the theory. The meaning of theory comes by examining the relationships between concepts. Logical adequacy describes the cogent structure of concepts and accuracy with which predictions can be made. Usefulness is determined by how practical and helpful the theory is to the discipline. Generalizability is how widely the theory can be used to explain or predict phenomena. Parsimony explains complex relationships simply and briefly while maintaining its comprehensiveness. Testability implies that hypotheses can be developed from the theory for research and that the theory is supported by strong empirical evidence (Walker & Avant, 2005).

The following section discusses the analysis of three theories related to the phenomena of cancer, malglycemia, and outcomes. The three theories include: the immunologic surveillance theory, the theory of immunoediting, and the malglycemia orbit model. And, finally, the guiding framework for this study, malglycemia and AML outcomes model, will be presented.

The Immunologic Surveillance Theory

In 1909 Paul Ehrlich proposed the concept that the immune system had a protective effect. He posited that aberrant cell production frequently occurred during fetal and post-fetal development, but these cells were recognized as foreign and eliminated or neutralized by the immune system (Baron & Storb, 2006; Dunn, Old, & Schreiber, 2004; Goldsby et al., 2000). In the 1950s McFarlane Burnet and Lewis Thomas introduced and developed the immunologic surveillance theory. Burnett's conceptualization was based on the tolerance of the immune system. He proposed that tumor-specific neo-antigens recognized the early malignant transformation of cells and elicited an adaptive immune reaction to eliminate them (Dunn et al., 2004). Alternatively, Thomas speculated that organisms that had lived for a long time must have had an inherent ability to protect themselves from neoplastic disease. This theory suggested the primary functions of the immune system are to provide continual surveillance, locate and eliminate nascent malignant cells, and regulate the homeostasis of multiple organ systems (Dunn, Bruce, Ikeda, Old, & Schreiber, 2002; Ichim, 2005).

Initial attempts to validate the theory lead to conflicting results, and the theory was abandoned. Several decades later, improved technology in mouse tumor models with determined molecular immunodeficiencies made it possible to validate the existence of the theory and to expand it to include the contributions of both the innate and adaptive immunity (Dunn et al., 2004). It became apparent to scientists that components of the immune system mediated the actions of effector cells and tumor suppressive pathways to confront and destroy spontaneous mutations, thus controlling the development of malignant tumors (Dunn et al., 2002; Germenis & Karanikas, 2007).

The logical hypothesis from this theory is that immunodeficient or immunocompromised individuals have a higher likelihood of developing cancer. Studies conducted in both mice and humans have provided strong evidence to support both the existence and the physiologic relevance of this hypothesis (Dunn et al., 2002). A limitation of this theory, however, is its inability to address the occurrence of cancer in individuals who are immunocompetent.

Theory of Immunoediting

The immunologic surveillance theory was later refined, expanded, and renamed the theory of immunoediting to reflect the belief that the immune system plays a dual role in the complex interplay between tumor development and progression (Dunn et al., 2002; Dunn et al., 2004; Schreiber, 2005). The theory of immunoediting suggests the immune system not only has a protective role against the development of cancer but conversely also can facilitate tumor development by selecting for tumor cell types with reduced immunogenicity (Schreiber, 2005). This explains how malignant tumors have the ability to survive in an immunocompetent host (Dunn et al., 2004).

The immunoediting process of cancer consists of three phases, known as the three E's of cancer immunoediting, which are elimination, equilibrium, and escape (Dunn et al., 2004). This theory addresses the progression towards carcinogenesis via three steps. The first step is elimination, which represents the immune system effectively surveying and destroying rapidly transforming cells. If the developing tumor is eliminated, the process stops and there is no progression to the other two phases (Dunn et al., 2004). The rejection of the tumor requires responses from both the innate and adaptive immune systems.

The equilibrium phase is the longest of the three phases occurring over a period of many years (Dunn et al., 2004). In this phase the tumor cells that survived the elimination phase begin to abound because of their ability to avert attacks from the immune system and in some cases prevent the initiation of an immune response (Dunn et al., 2004; Germenis & Karanikas, 2007). In this phase the equilibrium between immune surveillance and development of cancer is more inclined towards the latter.

The third phase is the escape phase in which the immune system is unable to contain or control the proliferation of the rapidly transforming mutated tumor cells resulting in clinical manifestations of cancer (Dunn et al., 2004; Germenis & Karanikas, 2007). Genetic and epigenetic changes in the tumor cells provide a safe harbor and facilitate immunoevasive strategies promoting growth and resistance to detection and/or elimination by the immune system (Dunn et al., 2004).

According to Schreiber (2005), the most compelling implication of the theory of immunoediting is that most malignant tumors that develop in immunocompetent hosts have undergone immunological sculpting. Immunosculpting consists of the tumor's ability to induce immune tolerance, suppression, and increased pathogenic behavior via cell signaling, rendering control to aberrant and malignant cells by impairing the innate immunoediting process (Reiman, Kmieciak, Manjili, & Knutson, 2008). This theory also is supported by evidence from studies conducted in both mouse and human models (Dunn et al., 2002). The theory is limited because although it specifically addresses the development and progression of cancer, it fails to address the interaction of cancer pathology with other complex physiologic systems.

The Malglycemia Orbit Model

The malglycemia orbit model is a newly introduced model and the first to combine malglycemia, cancer, and outcomes (Hammer & Voss, 2012). This model depicts the non-linear and reciprocal interactions among malglycemia and cancer. The visual structure of the model resembles an atom with a nucleus and three surrounding orbits that are analogous to the electron circulating around the core of an atom (Hammer & Voss, 2012). The core of the model represents the underlying genetic predisposition to cancer and malglycemia. Additional circles around the core include the influencing factors of environment, lifestyle, and comorbidities. The three orbits of the model are paired as: cancer and treatment, impaired immune function and infection, and malglycemia and normal blood glucose. The model represents the constant motion and interaction of the core within the orbits. The model is surrounded by two outcomes: survival and death (Hammer & Voss, 2012).

The malglycemia orbit model describes and depicts the interaction between the predisposition and risk factors and the physiologic processes and outcomes associated with malglycemia. Malglycemia and the resulting cellular changes that influence the formation of and progression of malignancy via cell signaling pathways are discussed. This model is unique in that it includes malglycemia (defined by Hammer & Voss, 2012, as hyperglycemia, hypoglycemia, and glycemic variability), cancer and the associated physiologic processes describing the mechanisms through which they interact with and exacerbate the actions of one another.

A limitation of this model is that it only acknowledges the outcomes of survival and death. Infection is linked to the immune system in the model; however, the impact of

immunosuppression has other untoward effects that were not addressed in the model and include progression of disease, length of bone marrow suppression, and the effect on white and red blood cells. Another limitation is that the model has yet to be empirically tested.

Guiding Framework

The following section provides an overview of the guiding framework of the study. First, the empirical literature that supports the guiding framework will be discussed. Second, an overview of the framework, along with independent and dependent variables and their relationship to one another will be explained. Finally, the framework for this study, malglycemia and AAML outcomes model, will be displayed.

Malglycemia (hyperglycemia, hypoglycemia, or the combination) increases concentrations of circulating proinflammatory cytokines (IL-6, TNF α) that causes insulin resistance and further perpetuates malglycemia (Dotson et al., 2008; Esposito et al., 2002). Malglycemia disrupts the compensatory cellular processes that maintain homeostasis (Kellenberger et al., 2010; Wang et al., 2012). Malglycemia (hyperglycemia, hypoglycemia, or the combination) may be indicative of the patient's overall illness, inflammatory and immune states, or a side effect of treatment, all of which may contribute to adverse outcomes (Dossett et al., 2008).

The etiology of malglycemia (hyperglycemia, hypoglycemia, or the combination) in hospitalized patients is complex and multi-factorial. Pre-existing comorbidities such as diabetes mellitus, pancreatitis, obesity, and age increase the risk for malglycemia (hyperglycemia, hypoglycemia, or the combination) among hospitalized patients (Gearhart & Parbhoo, 2006; Turina et al., 2005). The onset of malglycemia

(hyperglycemia, hypoglycemia, or the combination) in the non-diabetic patient may be a result of increased stress hormone release, peripheral insulin resistance, administration of steroids, TPN (Butler, Btaiche, & Alaniz, 2005; Gearhart & Parbhoo, 2006; Turina et al., 2005), chemotherapy, or immunosuppressive agents. Malglycemia (hyperglycemia, hypoglycemia, or the combination) during hospitalization regardless of the etiology may be a significant predictor of poor outcomes and, conversely, outcomes have been shown to improve when blood glucose is managed (Clement et al., 2004).

Resolution of malglycemia (hyperglycemia, hypoglycemia, or the combination) has been shown to be associated with reduction of oxidative stress, inflammation, and proinflammatory response (Stentz, Umpierrez, Cuervo, & Kitabchi, 2004; Wang et al., 2012). Maintaining normoglycemia during hospitalization of patients with AML may be important to improve response to treatment and decrease the adverse side effect profile that is associated with malglycemia.

Outcomes

The deleterious physiologic processes associated with malglycemia (hyperglycemia, hypoglycemia, or the combination) may contribute to poor health outcomes. Malglycemia (hyperglycemia, hypoglycemia, or the combination) during hospitalization is a significant predictor of poor outcomes (Egi et al., 2006; Egi et al., 2008; Egi et al., 2010; Finfer et al; 2012; Gamble et al., 2010; Hermanides et al., 2010a; Villarreal-Garza et al., 2012). Despite all the available literature among other patient populations, there is limited information on the short- and long-term impact of malglycemia (hyperglycemia, hypoglycemia, or the combination) on outcomes in the

cancer patient (Richardson & Pollack, 2005) specifically as it relates to hospitalized AML patients.

Number of neutropenic days. Neutropenia, defined as an ANC of < 500 cells/mm², occurs when there is a significant decrease in neutrophils within the bone marrow (Freifeld et al., 2011). The ANC is indicative of the degree of bone marrow suppression, and the longer the duration of neutropenia, the greater the risk for infection (Freifeld et al., 2011; Schwartzberg, 2006). Patients with AML with profound neutropenia lasting more than 7 days were found to be more susceptible to infection than those with shorter durations (Freifeld et al., 2011; Giamarellou & Antoniadou, 2001; Klastersky et al., 2000). Initial induction chemotherapy for AML causes profound suppression of the bone marrow and recovery can take 2–3 weeks, thus placing the patient at a profound risk for the development of infection.

Malglycemia (hyperglycemia, hypoglycemia, or the combination) increases the level of pro-inflammatory cytokines resulting in an increase in circulating cytokines, thus perpetuating the state of malglycemia (Benfield et al., 2007; Dotson et al., 2008; Fuji et al., 2009). The increase in pro-inflammatory cytokines impairs the immune system by stunting the function of neutrophils and other immune cellular responses (Butler et al., 2005). The intracellular signaling mechanisms of neutrophils are affected by glucose as their phagocytic activity has been shown (in vivo) to be inhibited in the presence of elevated glucose (Saiepour, Sehlin, & Oldenborg, 2003). Similarly, in an in vivo study, researchers noted when metabolic control of blood glucose was obtained, the functions of neutrophils (chemotaxsis, adherence, phagocytosis, and bactericidy) were improved (Walrand, Guillet, Boirie, & Vasson, 2004).

Storey and Von Ah (2015) noted a statistically significant increase in neutropenic days among patients with various types of leukemia (chronic lymphoblastic leukemia, chronic myelogenous leukemia, acute lymphoblastic leukemia, acute promyelocytic leukemia, AML) who experienced hyperglycemia versus those who were normoglycemic (no episodes of hyperglycemia). Conversely, Karnchanasorn, Malamug, Jin, Karanes, and Chin (2012) failed to demonstrate a relationship between hyperglycemia and the number of neutropenic days among cancer patients undergoing BMT. Overall, the effect of malglycemia (hyperglycemia, hypoglycemia, or the combination) on the neutropenia of patients with AML is largely unknown. This is an important area for further exploration as malglycemia could potentially lengthen the time of bone marrow suppression increasing the likelihood of infection during that patient's most vulnerable time.

Infection. It is estimated that clinically documented infections occur in approximately 20%–30% of neutropenic patients and are usually manifested as a fever (Freifeld et al., 2011). Infection is the most common cause of death in AML patients (Thomas, 2010). The most common sites of infection include the gastrointestinal, urinary, and respiratory tracts, skin (Freifeld et al., 2011), blood stream, and oral cavity (Lech-Miranda et al., 2010). Bacteremia is the most common source of infection occurring in patients with prolonged neutropenia (Freifeld et al., 2011; Yoo et al., 2005). Less common are fungal infections, which are more likely to occur when neutropenia lasts more than 7 days (Freifeld et al., 2011). Infections from molds are rare; however, they are typically life-threatening and occur in cancer patients when neutropenia extends more than 2 weeks (Freifeld et al., 2011).

Malglycemia (hyperglycemia, hypoglycemia, or the combination) may play a role in infectious processes, as it has a direct impact on immunity. In particular hyperglycemia suppresses immune function and normoglycemia enhances immune surveillance (Brunello, Kapoor, & Extermann, 2010). Hypoglycemia has been shown to stimulate the release of proinflammatory cytokines contributing to an inflammatory cellular milieu (Dotson et al., 2008). Cellular inflammation and alterations in immune function can increase susceptibility to infections. An immune-compromised state in conjunction with malglycemia can increase the patient's vulnerability to infection (Germenis & Karanikas, 2007). The majority of studies in cancer patients have focused on the relationship between hyperglycemia and infection. Soysal et al. (2012) found a higher incidence of gram negative and fungal growth among neutropenic non-diabetic cancer patients with hyperglycemia when compared to those with normoglycemia. However, studies have found mixed results. The majority of studies (10/16) in patients with cancer noted a significant increase in infection as blood glucose increased (Ali et al., 2007; Derr et al., 2008; Fuji et al., 2009; Hammer et al., 2009; Jackson et al., 2012; Matias et al., 2013; Rentschler et al., 2010; Sheean et al., 2006; Soysal et al., 2012; Weiser et al., 2004); however, six other studies did not report a relationship (Derr et al., 2009; Fuji et al., 2007; Garg et al., 2007; Griffith et al., 2011; Hardy et al., 2010; Karnchanasorn et al., 2012).

Few studies have studied the relationship of all three indicators of malglycemia in cancer patients. Hammer et al. (2009) found that each component of malglycemia (hyperglycemia, hypoglycemia, or glycemic variability) was positively associated with an

increase in infection among BMT patients. More research, however, is warranted to evaluate the impact of malglycemia on the risk of infection in AML patients.

Septicemia. Septicemia is defined as the systemic disease associated with the presence and persistence of pathogenic organisms or their toxins in the blood (ICD-9 data.com, 2013). Matias et al. (2013) noted a 4-fold increased risk of developing a complicated infection (positive blood cultures) among 280 patients with acute leukemia who experienced hyperglycemia during induction therapy.

Sepsis. Sepsis is defined as acute organ dysfunction, sepsis with multiple organ dysfunction, and severe sepsis (ICD-9 data.com, 2013). Ali et al. (2007) studied the association of hyperglycemia and sepsis in 283 patients with AML and found the odds of developing severe sepsis and severe sepsis with respiratory failure were increased with hyperglycemia.

HLOS. In this study, HLOS included the number of days a patient is hospitalized from admission for initial induction therapy to re-induction therapy or discharge from hospital. Longer HLOS was found to be associated with malglycemia (hyperglycemia, hypoglycemia, or the combination) among non-diabetic BMT patients who experienced malglycemia due to receiving medications (glucocorticosteroids) that affect blood glucose levels (Garg et al., 2007). In non-diabetic BMT patients, longer HLOS also was noted when blood glucose was \geq 150 mg/dL (Karnchanasorn et al., 2012). Additionally, Storey and Von Ahs' (2015) pilot study demonstrated a statistically significant increase in HLOS among a non-transplant heterogeneous sample of leukemia patients with hyperglycemia when compared to those without hyperglycemia. Conversely, two other studies found no relationship between hyperglycemia and HLOS in BMT patients (Derr

et al., 2008; Rentschler et al., 2010). In a heterogeneous sample of cancer patients admitted for neutropenic fever, hyperglycemia was not shown to increase HLOS (Soysal et al., 2012).

Complete remission. With current treatment regimens, it is estimated the majority (70%–80%) of patients younger than 60 years of age will achieve complete remission (Fernandez et al., 2009; Mandelli et al., 2009); however, the majority of patients will relapse and thus, overall 5-year survival is only 40%–45% (Roboz, 2011; Rowe, 2009). In those patients less than 60 years of age who have a good performance status (general well-being and ability to conduct activities of daily living), 40% to 60% can achieve complete remission (Rowe, 2009); however, the overall cure rate is 10%, with a median survival of less than one year (Buchner et al., 2009; Burnett et al., 2010). Weiser et al. (2004) studied 278 patients with acute lymphocytic leukemia with and without hyperglycemia and found those with hyperglycemia had shorter duration of complete remission than those with normoglycemia. The impact of malglycemia (hyperglycemia, hypoglycemia, or combination) may be an influential factor in the achievement of complete remission. Further research is needed to understand the role malglycemia may play in the achievement of complete remission in AML patients.

Mortality. Seven studies in cancer patients found mortality was higher among those with hyperglycemia (Ali et al., 2007; Fuji et al., 2007; Hammer et al., 2009; Jackson et al., 2012; Matias et al., 2013; Pidala et al., 2011; Soysal et al., 2012). Conversely, two studies did not find a relationship between hyperglycemia and mortality in cancer patients (Derr et al., 2008; Fuji et al., 2009). To date only two studies in patients receiving conventional treatment for AML have examined the role of hyperglycemia on

mortality (Ali et al., 2007; Matias et al., 2013). Both of these studies noted an increase in mortality in patients with hyperglycemia (Ali et al., 2007; Matias et al., 2013). Ali et al. (2007) found mortality to be associated with even mild elevations of blood glucose levels (110–150 mg/dL) in 283 AML patients. Matias et al. (2013) noted among patients with two different types of leukemia those with hyperglycemia had a 3.5-fold increase in likelihood of death than those normoglycemia. Thus, based on this data, researchers suggest that malglycemia may portend a higher risk for mortality in hospitalized AML patients and that attention to it early in the hospitalization may mitigate adverse outcomes.

Covariates

Age. Age is a risk factor for both malglycemia (Hammer et al., 2010) and AML (Rodak et al., 2012). The median age of onset of a diagnosis of AML is 67 years (O'Donnell et al., 2012). Older adults with a cancer diagnosis are at increased risk of malglycemia (Hammer et al., 2010). A lifetime of cellular exposure to assaults from high levels of ROS creates a milieu that facilitates the development of malglycemia, diabetes (Onitilo et al., 2012b), and cancer (Fulop et al., 2010). Additionally, low-grade inflammation that occurs with aging causes cellular alterations in the immune system decreasing its ability to conduct immune surveillance and immunoediting activities (Fulop et al., 2010), thus, increasing susceptibility to infection. In addition, older individuals often do not tolerate aggressive therapies due to poor performance status, comorbid disease processes, decreased clearance of chemotherapy, and poor tolerance to systemic bacterial and fungal infections (Klepin & Balducci, 2009).

Comorbidities. In general cancer patients with comorbidities (other concurrent disease conditions) are at a greater risk for complications, often times necessitating modifications in treatments (Hammer & Voss, 2012). In addition to these challenges, comorbidities may affect outcomes of treatment (Estey, 2010; Etienne et al., 2007; Payandeh, Aeinfar, & Aeinfar, 2012). Etienne et al. (2007) found comorbidities to be an independent predictor of complete remission, and suggest patients, particularly elderly, should be evaluated for comorbidities prior to the initiation of treatment.

CRF. A genetically heterogeneous disorder, AML disrupts the normal functions (self-renewal, proliferation, and differentiation) of the hematopoietic progenitor cells of the bone marrow (Dohner & Gaidzik, 2011). In patients with AML, cytogenetics is used to identify chromosomal aberrations and classify the type. The CRF category is assigned based on the abnormality present. Appendix E is the NCCN guidelines for risk status based on validated cytogenetics and molecular abnormalities. A rating of better-risk, intermediate-risk, or poor- risk informs the treatment regimen and is indicative of response to treatment and overall prognosis (Estey, 2010; NCCN, 2012; Roboz, 2011). Older patients diagnosed with AML frequently present with aggressive disease that includes multiple genetic abnormalities (Etienne et al., 2007; Payandeh et al., 2012; Wilson et al., 2006) that can alter response to treatment (Fernandez et al., 2009; Wilson et al.) and result in poorer outcomes (Etienne et al., 2007; Wilson et al., 2006) including death.

The Malglycemia and AML Outcomes Model

The malglycemia and AML outcomes model was the guiding framework for this study (see Figure 1). The model visually and conceptually postulates relationships

between malglycemia (hyperglycemia, hypoglycemia, or the combination) and health outcomes including: number of neutropenic days, infection, septicemia, sepsis, and induction HLOS, complete remission and mortality in hospitalized patients with AML, and the confounding variables which influence mortality. Malglycemia (hyperglycemia, hypoglycemia, or the combination) and outcomes during the period of initial induction therapy for AML were of prime interest for this research.

An independent variable is defined as the variable that influences the dependent variable (Polit & Beck, 2008). In this model malglycemia is the independent variable. The dependent variable is defined as the variable that is dependent on or caused by the independent variable (Polit & Beck, 2008). The dependent variables for this framework are the health outcomes of interest including: number of neutropenic days, infection, and septicemia, and sepsis, length of hospital stay, complete remission, and mortality. Confounding variables are defined as an extraneous variable(s) that obscure the relationship between the primary variables of the study, requiring statistical control (Polit & Beck, 2008). In this framework the confounding variables were factors known to impact health outcomes and included age, comorbidities, and CRF.

The arrows from the independent variables of malglycemia (hyperglycemia, hypoglycemia, or combination) towards the outcomes (dependent variables) propose that malglycemia has a relationship to health outcomes including: number of neutropenic days, infection, septicemia, sepsis, and induction length of stay, HLOS, complete remission, and mortality. In addition to malglycemia, the confounding variables of age, cytogenetic risk, and comorbidities also may exert influence on the dependent outcome variables. The arrows demonstrate this relationship between the confounding variables

and dependent outcome variables. Age and comorbidities are drawn to show the suggested influence over all eight of the dependent outcome variables (neutropenic days, infection, septicemia, sepsis, induction length of stay, HLOS) whereas CRF is depicted as having potential influence specifically on two dependent outcome variables (complete remission and mortality).

The bi-directional arrows between the independent and dependent variables are indicative of a reciprocal relationship. The dependent outcome variables may stimulate a physiologic response within the body that would in turn cause malglycemia. For instance, infection, septicemia, and/or sepsis have been shown to increase the pro-inflammatory cytokine and oxidative stress response that could facilitate the onset of malglycemia. These relationships have yet to be fully investigated. See Appendix F for full size malglycemia and AML outcomes.



Figure 1. Guiding framework for this study: The malglycemia and AML outcomes model. Copyright 2014 Susan Storey. Used with permission.

CHAPTER 3. METHOD

Study Design

A retrospective cohort study design was used to determine the incidence and prevalence of malglycemia and to examine the relationship between malglycemia (hyperglycemia, hypoglycemia, or the combination) on health outcomes including neutropenic days, infection, septicemia, sepsis, and induction length of stay, HLOS, complete remission, and hospital mortality.

Sample Criteria

The researcher acquired and reviewed hospital pharmacy reports from January 1, 2006—April 30, 2014, to identify subjects receiving the induction 7+3 chemotherapy regimen. The investigator compared selected reports with tumor registry data for patients with the initial diagnosis of AML during the described time period and confirmed through pathology reports and physician documentation in the hospital discharge summary. The investigator reviewed the electronic health records of 150 study subjects to determine if the treatment received was initial induction therapy for AML versus re-induction or consolidation therapy. Of those reviewed, 103 subjects met the inclusion criteria. See Figure 2 for rationale for exclusion from study.



Figure 2. Rationale for exclusion from study.

Inclusion/Exclusion Criteria

Patients admitted to a large multi-site urban hospital system in the Midwest United States who met the following inclusion criteria were considered eligible for the study:

- Diagnosed with AML
- Received 7+3 chemotherapy regimen (cytarabine for 7 days and idarubicin or daunorubicin for 3 days) for initial induction between January 1, 2006, and April 30, 2014
- 18 years of age or older

• Presence of serum fasting blood glucose test results during hospital admission Patients with diagnosis of other types of leukemia such as acute promyelocytic leukemia, acute lymphoblastic leukemia, and chronic myelogenous leukemia were excluded from the study, as were those with myelodysplastic anemia, a precursor to AML. Patients with AML receiving re-induction therapy or foregoing treatment for hospice also were excluded from the study.

Sample Size

Sample size is an important consideration in study planning and necessary for the reduction in risk of a Type I error. Sample size was based on a minimum number of 10 participants per predictor variable (Field, 2013; VanVoorhis & Morgan, 2007). For this study, the largest number of predictor variables was 6 and thus, the researcher adhered to this guideline by having 103 subjects.

Protection of Human Subjects

The study protocol was approved by the Institutional Review Boards at Indiana University–Purdue University Indianapolis and St. Vincent Hospital, Indianapolis, Indiana (see Appendix I). The principal investigator and research staff completed the Collaborative Institutional Training Initiative for research ethics in compliance with both Review Boards.

Data Collection

The study investigator collected demographic and medical information to describe the sample. Demographic information extracted from the electronic health record included age, gender, and ethnicity. Medical information to describe the sample included height, weight, CRF, diagnosis of Diabetes Mellitus (no or yes), and comorbidities. Body mass index (BMI) was calculated using the following formula: weight in pounds multiplied by 703/height in inches² (Adult BMI Calculator: English, n.d.). The World Health Organization (2013) has five classifications of BMI including: (a) normal (18.5–24.99 kg/m²); (b) underweight (< 18.5 kg/m²); (c) overweight (\geq 25 kg/m²); (d) pre obese (25.00–29.99 kg/m²); and (e) obese (> 30 kg/m²).

Independent Variable: Malglycemia

To determine the prevalence of hyperglycemia, hypoglycemia, or the combination, all serum fasting blood glucose values analyzed in the hospital central laboratory were extracted from the medical record from date of induction chemotherapy up to date of re-induction, discharge from the hospital, or death. Hyperglycemia was defined as one or more instances of fasting blood glucose ≥ 126 mg/dL. Hypoglycemia was defined as one or more incidences of fasting blood glucose < 70 mg/dL (ADA, 2013). Combination of hyperglycemia and hypoglycemia were recorded if the study subject had one or more incidence < 70 mg/dL and ≥ 126 mg/dL. Prevalence of hyperglycemia, as noted in previous studies, was determined by identifying the number

of glucose measurements ≥ 126 mg/dL divided by the total number of glucose values (Garg et al., 2007; Hardy et al., 2010). Similarly, prevalence of hypoglycemia was determined by identifying the number of glucose measurements < 70 mg/dL divided by the total of glucose values during the induction period. Prevalence of those with combination was determined by the number of glucose measurements < 70 mg/dL and the number ≥ 126 mg/dL divided by the total number of glucose measurements.

Serum blood glucose testing was conducted in the hospital's central laboratory (by an outside laboratory) on the automated chemistry analyzer, the Beckham Coulter Synchron LX- 20 (Fullerton, California). All laboratory values were analyzed on central laboratory instrumentation that meets the standards required by College of American Pathologists. Daily quality controls were conducted to ensure accuracy of results.

Outcomes

Health outcomes (neutropenic days, infection, septicemia, sepsis, HLOS, complete remission, and mortality) were evaluated from the day of hospital admission for induction therapy to date of re-induction, discharge, or hospital death. The investigator obtained laboratory results from the electronic medical record to assess the outcomes.

Neutropenic Days

Neutorpenic days was recorded as a continuous variable. The number of neutropenic days was defined as the number of days the ANC was $< 500 \text{ cells/mm}^2$ from date of initiation of induction chemotherapy to re-induction chemotherapy, discharge from the hospital, or death. An ANC of $< 500 \text{ cells/mm}^2$ is clinically considered neutropenia and precautions are set in place to protect the patient from infection. Currently ANC is measured by laboratory serum testing and is automatically reported as ANC on the

laboratory results page, negating the need for the manual calculation. The following formula determines ANC:

- 1. Obtain the CBC with white blood cell (WBC) differential
- 2. Add neutrophils segs and bands
- 3. Convert sum from (#2) to a percentage
- 4. Multiply total by WBC

For example, if WBC = 2000, segs = 10, bands = 5. Segs + bands = 15 or .15. 2000 x .15 = 300 ANC.

In order to determine the ANC, a CBC with differential is required. The CBCs with differential testing were conducted in the hospital's central laboratory (by an outside laboratory) on the automated analyzer, ADVIA 2120i (Siemens Healthcare, USA). All laboratory values were analyzed on central laboratory instrumentation that met the standards required by College of American Pathologists. Quality control is conducted on a daily basis to verify the accuracy of the CBCs. Patients who were neutropenic upon re-induction, discharge from the hospital, or died were censored from the analysis. Patients were value censored if they did not reach the event, which in this case is the return of the ANC to above the threshold of neutropenia, which is indicative of bone marrow recovery.

Infection

The presence of infection was collected as a dichotomous variable (no/yes) and was extracted from the electronic health record from physician documentation via review of the hospital discharge summaries.

Septicemia

The presence of septicemia was collected as a dichotomous variable (no/yes). The presence of septicemia was determined by physician documentation, review of laboratory data, and hospital discharge summaries for the induction time period.

Sepsis

The presence of sepsis was collected as a dichotomous variable (no/yes). The presence of sepsis was determined by physician documentation and review of hospital discharge summaries for the induction time period.

HLOS

The data for HLOS was recorded as a continuous variable and was measured as the number of days from the date of admission for induction therapy to date of re-induction or discharge from the hospital. Patients who died were value censored from the analysis. The rationale for censoring is because these patients did not reach the event that was either date of re-induction or discharge from the hospital.

Complete Remission

The presence of complete remission was collected as a dichotomous variable (no/yes). Data to determine remission status was extracted from physician documentation and/or pathology results of the bone marrow aspirate post-initial induction therapy. Complete remission was defined per the criteria established by the International Working Group (Dohner et al., 2010). These criteria include any of the following:

- Values for ANC (> 1000 /microL) are normal and normal hematopoiesis is restored.
- A bone marrow biopsy reveals no clusters or collections of blast cells; a bone marrow aspiration reveals normal maturation of all cellular components.
- Less than 5% blast cells are present in the bone marrow.
- A previously detected clonal cytogenetic abnormality is absent.

Mortality

Mortality was defined as death during hospitalization for induction chemotherapy and recorded as a dichotomous variable (no/yes).

Covariates

Age

Patient age was extracted from the medical record and entered into the electronic database.

Comorbidities

Comorbidities or co-occurring diagnoses were determined by reviewing admission health and physical forms and discharge summaries. Comorbidities were documented using a comorbidity index called the Charlson Comorbidity Index (CCI; n.d.; Charlson, Pompei, Ales, & Mackenzie, 1987; see Appendix G;). The CCI contains 16 categories of comorbidities assigned weights of 1, 2, 3, or 6; from this weighted score the adjusted risk of one-year mortality is determined. The overall comorbidity score reflects the cumulative increased likelihood of one-year mortality; the higher the score, the more severe the burden of comorbidity (Charlson et al., 1987). The researchers used online CCI calculators to determine the CCI score for all study subjects and recorded on the data collection tool. The applicability of the CCI has been tested and modified since its development and has continued to demonstrate that it is a reliable measure (Ali et al., 2007; Bernadini, Callen, Fried, & Piraino, 2004; Ghali et al., 1996; Quan et al., 2005; Quan et al., 2011; Schneeweiss & Maclure, 2000).

CRF

Cytogenetics is used to identify chromosomal aberrations and classify the type. The CRF category is assigned based on the abnormality present. The CRF is determined by the identification of specific chromosomal translocations noted. The CRF is based on the NCCN guidelines, which categorize patients based on these translocations into better, intermediate, or poor-risk groups (NCCN, 2012). The study investigator categorized CRF as follows: 0 (*poor-risk*), 1 (*intermediate-risk*), and 2 (*better-risk*).

Data Collection

The study investigator de-identified data collected from the electronic medical record. Patients were given study identification numbers and the data were recorded on data collection forms and entered into an Excel spreadsheet database stored on a secure password-protected computer. The computer and data were stored in a locked office. Data entry was verified by review of data collection form and comparison with electronic database. Discrepancies were resolved by return to the electronic health record. All patient information was de-identified. The researcher transferred data into SPSS and analyzed and described aggregately to ensure no identifying characteristics were reported.
Data Analysis

Analysis for each study aim was performed using IBM SPSS (v 22.0, SPSS, Inc., Chicago, IL). The level of statistical significance for all analyses was set at $p \le .05$. This level was selected as it decreases the risk of Type 1 error. Type 1 error occurs when the null hypothesis is rejected, when in fact the null hypothesis is correct. Hypotheses were phrased in terms of the null. Two-sided statistical tests were performed because significant differences in either direction were of interest.

Prior to addressing research questions and hypotheses, descriptive statistics were calculated for all variables to evaluate data quality, identify patterns of missing and out-of-range values, and evaluate the tenability for assumptions of statistical tests. Continuous variables (age, neutropenic days, actual BMI, and HLOS) are reported as arithmetic mean (*M*) with standard deviation (*SD*) or median (*Mdn*) and interquartile range (*IQR*) dependent on the parametric nature of the data. For non-parametric data, IQR was reported along with the median as the best choice of measure of spread and central tendency, when dealing with skewed and/or data with outliers (Munro, 2005). Categorical variables (gender, diabetic status, indicators of hyperglycemia, hypoglycemia, and combined, infection, septicemia, sepsis, comorbidities, CRF, and remission and hospital mortality) were reported as frequency and percentage.

Comparisons of patient demographics between malglycemia groups (with and without hyperglycemia, hypoglycemia, or combination) were conducted to identify significant differences. In addition, outcomes were compared between the malglycemia groups. For continuous variables, the assumption of normality was assessed by use of the Shapiro-Wilk test. A statistically significant difference ($p \le .05$) indicated data were not

normally distributed. Comparisons of normally distributed data were conducted using an independent t test, while non-parametric data were compared using the Mann-Whitney U test. Nominal data (gender, infection, septicemia, sepsis, complete remission, and mortality) were compared between malglycemia groups using a Fisher's exact test.

Logistic Regression

For Aims 3, 4, 5, 7, and 8, logistic regression analyses were conducted to examine the relationship of malglycemia (hyperglycemia, hypoglycemia, and combination) on the dichotomous outcome variables of infection, septicemia, sepsis, complete remission, and mortality. Direct logistic regression was used for entry of predictors into the model. In this type of logistic regression predictors are entered into the model simultaneously. This is the method of choice when there are no specific hypotheses about the order or importance among the predictor variables (Tabachnick & Fidell, 2012). The logistic regression model included the predictors of age, and CCI (Aims 3, 4, 5). The CRF was added to the model for Aims 7 and 8. The Wald statistic was used to determine the individual contribution of each predictor variable. If the *p* value was $\leq .05$, the variable was considered to have made a significant contribution to the association of the outcome (Tabachnick & Fidell, 2012).

In logistic regression, statistical assumptions such as normality, linearity, and equal variance within the groups are not required to be addressed prior to analysis (Tabachnick & Fidell, 2012). Logistic regression includes the logarithmic transformation (logit), which serves to resolve the violation of the assumption of linearity (Field, 2013). To determine if the assumptions of logistic regression were met, the investigator evaluated results for (1) multicollinearity, (2) test of overall model, and (3) outliers.

Multicollinearity. Assessment of inter-correlation was conducted using collinearity diagnostics that allows each predictor variable to be examined. Tolerance values were examined for values below .1, which is considered problematic (Field, 2013). Variance inflation factors also were assessed for values greater than 10, which is a cause for concern; the average variance inflation factors was calculated to ensure the score was not substantially greater than 1 (Field, 2013). Lastly, eigenvalues were examined for distribution of variance among the predictors.

Tests of overall model. Goodness-of-fit demonstrates how closely the regression model predicted values and reflect the observed data (Field, 2013). The adequacy of the model at predicting categorical outcomes was assessed using the Hosmer-Lemeshow test goodness-of-fit (Field, 2013). A *p* value of \leq .05 was indicative of a poor fitting model. To determine the amount of variance of the dependent variable explained by the model, the Nagelkerke *R*² was evaluated (Laerd Statistics, 2015).

Outliers. To address the assumption of outliers, standardized residuals were calculated and evaluated. Residuals represent the error present in the model. Small residuals are indicative of a good model fit, whereas large residuals indicate a poor fitting model (Field, 2013). Residuals with values > -3 or < 3 were considered to contain outliers and in violation of this assumption (Field, 2013; Hosmer & Lemeshow, 2000). The presence of outliers introduces bias into the model. The assumptions for these statistical tests were met.

Kaplan-Meier and Cox Regression

For Aims 2 and 6, survival analyses (Kaplan-Meier followed by Cox regression) were used to evaluate the association of malglycemia (hyperglycemia, hypoglycemia, and

the combination) to the number of neutropenic days and induction HLOS. Prior to conducting survival analysis, normality of sampling distribution and linearity for covariates were assessed by statistical methods. The log-rank test statistic was used to determine significance in Kaplan-Meier, and the Wald test statistic was used to determine significance in the Cox regression models. Kaplan-Meier and Cox regression analyses include censored cases, which are cases where the patient did not experience *the event* before the end of the study. For every time point that data are available, the Kaplan-Meier method estimates the probability of surviving (i.e., not experiencing the event) past that particular time point taking into consideration the presence of censored cases. Taken as a whole, therefore, the Kaplan-Meier method estimates the *experience* of survival over a period of time (Laerd Statistics, 2015). Cox regression allows for the addition of predictor variables to the model.

To determine if the assumptions of Kaplan-Meier and Cox regression were met, the investigator evaluated results for (1) mutually exclusive, (2) measureable time to event, (3) minimize left censoring, and (4) independence of censoring and the event. The assumptions for these statistical tests were met.

CHAPTER 4. RESULTS

The purpose of this study was to gain knowledge regarding the prevalence of incidence of malglycemia (hyperglycemia, hypoglycemia, or the combination) and to evaluate its impact on health outcomes in hospitalized AML patients during initial induction chemotherapy. This chapter reports the results from the study.

The population examined consisted of 103 adult patients who received initial induction chemotherapy for AML from January 2006–April 30, 2014. There were a total of 2,429 fasting blood glucose lab values collected within the induction period that on average consisted of a duration of 37 days (2–55 days).

Sample Characteristics

The majority of patients were Caucasian, male, and had a mean age of 59 (SD = 14.7) years ranging in age from 18 to 85 years old. The mean BMI for study subjects was 28 kg/m² and ranged from 18 to 51 kg/m². Twenty-two of the 103 patients included in the study had a documented diagnosis of diabetes mellitus. Table 1 summarizes patient demographic and medical characteristics. The majority of patients did not achieve complete remission; however, most patients survived to discharge (92.2%).

Table 1

Characteristics	Mdn (IQR)	Minimum	Maximum
Age ^a	59.3 (20.0)	19	85
BMI	27.4 (6.0)	18	51
CCI	5.0 (2.0)	2	10
Fasting blood glucose	119.0 (34.0)	88	178
		N (%)	
Gender Male Female		60 (58.3) 43 (41.7)	
Race Black or African American Caucasian Hispanic		7 (6.8) 95 (92.2) 1 (1.0)	
Documented Diagnosis of Diabetes Mellitus		22 (21.4)	
No of Patients requiring Re-induction No Yes		72 (69.9) 31 (30.1)	

Patient Demographic and Medical Characteristics of Sample, N = 103

Note. IQR = interquartile range. ^aReported as Mean.

Table 2 presents a summary of the overall patient characteristics by health outcomes.

Table 2

Overall Patient Characteristics by Health Outcome

Characteristics	n (%)	
Infection	39 (38.0)	
Septicemia	28 (27.0)	
Sepsis	10 (10.0)	

Table continues

Complete remission			
No	62 (60.2)		
Yes	37 (35.9)		
Unknown	4 (3.9)		
Mortality			
No		95 (92.2)	
Yes		8 (7.8)	
	Mdn (IQR)	Minimum	Maximum
Number of neutropenic days	19.0 (10.0)	0	52
HLOS	25.0 (8.0)	2	55

Note. IQR = interquartile range.

The majority of patients experienced at least one episode of malglycemia (hyperglycemia, hypoglycemia, or combination) with only 5 (< 1%) having no episodes of malglycemia (hyperglycemia, hypoglycemia, or combination) during hospitalization. Of those who had malglycemia, 86 (83%) were classified as having hyperglycemia and 12 (11.6%) had combination (hyperglycemia and hypoglycemia). Nine of the 12 (81.8%) patients with the combination (hyperglycemia and hypoglycemia) had a documented diagnosis of diabetes. None of the patients had only hypoglycemia as those who had hypoglycemia also had hyperglycemia. Therefore, patients who experienced both hypoglycemia and hyperglycemia were discretely classified in the *combination* category. Prior to addressing the study aims, patient demographics and characteristics were compared between patients classified as having malglycemia and those who did not have malglycemia. The only significant differences between those with and without malglycemia were their BMI and comorbidities (CCI, n.d.). Among those with hyperglycemia (27.5 versus 22.8), BMI was significantly higher (p = .029). For those with combination (score of 7 versus 5) CCI was significantly higher (p = .001). Data on

the CRF was missing on 10 patients; therefore, only 93 were included in the analysis of complete remission. The NCCN guidelines were used for categorization of CRF. The majority of patients in both the hyperglycemia and combination groups were classified as *Intermediate-risk* group. See Tables 3 and 4 for comparison of patient characteristics by glycemic status.

Table 3

Characteristic	Hyperglycemia $(n = 86)$	Non-Hyperglycemia $(n = 5)$	
	<i>Mdn (IQR)</i> ; Min., Max.	<i>Mdn (IQR)</i> ; Min., Max	р
Age ^a CCI BMI	59.1 (14.8); 19, 85 5.0 (2.0); 2, 9 27.5 (7.0); 19, 51	53.0 (18.2); 40, 84 4.0 (4.0); 2.0, 6.0 22.8 (7.0); 18, 29	.381 .332 .029
	N (%)	N (%)	р
Gender: male CRF (<i>n</i> = 84) Poor-risk Intermediate-risk Better-risk	52 (60.5) 32 (40.5) 39 (49.4) 8 (10.1)	1 (20.0) 1 (20.0) 3 (60.0) 1 (20.0)	.157 .399

Comparison of Patient Characteristics by Hyperglycemic Status

Notes. IQR = interquartile range. Min = minimum. Max = maximum. ^aReported as Mean.

Table 4

Comparison of Patient Characteristics by Combination (Hyperglycemia and

Characteristic	Combination $(n = 12)$	Non-Combination $(n = 91)$	
	<i>Mdn (IQR)</i> ; Min., Max.	<i>Mdn (IQR</i>); Min., Max.	р
Age ^a CCI BMI	64 (17.8); 39, 82 7 (2.0); 3, 10 27.6 (13); 20, 47	59 (21.); 19, 85 5 (2); 2, 9 27.4 (6); 18, 51	.106 .001 .978
	N (%)	N (%)	р
Gender: male CRF $(n = 93)$	7 (63.6)	53 (57.6)	.758
Poor-risk Intermediate-risk Better-risk	3 (3.2) 6 (6.4) 0	33 (35.4) 42 (45.1) 9 (9.6)	.673

Hypoglycemia) Status

Note. IQR = interquartile range. Min = minimum. Max = maximum. ^aReported as Mean.

Patients with hyperglycemia had more neutropenic days and HLOS than those without hyperglycemia. The majority of patients with hyperglycemia did not achieve complete remission. See Table 5 for summary of health outcomes by hyperglycemic status. Those with combination (hyperglycemia and hypoglycemia) had longer HLOS. The majority of patients in the combination group did not achieve complete remission.

Table 5

Health Outcomes by Hyperglycemic Status

	Hyperglycemia $(n = 86)$	Non-Hyperglycemia $(n = 5)$
	<i>Mdn (IQR)</i> ; Min., Max.	Mdn (IQR); Min., Max.
Number of neutropenic days HLOS	19.0 (11.0); 0, 52 24.0 (8.0); 2, 54	17.0 (14.0); 3, 26 27.0 (7.0); 20, 31
	N (%)	N (%)
Infection Septicemia	27 (34.2) 20 (25.3)	2 (40.0) 0 (0)
Sepsis Complete remission	6 (7.6)	0 (0)
No Mortality	48 (63.2)	2 (40.0)
Yes	7 (8.9)	0 (0)

Note. IQR = interquartile range. Min = minimum. Max = maximum.

See Table 6 for summary of health outcomes by combination status.

Table 6

Health Outcomes by Combination (Hyperglycemia and Hypoglycemia) Status

	Combination $(n = 12)$	Non-Combination $(n = 91)$
	<i>Mdn (IQR</i>); Min., Max.	<i>Mdn (IQR)</i> ; Min., Max.
Number of neutropenic days HLOS	18 (10); 8, 33 25 (15); 14, 55	19 (11); 0, 52 25 (8); 2, 54
	N (%)	N (%)
Infection	6 (50)	34 (37.3)
Septicemia	8 (66.6)	20 (21.9)
Sepsis	4 (33.3)	6 (6.5)

Table continues

7 (58.3)	55 (60.4)
1 (8.3)	7 (7.6)
	7 (58.3) 1 (8.3)

Note. IQR = interquartile range. Min = minimum. Max = maximum.

The following section reviews the aims and major aims and subsequent results.

Specific Aims and Hypothesis Testing

Aim 1 Prevalence

Describe the incidence and prevalence of malglycemia (hyperglycemia, hypoglycemia, or the combination) among AML patients during hospitalization for induction therapy.

Frequencies were used to determine the percent of AML patients in any of the following categories: hyperglycemia FBG ≥ 126 mg/dL or the combination of one or more FBG in the hyperglycemic or hypoglycemic range (FBG ≥ 126 mg/dL or < 70 mg/dL). To determine the prevalence of malglycemia for each indicator separately, the mean of the total number of occurrences of hyperglycemia or the combination for all patients was divided by the mean of the total number of FBG tests for all patients taken during the induction period.

Prevalence of hyperglycemia. The mean number of days of hyperglycemia in this sample was 6.25 (minimum 0, maximum 48). The mean number of FBG tests was 23.55 per hospital induction period. This resulted in a prevalence rate of hyperglycemia of 26.5%.

Prevalence of combination. The combination was less prevalent in this sample, with the mean number of days .33 (minimum 0, maximum 7). The mean number of FBG

tests was 23.55 (minimum 3, maximum 55) per hospital induction period. In this sample, the prevalence of combination (hyperglycemia and hypoglycemia) was 1.4%.

The following results must be taking into consideration as they result in small cell sizes and low power:

- The large number of patients with and so few without hyperglycemia
- The small number of patients with combination.

Aim 2 Neutropenic Days

Examine the association between malglycemia (hyperglycemia, hypoglycemia, or the combination) and neutropenic days controlling for known covariates of age and CCI among AML patients during hospitalization for induction therapy.

Cox regression was used to investigate whether an association exists between malglycemia (hyperglycemia or the combination) and neutropenic days controlling for known covariates of age and comorbidities. Forty-six patients were censored from the analysis because they remained neutropenic at the time of either re-induction, discharge from the hospital, or death.

Hyperglycemia and neutropenic days. Kaplan-Meier analysis was conducted to assess if the number of neutropenic days was associated with hyperglycemia. Estimated medians for the Kaplan-Meier after value censoring were 22 neutropenic days for those with hyperglycemia. This was not statistically significantly $\chi^2(1) = .195$, p = .163 longer than those without hyperglycemia, which had an estimated Kaplan-Meier after value censoring median number of 20 neutropenic days.

Due to lack of statistical significance noted in the Kaplan-Meier, further analysis may not be warranted; however, Cox regression was conducted as originally proposed.

Cox regression was used to determine if any of the covariates had an effect. Overall the model was not statistically significant $\chi^2(3) = 6.648$, p = .084. Results indicated hyperglycemia was not significantly associated with neutropenic days (p = .096); the covariates of age (p = .045) was statistically significant; however, comorbidities (p = .322) was not statistically significant.

Combination and neutropenic days. Kaplan-Meier analysis was conducted to assess if the number of neutropenic days was associated with combination (hyperglycemia and hypoglycemia). Participants with combination (hyperglycemia and hypoglycemia) had a median number of 19 neutropenic days. This was not statistically significantly $\chi^2(1) = 1.679$, p = .195 longer than those without combination (hyperglycemia and hypoglycemia), which had a median number of 22 neutropenic days.

Due to lack of statistical significance noted in the Kaplan-Meier, further analysis may not be warranted; however, Cox regression was conducted as originally proposed. Cox regression was used to determine if any of the covariates had an effect. Overall the model was trending towards statistical significance $\chi^2(3) = 7.043$, p = .071. Results indicated combination (hyperglycemia and hypoglycemia) was not significantly associated to neutropenic days (p = .091). The covariate CCI was not statistically significant (p = .227; 95% CI [1.002, 1.067]); however, age was significantly associated (p = .040) OR = 1.03; 95% CI [1.002, 1.067] with neutropenic days such that for each increase in age, an increase of one additional day of neutropenia occurred.

Aim 3 Infection

Examine the association between malglycemia (hyperglycemia, hypoglycemia, or the combination) and infection controlling for known covariates of age and CCI among AML patients during hospitalization for induction therapy. Logistic regression was used to investigate whether an association exists between malglycemia (hyperglycemia, hypoglycemia, or the combination) and infection controlling for known covariates of age and comorbidities.

Hyperglycemia and infection. The primary types of infections were urinary tract infection, clostridium difficile, and positive viral and fungal cultures. However, other miscellaneous documented infectious conditions were included such as abscesses, stomatitis, mucositis, colitis, gastritis, cellulitis, tonsillitis, typhlitis, otitis, parotitis, and pneumonia.

Twenty-seven (34.2%) of patients with hyperglycemia developed an infection. Fisher's exact testing was conducted to determine if there was an association between hyperglycemia and infection. In this sample, hyperglycemia was not associated with infection (p = 1.000). Given there was not a significant difference in infection rates between the groups and no difference among the covariates (age, comorbidities), additional analysis may not be warranted; however, logistic regression was conducted as originally proposed. Logistic regression models included the covariates of age and comorbidities. To address the assumption of outliers, residuals were examined. Residuals indicated outliers among the variables were not present.

The model was statistically significant, $\chi^2(2) = 1.971$, p < .366(Hosmer-Lemeshow test) indicating the model is not a poor fitting model. The model accounted for 17.0% (Nagelkerke R^2 =.017) of the variance in infection and correctly classified 60.2% of cases. Hyperglycemia (p = .318) was not a significantly associated to infection in this sample. These results are consistent with the Fisher's exact test results.

Combination and infection. Twelve patients (9.2%) experienced combination. Of those patients, six (50%) developed an infection. Fisher's exact testing was conducted to determine if there was an association between combination (hyperglycemia and hypoglycemia) and infection. In this sample, combination was not associated with infection (p = .363). Given there was not a significant difference in infection rates between the groups and no difference among the covariate variables (age, comorbidities) additional analysis may not be warranted; however, logistic regression was conducted as originally proposed.

Logistic regression was conducted to assess if the likelihood of developing an infection was associated with combination (hyperglycemia and hypoglycemia) controlling for age and comorbidities. The model was not statistically significant, $\chi^2(8) = 7.875$, p = .446 (Hosmer-Lemeshow test) indicating the model is not a poor fitting model. The model explained 21% (Nagelkerke $R^2 = .021$) of the variance in infection and correctly classified 60.2 % of cases. Hypoglycemia was not significantly associated to infection in this sample, (p = .245). These results are consistent with the Fisher's exact results.

Aim 4 Septicemia

Examine the association(s) between malglycemia (hyperglycemia, hypoglycemia, or the combination) and septicemia controlling for known covariates of age and comorbidities among AML patients during hospitalization for induction therapy.

A logistic regression model was used to investigate whether an association exists between malglycemia (hyperglycemia, hypoglycemia, or the combination) and septicemia controlling for known covariates of age and comorbidities.

Hyperglycemia and septicemia. Of the 86 patients who had hyperglycemia, 20 (25.3%) developed septicemia. Fisher's exact testing was conducted to determine if there was an association between hyperglycemia and septicemia. In this sample, hyperglycemia was not associated with septicemia (p = .332). Given there was not a significant difference in rates of septicemia between the groups and no difference among the confounding variables (age, comorbidities) further analysis may not be warranted; however, logistic regression was conducted as originally proposed. Models included the covariates of age and comorbidities. To address the assumption of outliers, residuals were examined. Residuals indicated outliers among the variables were not present.

A logistic regression model was conducted to assess if the likelihood of developing septicemia was associated with hyperglycemia controlling for age and comorbidities. The model was not statistically significant, $\chi^2(8) = 3.928$, p = .864(Hosmer-Lemeshow test) indicating it is not a poor fitting model. The model explained 13.9% (Nagelkerke $R^2 = .139$) of the variance in infection and correctly classified 74.8% of cases. Hyperglycemia was not significantly associated to infection in this sample, (p = .163). These results are consistent with the Fisher's exact results.

Combination and septicemia. Eight of 12 patients (66.6%) with combination (hyperglycemia and hypoglycemia) developed septicemia. Fisher's exact testing was conducted to determine if there was an association between combination and septicemia. In this sample, combination (hyperglycemia and hypoglycemia) was associated with septicemia (p = .003). Due to the statistically significant difference in rates of septicemia between the groups additional logistic regression was conducted.

A logistic regression model was conducted to assess if the likelihood of developing septicemia was associated with combination (hyperglycemia and hypoglycemia) controlling for age and comorbidities. The model was not statistically significant, $\chi^2(8) = 4.321$, p = .827 (Hosmer-Lemeshow test) indicating it is not a poor fitting model. The model explained 18.1% (Nagelkerke $R^2 = .181$) of the variance in septicemia and correctly classified 78.6% of cases. In this sample, patients with combination were 5 times more likely (p = .025; *OR* 4.92; 95% CI [1.27, 19.78]) to develop septicemia. These results are consistent with the Fisher's exact test results.

Aim 5 Sepsis

Examine the association between malglycemia (hyperglycemia, hypoglycemia, or combination) and sepsis controlling for known covariates of age and comorbidities among AML patients during hospitalization for induction therapy. A logistic regression model was used to investigate whether an association exists between malglycemia (hyperglycemia, hypoglycemia, or combination) and sepsis controlling for known covariates of age and comorbidities.

Hyperglycemia and sepsis. Six of 86 (7.6%) patients with hyperglycemia developed sepsis. Fisher's exact testing was conducted to determine if there was an association between hyperglycemia and sepsis. In this sample, hyperglycemia was not associated with sepsis (p = 1.000). Given there was not a significant difference in rates of sepsis between the groups and no difference among the confounding variables (age, comorbidities) additional analysis may not be warranted; however, logistic regression was conducted as originally proposed. The model included the covariates of age and comorbidities. To address the assumption of outliers, residuals were examined. Residuals

indicated outliers among the variables were present; therefore, the assumption was violated.

A logistic regression model was used to assess if the likelihood of developing sepsis was associated with hyperglycemia controlling for age and comorbidities. The model was not statistically significant, $\chi^2(8) = 4.338$, p = .825 (Hosmer-Lemeshow test) indicating it is not a poor fitting model. The model explained 16.5% (Nagelkerke $R^2 = .165$) of the variance in sepsis and correctly classified 91.3% of cases. Hyperglycemia was not significantly associated to sepsis in this sample, (p = .136). These results are consistent with the Fisher's exact test results.

Combination and sepsis. Four of the 12 (33.3%) patients with combination (hyperglycemia and hypoglycemia) developed sepsis. Fishers exact testing was conducted to determine if there was an association between combination and sepsis. In this sample, patients with combination (hyperglycemia and hypoglycemia) were associated with sepsis (p = .016). Due to the statistically significant difference in rates of sepsis between the groups additional logistic regression was conducted.

A logistic regression model was conducted to assess if the likelihood of developing sepsis was associated with combination (hyperglycemia and hypoglycemia) controlling for age and comorbidities. The model was not statistically significant, $\chi^2(8) = 4.575$, p = .802 (Hosmer-Lemeshow) indicating it is not a poor fitting model. The model explained 19.0% (Nagelkerke $R^2 = .194$) of the variance in sepsis and correctly classified 91.3% of cases. Combination (hyperglycemia and hypoglycemia) was trending towards a significant association to sepsis in this sample. Patients with combination (hyperglycemia and hypoglycemia) were 5 times (p = .057; *OR* 4.98; 95% CI [.953,

26.1]) more likely to have sepsis. These results are consistent with the Fisher's exact test results.

Aim 6 Induction HLOS

Examine the association between malglycemia (hyperglycemia, hypoglycemia, or the combination) and induction HLOS controlling for known covariates of age and comorbidities among AML patients during hospitalization for induction therapy. Cox regression was used to investigate whether an association exists between malglycemia (hyperglycemia, hypoglycemia, or the combination) and induction HLOS controlling for known covariates of age and comorbidities. Eight patients who died during induction therapy were censored from the analysis.

Hyperglycemia and induction HLOS. Kaplan-Meier analysis was conducted to assess if patients with hyperglycemia had a longer induction HLOS. Estimated medians for Kaplan-Meier after value censoring were 26 HLOS days for patients with hyperglycemia. Those without hyperglycemia has an estimated median Kaplan-Meier after value censoring of 25 days. This was not a statistically significant $\chi^2(1) = 1.030$, p = .310 association.

Due to the lack of statistical significance noted in the Kaplan-Meier, further analysis may not be warranted; however, Cox regression was conducted as originally proposed. Cox regression was used to determine if any of the covariates had an effect. Overall the model was not statistically significant $\chi^2(3) = 5.982$, p = .112. Results indicated hyperglycemia was not significantly associated to induction HLOS (p = .332).

Combination and induction HLOS. Kaplan-Meier analysis was conducted to assess if patients with combination (hyperglycemia and hypoglycemia) had a longer

induction HLOS. Participants with combination (hyperglycemia and hypoglycemia) had a median HLOS of 26 days, 95% CI [19.52, 32.47]. This was not statistically significantly $\chi^2(1) = 15.44$, p = .213 longer than those without combination, which had a median HLOS of 25 days, 95% CI [23.43, 26.56].

Due to the lack of statistical significance noted in the Kaplan-Meier, further analysis may not be warranted; however, Cox regression was conducted as originally proposed. Cox regression was used to determine if any of the covariates had an effect. Overall the model was trending towards statistical significance $\chi^2(3) = 6.534$, p = .068. Results indicated combination was not significantly associated to induction HLOS (p = .223).

Aim 7 Complete Remission

Examine the association between malglycemia (hyperglycemia, hypoglycemia, or combination) and complete remission controlling for known covariates of age, comorbidities, and CRF among AML patients during hospitalization for induction therapy. Logistic regression was used to investigate whether an association exists between malglycemia (hyperglycemia or the combination) and complete remission controlling for known covariates of age, comorbidities, and CRF. Complete remission status was noted by physician documentation and/or in pathology results. Documentation of remission status was missing for four patients. Additionally, documentation of CRF was missing for 10 patients. Therefore, 14 (10.7%) patients did not have information available on either remission or CRF status and were removed from the analysis. Remission status was present for 99 patients. Only 37 of 99 (36.0%) patients achieved complete remission after the initial induction therapy.

Hyperglycemia and complete remission. Forty-eight out of 86 (63.2%) patients with hyperglycemia did not achieve complete remission. Fisher's exact testing was conducted to determine if there was an association between hyperglycemia and complete remission. In this sample, hyperglycemia was not associated with complete remission (p = .366). There was not a significant difference in rates of complete remission between the groups and no difference among the confounding variables of age and comorbidities; however, a statistically significant difference was noted between CRF and complete remission (p = .001); therefore, further analysis was conducted. The model included the covariates of age, comorbidities, and CRF. To address the assumption of outliers, residuals were examined. Residuals indicated outliers among the variables were not present.

A logistic regression model was evaluated to assess if the likelihood of achieving complete remission was associated with hyperglycemia controlling for age, comorbidities, and CRF. The model was not statistically significant, $\chi^2(8) = 12.522$, p = .129 (Hosmer-Lemeshow test) indicating it is not a poor fitting model. The model explained 19.0% (Nagelkerke $R^2 = .190$) of the variance in complete remission status and correctly classified 66.7% of cases. Hyperglycemia was not a significant predictor of complete remission in this sample, (p = .514). These results are consistent with the Fisher's exact test results.

Combination and complete remission. Seven patients (58.3%) with combination (hyperglycemia and hypoglycemia) did not achieve complete remission; the status for one patient was unknown. Fisher's exact testing was conducted to determine if there was an association between combination (hyperglycemia and hypoglycemia) and complete

remission. No association was noted between combination (hyperglycemia and hypoglycemia) and complete remission (p = 1.000). Further analysis may not be warranted; however, logistic regression was conducted as originally proposed. A statistically significant difference was noted (p = .001) in CRF and complete remission; therefore, further analysis was conducted. The logistic regression model included the covariates of age and comorbidities and CRF. To address the assumption of outliers, residuals were examined. Residuals indicated outliers among the variables were not present.

The logistic regression model was used to assess if the likelihood of achieving complete remission was associated with combination (hyperglycemia and hypoglycemia) controlling for age, comorbidities, and CRF. The model was not statistically significant, $\chi^2(8) = 11.36$, p = .182 (Hosmer-Lemeshow test) indicating it is not a poor fitting model. The model explained 18.6% (Nagelkerke $R^2 = .186$) of the variance in complete remission status and correctly classified 64.6% of cases.

The combination was not significantly associated to complete remission in this sample, (p = .755). The covariates of age (p = .670) and comorbidities (p = .892) were not statistically significant. However, as one would expect, CRF category is significantly associated to complete remission status. With each increase in CRF category patients were 3.2 times (p = .001, *OR* 3.17; 95% CI [1.64, 6.14]) more likely to not achieve complete remission. These results are consistent with the Fisher's exact results.

Aim 8 Mortality

Examine the association between malglycemia (hyperglycemia, hypoglycemia, or combination) and induction mortality controlling for known covariates of age,

comorbidities, and CRF among AML patients during hospitalization for induction therapy. Logistic regression was used to investigate whether an association exists between malglycemia (hyperglycemia or the combination) and mortality controlling for known covariates of age, comorbidities, and CRF. Documentation of CRF was missing for 10 patients; therefore, the analysis included 93 patients.

Hyperglycemia and induction mortality. Seven (8.9%) deaths occurred during the induction phase, these seven patients who died experienced hyperglycemia. Mortality was not associated with hyperglycemia (p = 1.000). Further analysis may not be warranted; however, logistic regression was conducted as originally proposed. In addition, there was not a significant difference for the confounding variables of age, CRF, and comorbidities (p = .800, p = .757, p = .967, respectively) between those who died and those who did not die. The logistic regression model included the covariates of age, comorbidities, and CRF. To address the assumption of outliers, residuals were examined. Residuals indicated outliers among the variables were present; therefore, this assumption was violated.

A logistic regression was conducted to assess if the likelihood of induction mortality was associated with hyperglycemia controlling for age, comorbidities, and CRF. The model was not statistically significant, $\chi^2(8) = 6.968$, p = .540(Hosmer-Lemeshow test) indicating it is not a poor fitting model. The model explained

4% (Nagelkerke $R^2 = .004$) of the variance in induction mortality and correctly classified 92.2% of cases. Hyperglycemia was not significantly associated to induction mortality in this sample (p = .780). These results are consistent with the Fisher's exact results. **Combination and induction mortality**. Only one of the patients (8.3%) who died during induction had combination (hyperglycemia and hypoglycemia). Fisher's exact testing was conducted to determine if there was an association between combination (hyperglycemia and hypoglycemia) and induction mortality. In this sample, combination (hyperglycemia and hypoglycemia) was not associated with overall induction mortality (p = 1.000). Although there was not a difference among the groups, further analysis may not be warranted; however, logistic regression was conducted as originally proposed.

A logistic regression was conducted to assess if the likelihood of induction mortality was associated with combination (hyperglycemia and hypoglycemia) controlling for age, comorbidities, and CRF. The model was not statistically significant, $\chi^2(8) = 7.720$, p = .461 (Hosmer-Lemeshow test) indicating it is not a poor fitting model. The model explained 4% (Nagelkerke $R^2 = .004$) of the variance in induction mortality and correctly classified 92.2% of cases. Combination (hyperglycemia and hypoglycemia) was not significantly associated (p = .882) to induction mortality in this sample.

In summary, this study demonstrates malglycemia, specifically combination (hyperglycemia and hypoglycemia), was associated with septicemia and trending towards an association with sepsis. Although not statistically significant, the impact of hyperglycemia was noted to impact health outcomes such as more neutropenic days and longer HLOS, more infections, septicemia, and sepsis.

CHAPTER 5. DISCUSSION

This was the first study to examine the presence and impact of malglycemia (hyperglycemia, hypoglycemia, or the combination) on a comprehensive set of health outcomes in cancer patients. Specifically, the purpose of this study was to determine the prevalence of malglycemia (hyperglycemia, hypoglycemia, or combination) as well as examine its impact on health outcomes including number of neutropenic days, infection, septicemia, sepsis, induction HLOS, complete remission, and induction mortality in patients with AML. Findings from this study indicate that hyperglycemia is common and both hyperglycemia and the combination (hyperglycemia and hypoglycemia) have significant implications for the hospitalized AML patient.

Prevalence

Hyperglycemia

This is the first study to examine both the incidence and prevalence of malglycemia in AML patients. Similar to other studies, the incidence of hyperglycemia was quite high (83%), with the prevalence rate (total number of occurrences during the induction period) at approximately one-third (26.5%) of the entire sample. The ADA (2013) recommends that hyperglycemia be promptly identified and treated. The study findings for both incidence and prevalence should serve as a wake-up call to clinicians signaling both the need for monitoring and treatment of hyperglycemia in hospitalized AML patients.

Combination (Hyperglycemia and Hypoglycemia)

Less is known regarding the prevalence of hypoglycemia or the combination of hyperglycemia and hypoglycemia. This study found that all those (n = 12 or 11%

incidence) with hypoglycemia also had hyperglycemia. This eliminated the ability to calculate the discreet prevalence rate of hypoglycemia in this study.

The prevalence of the combination (hyperglycemia and hypoglycemia) was 1.4%. The prevalence of hypoglycemia or the combination (hyperglycemia and hypoglycemia) has not been well described in the literature. Inconsistencies in the definition and measurement of hypoglycemia and variability have made it difficult to assess its prevalence. However, the prevalence of hyperglycemia or combination noted in this study is similar to those findings among critical care patients where the prevalence was noted as 28% for hyperglycemia and 2.9% had the combination of both during their ICU length of stay (Badawi et al., 2012).

Measurement Issues

The prevalence of malglycemia, specifically hyperglycemia, has been noted as a common problem in the critical care patient. However, there are two challenges noted for interpretation of these results. First, many studies do not divulge how the prevalence rate was calculated and/or use terminology of incidence and prevalence interchangeably. Second, of the few studies that have examined malglycemia, researchers have used varying cut points to define abnormal blood glucose levels. Many of the studies did not use ADA recommended definition of FBG \geq 126 mg/dL as the marker of hyperglycemia. For example Ali et al. (2007), considered hyperglycemia as > 110mg/dL and hypoglycemia as < 60 mg/dL; whereas Matias et al. (2013), used > 100 mg/dL as the marker for hyperglycemia and < 60mg/dL for hypoglycemia. See Appendix H for malglycemia measurement table. The lack of a clear and common definition makes comparisons across studies difficult. Therefore, consistent definitions and terminology

are crucial to understanding the prevalence of malglycemia (hyperglycemia, hypoglycemia, and combination) in AML patients.

Outcomes

Number of Neutropenic Days

The role of hyperglycemia on neutropenic days has not been well studied. Although not statistically significant, patients in this study with hyperglycemia had two days more of neutropenia than those without hyperglycemia. Similarly, Karnchanasorn et al., (2012) failed to find a relationship between hyperglycemia and neutropenic days in BMT patients. Conversely, two studies including Storey and Von Ahs' pilot study demonstrated a significant association between hyperglycemia and higher number of neutropenic days in BMT and patients with various leukemia diagnoses, respectively (Sheean et al., 2006; Storey & Von Ah, 2015).

Significant findings may have been limited by the high number of patients in the study who had hyperglycemia. Although hyperglycemia was not found to be significantly associated with number of neutropenic days, it is a clinically significant finding as additional days of neutropenia may result in increased risk for infection and longer HLOS.

The combination of hyperglycemia and hypoglycemia was not significantly associated with neutropenic days. Interestingly, those patients with the combination (hyperglycemia and hypoglycemia) had fewer neutropenic days than did those without combination (19 versus 22). One possibility for these findings may be the larger number of patients diagnosed with diabetes (9/12) in this group. Those patients with a known blood glucose disorder such as diabetes may have been more closely monitored with

variations of blood glucose better controlled due to corrective action taken to prevent episodes of hyperglycemia and hypoglycemia. More research is needed to understand the impact of hypoglycemia or the combination (hyperglycemia and hypoglycemia) on neutrophil recovery. These results should be interpreted with caution and may have been impacted by the uneven numbers in the hyperglycemia (large numbers) and combination (small numbers) groups.

The role of malglycemia on the neutropenic days of AML patients is important to continue to study. Researchers (Collier et al., 2008; Price & Knight, 2009; Turina et al., 2005) have shown the presence of malglycemia (hyperglycemia, hypoglycemia, or combination) at the cellular level exacerbates the blunting of cellular activity decreasing phagocytosis (a function of the neutrophils) and chemotaxsis (cellular movement), which could potentially result in increased risk for profound immune compromise, delayed marrow recovery, increased risk for infection, and subsequent longer HLOS.

Infection

Although hyperglycemia was not associated with infection in this study, patients with hyperglycemia had more infections than those who did not have hyperglycemia. These findings are similar to Fuji et al. (2007) who studied 112 BMT patients categorized with normoglycemia, mild, moderate, or severe hyperglycemia, and found no difference in overall infection rates among the groups. In addition, Storey and Von Ah (2015) in their pilot analyses did not find a significant relationship between hyperglycemia and infection in patients with various types of leukemia.

In contrast, Weiser et al. (2004) noted in 287 patients with ALL, those with hyperglycemia were 40% (p = 0.016) more likely to develop a complicated infection

(pneumonia or fungal). Matias et al. (2013) similarly noted hyperglycemia increased the risk of complicated infections (sepsis, respiratory, or renal failure; *OR* 3.97; 95% CI [2.08, 7.57]; p < 0.001) but did not increase the risk of fungal infections in ALL and AML patients undergoing induction therapy. When comparing BMT patients in a glucose control group to those not in the control group, Fuji and colleagues (2009) noted a significantly higher incidence of documented infection among those with hyperglycemia. Likewise, among 1,175 BMT patients, each parameter of malglycemia (hyperglycemia, hypoglycemia, and glycemic variability) were noted to increase the risk of infection (Hammer et al., 2009).

Combination (hyperglycemia and hypoglycemia) was not associated with infection in this study. The impact of hypoglycemia and the combination (hyperglycemia or hypoglycemia) on infection in patients with cancers or more specifically AML has not been well studied. Hammer et al. (2009) were the first to report detrimental outcomes related to hypoglycemia and glycemic variability among BMT patients. They noted hypoglycemia to be a significant predictor (p < .0001) of infection in BMT patients. Additionally they found the risk of infection was highest among those with the most variation in blood glucose. Those with higher variability were 2-fold more likely to have an infection than those with the least variations (Hammer & Voss, 2012). Likewise, Fuji et al. (2009) noted when interventions to control blood glucose were implemented, lower rates of infection ensued.

Limitations of this study may have impacted findings. Results may have been influenced by the smaller sample size or use of prophylactic antibiotic therapy, which was not accounted for in the study.

The majority of studies that examined malglycemia and infection were conducted in BMT patients, who are the most critically ill and therefore, cannot be generalized to other hematologic cancers. More research is needed to assess the impact of malglycemia on infection.

Septicemia

In this study, patients with hyperglycemia were not more likely to experience septicemia than those without hyperglycemia. However, it was noted that more patients with hyperglycemia developed septicemia than those who did not have hyperglycemia. Although this finding was not statistically significant it may be clinically significant in caring for AML patients.

Fuji et al. (2007) who studied BMT patients with normoglycemia, mild, moderate, or severe hyperglycemia, also failed to note a significant difference in septicemia rates among the groups. However, in a follow-up study of BMT patients, these same researchers (Fuji et al., 2009) noted a statistically significant increase in septicemia among those with hyperglycemia receiving standard of care treatment versus those whose blood glucose was kept in the range of 80–110 mg/dL. In addition, Soysal and associates (2012) studied 86 patients of varying cancer diagnoses admitted to the hospital with neutropenic fever and found those with hyperglycemia were more prone to have gram negative bacteria or fungal infections than those neutropenic patients without hyperglycemia. Taken together, these studies indicate more research is needed to fully examine the role of hyperglycemia and sepsis in AML patients.

There is a paucity of information on the role of combination (hyperglycemia and hypoglycemia) and septicemia. In this study, a significant relationship between

combination (hyperglycemia and hypoglycemia) and septicemia was noted. This finding should be interpreted with caution as the number of patients with combination (hyperglycemia and hypoglycemia) was small. However, this finding is plausible as glycemic variation has been shown to stimulate inflammatory cytokine response and oxidative stress (Ceriello et al., 2012; Gogitidze et al., 2010), which could create a milieu conducive to the development of septicemia. Further studies are needed to increase understanding of the pathophysiology of combination (hyperglycemia and hypoglycemia) and its effect on inflammatory and immune response.

Sepsis

Patients with hyperglycemia were not more likely to have sepsis than AML patients without hyperglycemia in this study. Similarly, Fuji et al. (2007) found no difference in sepsis among BMT patients with normoglycemia, mild, moderate, or severe hyperglycemia. However, Weiser et al. (2004) noted in 287 patients with ALL, those with hyperglycemia were 16% (p = 0.03) more likely to develop sepsis. Ali and colleagues (2007) also found that hyperglycemia increased the odds of developing infection, severe sepsis, or severe sepsis with respiratory failure in patients with AML. Likewise, Matias et al. (2013) studied 280 patients with ALL and AML and noted almost a 4-fold (*OR* 3.97; p < .001) increase in the odds for developing sepsis when hyperglycemia was present. The failure to find a relationship between malglycemia and sepsis may be due to the large numbers of patients with hyperglycemia and the few without hyperglycemia in this sample .

In this study, patients with combination (hyperglycemia and hypoglycemia) were trending towards a statistically significant association to sepsis. The effects of

malglycemia (hyperglycemia, hypoglycemia, or combination) on increased risk of sepsis has not been fully explored. Research assessing the effects of malglycemia (hyperglycemia, hypoglycemia, or combination) on the development of sepsis is important to study as AML patients who experience sepsis may experience longer HLOS and have a greater risk of mortality.

HLOS

In this study, HLOS was one day longer for those with hyperglycemia than those without. Similar findings were noted by Soysal and colleagues (2012) who also found a non-significant increase of one day longer HLOS among patients with hyperglycemia. Although this finding was not statistically significant, it may be clinically meaningful in caring for patients with AML. Coto and colleagues (2014) noted hyperglycemia was statistically significantly associated (p = .037) with longer HLOS (8.2 days versus 7.8 days) and subsequent hospital costs among patients with diabetes mellitus.

The impact of hyperglycemia on induction HLOS in AML patients has not been well studied. In BMT patients (including patients with leukemia), HLOS among those with hyperglycemia ($\geq 150 \text{ mg/dL}$) resulted in longer HLOS (14 days +/- 4 days compared to 17 +/- 6 days; p = .0001) than for those without hyperglycemia (Karnchanasorn et al., 2012). Garg et al. (2007) noted a significant increase in length of stay (16 days versus 24 days) in 126 BMT patients with hyperglycemia. Similarly, Storey and Von Ah (2015) noted leukemia patients with hyperglycemia had longer HLOS (5.4 days versus 19.6 days; p = .02) than those with normoglycemia.

This study did not find an association among those with combination (hyperglycemia and hypoglycemia) on HLOS. There is a deficit in the literature as it relates to both hypoglycemia and the combination (hyperglycemia and hypoglycemia) on HLOS. In critical care patients those with hypoglycemia were subject to longer HLOS of 14 days versus 16 days (p = .05) than those who did not experience hypoglycemia (Brunkhorst et al., 2008). Turchin et al. (2009) found among non-critical care patients an increase of 2.5 days as the number of hypoglycemic events increased (p < .0001). No studies were found that specifically addressed the combination (hyperglycemia and hypoglycemia) and HLOS. This is important to study as longer HLOS can contribute to additional costs for patients, poorer outcomes, and loss of revenue for hospitals.

Complete Remission

Neither hyperglycemia nor combination (hyperglycemia and hypoglycemia) impacted complete remission in this study. Overall, 37 of 99 (37%) patients achieved complete remission. The majority (34 of 37; 92%) of patients that achieved complete remission had hyperglycemia. Nine of the 37 (24%) patients had a documented diabetes diagnosis. These findings are similar to Matias et al. (2013) who examined the complete remission of 188 leukemia patients (ALL and AML) during induction and did not find a significant relationship between hyperglycemia and complete remission.

The percent of patients that achieved complete remission (37%) in this study was notably lower than those of other studies. It is estimated that the majority (70%–80%) of patients fewer than 60 years of age will achieve complete remission (Fernandez et al., 2009; Mandelli et al., 2009). Approximately 40%–50% of older patients (> 60 years of age) who are in generally good health achieve complete remission; however, generally the cure rate is 10% with median survival less than 1 year (Buchner et al., 2009; Burnett

et al., 2010). This finding may be related to the age and comorbid conditions in this sample.

This study focused on complete remission during the initial induction phase only, achieving complete remission in this time period is critical as this response can be indicative of longer duration of remission. However, complete remission also can be achieved with subsequent re-induction(s) chemotherapy treatments. Future research examining malglycemia longitudinally through the trajectory of AML treatment could yield important information regarding the impact of malglycemia on the duration and timing of complete recovery.

Research has shown CRF to be a principal predictor and the strongest prognostic indicator of complete remission in AML (Orozco & Appelbaum, 2012). The three CRF groups include better-risk, intermediate-risk, and poor-risk (NCCN, 2013). In this study, the majority of patients were in the intermediate-risk category, followed by the better-risk, and poor-risk respectively. In this study the eight patients who died, four were categorized as poor-risk and four as intermediate-risk cytogenetics.

Mortality

In this study, patients with malglycemia (hyperglycemia, hypoglycemia, or combination) did not demonstrate an association with mortality. Eight patients died during the induction period, all of the patients who died during induction had at least malglycemia, seven with hyperglycemia, and one episode of combination. Of those patients who died, only one had the diagnosis of diabetes and experienced the combination (hyperglycemia and hypoglycemia) during the induction period. The low number of deaths is not surprising as generally death during initial induction for AML is

rare. Matias et al. (2013) studied two different types of acute leukemia and noted an association between hyperglycemia and death. However, those authors did not control for CRF that could influence mortality. The current study, although with a smaller sample size, did control for CRF and did not find an association between hyperglycemia and mortality.

Hammer et al. (2009) were the first to examine all three components of malglycemia (hyperglycemia, hypoglycemia, and glycemic variability) finding each component associated with an increase in mortality. They found glucose values >200 mg/dL were associated with an approximately 2 or more fold increased risk of non-relapse mortality compared to values 101–150 mg/dL (p < .001). Moreover, a minimum blood glucose < 89 mg/dL was associated with a more than 2-fold risk of non-relapse mortality compared to a minimum blood glucose of 90 mg/dL or more (p = .0001). Hammer et al. (2009) reported that among patients with the greatest variability, risk of death was up to 14-fold higher compared to patients with lower variability (p < .0001).

Variability in glucose has been shown to be more predictive of mortality than mean glucose alone in critical care patients. Egi and colleagues (2006) found variability of glucose concentrations were a significant and independent predictor of both ICU and hospital mortality, noting variability as a stronger predictor of death than mean glucose concentration. Krinsley (2008) noted a 5-fold increase in mortality among those with the highest glycemic variability when compared to those with lower variability. Similarly, the risk of mortality was noted to progressively increase among critical care patients as the severity and duration of each component of malglycemia occurred (Badawi et al.,

2012). Bagshaw and colleagues (2009) noted critically ill patients who had hypoglycemia (BG < 81 mg/dL) and variability within 24 hours of admission to the ICU were 1.4 (95% CI [1.31–1.54]) times more likely to die during hospitalization. More research is needed to assess the impact of each component of malglycemia on mortality. Since mortality is less likely to occur during initial induction therapy, future research examining malglycemia in initial induction and through the trajectory of AML treatments may yield more information as to its impact.

Summary

Overall, these observations suggest that hyperglycemia is quite common and, although not statistically significant in this study, was clinically meaningful for each of the health outcomes (number of neutropenic days, infection, septicemia, sepsis, HLOS, complete remission, and mortality) in this sample. Specifically those with hyperglycemia had more days of neutropenia and longer HLOS. In addition, more infections, septicemia, and sepsis were noted in the hyperglycemia group than in those without hyperglycemia. The majority of patients who did not achieve complete remission had hyperglycemia. Lastly, the majority of patients who died experienced hyperglycemia.

Additionally, this study highlights that the combination (hyperglycemia and hypoglycemia) although less common, may have a more deleterious effect on patient outcomes than when experienced independently. Assessing patterns and reducing variability may be an important dimension to glucose control in the hospitalized AML patient. More research is needed to explore all the components of malglycemia and its impact on health outcomes.
Limitations

Findings of this study must be reviewed, taking into consideration the limitations noted. The study was limited by the large number of patients who had hyperglycemia, the small number that had the combination of hyperglycemia and hypoglycemia, and no patients with hypoglycemia alone. The small number of patients with the combination (hyperglycemia and hypoglycemia) impacts the power of the study increasing the risk of making a Type II error, which is accepting a null hypothesis that is false (Warner, 2008).

Because this is a retrospective study and based on abstracted chart review some data may be lacking or incomplete. For example, some records did not contain the CRF for analysis. Clinical acuity may have been an important factor that could influence health outcomes but is difficult to measure when abstracting data from chart reviews. The retrospective study design may have limited information as it related to pre-diabetes, undiagnosed diabetes, or glucose-intolerant individuals. Additionally, the ability to tolerate activity, nutritional support, and pharmacologic treatments such as corticosteroids, antibiotics, insulin, or hypoglycemic agents were not collected. These factors are likely to exacerbate blood glucose and/or moderate the impact on glycemic status and subsequent outcomes. Additionally, the use of fasting blood glucose limited the ability to assess glycemic variability throughout each day of hospitalization. These variables or yet unknown factors that were not extrapolated from the data may have confounded the results. Future studies should include, account, and control for these factors.

Strengths of the study included a specific time period within the trajectory of treatment for AML. Standard treatment regimens and similarities in the expected

symptom profiles and HLOS among this patient group during this time period reduced variability. The use of only one abstractor of data facilitated quality control measures and consistency in its collection. An additional strength of this study was the use of the CCI to control for the influence, number, and severity of comorbidities on the health outcomes.

Implications for Practice

This study provides important information regarding the prevalence and impact of malglycemia (hyperglycemia and the combination) on the health outcomes of vulnerable hospitalized AML patients during initial induction therapy. Nurses knowledgeable about the prevalence and ramifications of malglycemia (hyperglycemia, hypoglycemia, or combination) can proactively identify, assess, and intercede on behalf of their patients. The findings from this study, once disseminated, will facilitate nurses in the development of a patient specific plan of care that integrates the knowledge of disease process, cancer therapy, and changes in diet and activity on blood glucose. The oncology nurse plays an important role in the prompt identification of malglycemia and can collaborate with members of the multidisciplinary heathcare team to implement strategies to prevent or mitigate the harmful consequences of malglycemia.

The management of glucose not only improves outcomes for patients but also has ramifications for hospitals. Mandates from the Affordable Care Act require the Centers of Medicare and Medicaid Services to reduce reimbursement to hospitals that are considered lower-performers. The cascading effect of malglycemia, infection, and longer HLOS for the already at-risk AML patient also can result in financial consequences for hospitals.

Future research should include the analysis of actual blood glucose measurements or the aggregation mean blood glucose, or examining various thresholds for malglycemia as it relates to the impact on health outcomes rather than malglycemia as a dichotomous variable. Assessment of the onset of malglycemia, duration, and number of occurrences over the induction period could facilitate the identification of times when patients are most likely to experience malglycemia and to which interventions can be targeted.

Conclusion

This study provides preliminary evidence demonstrating malglycemia, specifically hyperglycemia, is prevalent. In addition, the combination (hyperglycemia and hypoglycemia) during induction for AML has harmful consequences for the hospitalized patient with AML. The limited number of studies on this important topic reveals gaps in knowledge as it relates to the full effects of malglycemia on the health outcomes of hospitalized AML patients. More research is warranted to elucidate clinically significant levels of malglycemia and its impact on health outcomes to inform interventions to mitigate symptoms and improve quality of life for hospitalized AML patients.

APPENDIX A. OVERVIEW OF PHYSIOLOGIC PROCESSES





APPENDIX B. NORMAL GLUCOSE METABOLISM

Copyright Phototake/USA. Used with Permission (see following page).



Invoice

Sue Storey, MSN	, RN, AOCNS	Invoice #	222698		
Att: Sue Storey		Invoice Date	15-Aug-2014		
710 Pemberly Co	urt	Customer Code			
Noblesville	40060	Job #	Malglycemia&Clinica		
U.S.A.		P.O #	Dissertation		

The following reproduction rights are granted upon payment for the images detailed below.

Dissertation entitled "Malglycemia and Clinical Outcomes in Hospitalized Patients with Acute Myeloid Leukemia."

The dissertation will be uploaded to ProQuest and the Indiana University Purdue University Indianapolis (IUPUI)"Scholar Works" Library. In addition one hard copy of the dissertation will be submitted and remain in the IUPUI Graduate Office. I do not anticipate this occurring until at the earliest December 2014 or at the latest May 2015.

Upon completion and approval, the dissertation will be uploaded electronically to a website which stores dissertations.

All rights reserved - Federal ID#133612092

Image	lmage No	Usage	Price
E B	101899 RM	Editorial, Dissertation (Print & Eprint), World Wide, 1/4 Page, Inside Page, <40,000, One edition/Issue,	75.00
		Total Amount	\$ 75.00

Net 30 Days. There is a 1.5% monthly surcharge on all invoices. Full refund if notified in writing within 14 days from date of invoice. 50% refund if notified in writing within 30 days. No refund thereafter. Subject to our published terms and conditions.

Phototake, Inc. 260W 35th St. ste 204, New York, NY 10001 1-800-542-3686 www.phototakeusa.com

X* Denotes statistical significance			Outcomes				
Author	Sample	Infection	Survival	Mortality	Toxicity	LOS	Findings
Ali et al. (2007)	$\begin{array}{l} \text{AML} \\ N = 283 \end{array}$	Х*		Х*			 -Rise in mortality even at mild increases of blood glucose -Odds of developing sepsis increased with blood glucose
Brunello et al. (2010)	Non-Hodgkins lymphoma (NHL) & prostate cancer (PC) N = 349 162-NHL 187-PC		X		Х*		 -NHL patients non-hematologic toxicities (neuropathy, non-neutropenic fever, and fatigue) increased when hyperglycemia present -PC patients with hyperglycemia experienced increase severity in hematologic toxicities (neutropenia, neutropenic fever, thrombocytopenia, and anemia
Derr et al. (2008)	BMT N = 382	X*		Х		x	-Hyperglycemia prior to ablative therapy was associated with higher risk for infection after ablative therapy
Derr et al. (2009)	Glioblastoma N = 191	Х	X*				-Trend towards infection Higher the mean glucose-shorter the survival time

APPENDIX D. LITERATURE REVIEW AND OUTCOME TABLE

Fuji et al. (2007)	BMT (AML, non-Hodgkins lymphoma, acute lymphocytic leukemia, myelodysplastic syndrome, chronic myelogenous leukemia) N = 64	X	X*	Х*	X*		 -Non-relapse mortality and overall survival and grade of graft-versus-host disease was related to the degree of hyperglycemia -Toxicities of hyperbilirubinemia and proinflammatory markers were significant with elevations in blood glucose
Fuji et al. (2009)	BMT N = 126	X*		X	X*		 -Infection and bacteremia statistically less in the intense glucose control group -Toxicity of c-reactive protein was increased in the intense glucose control group
Garg et al. (2007)	BMT N = 126	Х				X*	-Patients treated with glucocorticosteroids had higher blood glucose and LOS -Not significant for infection
Gebremedhin et al. (2012)	BMT N = 328				X*		 -Normal to overweight patients when developed hyperglycemia doubled the risk of GVHD -In contrast obese patients had higher incidence of hyperglycemia but it did not significantly increase the incidence of GVHD -Lean patients did not develop hyperglycemia

Griffith et al. (2011)	BMT	X	X*		 -Identified risk factors for posttransplantation diabetes mellitus (PTDM) as peak steroid dose, pretransplant c- peptide level, unrelated donor. -PTDM is associated with inferior survival -did not find increased infections in patients with PTDM
Hammer et al. (2009)	BMT (AML, non- Hodgkins lymphoma, acute lymphocytic leukemia, myelodysplastic syndrome, chronic myelogenous leukemia) N = 1175	Х*		X*	-Each glycemic parameter (hypo and hyperglycemia and variability) was associated with infection with greatest risk in the variability group -Each parameter associated with non-relapse mortality
Hardy et al. (2010)	Patients with brain tumors s/p craniotomy N = 114	Х			-Glucose was not a significant factor in surgical site infections

Jackson et al. (2012)	Patients peri/ post-operative from colectomy for cancer and 30 days post elective surgery Analyzed 7576 BG on operative day & 5773 on post op day 1	X*	X*	Х		 -Moderate hyperglycemia associated with surgical site infection. -Severe hyperglycemia associated with cardiac arrest and death. -Mild, moderate and severe hypoglycemia and hyperglycemia were associated with myocardial infarction. -Associations similar among diabetic and non-diabetic patients -Trend towards association and need for operative reintervention
Karnchanasorn et al. (2012)	BMT (autologous) N = 240	X		х	X*	 Time to engraftment (platelet and neutrophil) was not statistically significant among those with blood glucose < 150 mg/dL and those with blood glucose >150 mg/dL. LOS among those with blood glucose < 150mg/dL was statistically less than in those with blood glucose > 150mg/dL (14+/-4 versus 17+/-6; <i>p</i> = .0001) No difference among groups as it relates to infection.
Matias, et al. (2013)	Leukemia patients (ALL & AML) admitted for induction N = 280	X*	X*			 High incidence of hyperglycemia during induction therapy -patients with hyperglycemia had 3.9 times risk for developing complicated infection (positive blood culture) -odds of death for patients with hyperglycemia were 3.5 -not difference in the number of fungal infections or complete remission

Pidala et al. (2011)	BMT treated with glucocorticoster oids for graft- versus- host disease N = 173		X *	X*			 Patients treated with insulin or oral agents suffered significantly worse overall survival than those not requiring them. Those with sustained blood glucose >200 mg/dL despite treatment suffered worse overall survival and non-relapse mortality
Rentschler et al. (2010)	BMT N = 160	X*	-		X*	x	 -Hospital related hyperglycemia was associated with increased complications. -LOS increased among those who developed complications but was not associated with hyperglycemia after adjusting
Sheean et al. (2006)	BMT Allogeneic BMT $N = 107$ Autologous BMT N = 250 Total $N = 357$	X*			X*	Х	-Patients receiving TPN experienced hyperglycemia more frequently and had statistically more infections, use of blood products and delayed white blood cells and platelet engraftment
Sheean et al. (2013)	<i>N</i> = 112 SCT	Х	Х	Х	X*	X*	 Patients receiving TPN with hyperglycemia had significantly more neutropenic fevers, need for red blood cells and platelet transfusions, longer length of stay and delays in WBC and platelet engraftment. No difference was noted in survival and mortality among the groups.

Soysal et al. (2012)	Patients with (Lymphoma, Hodgkins disease lung, prostate and GI cancer) admitted with fever and neutropenia N = 86	Х*		Х*			 -More of the patients with malglycemia died than in the normoglycemia group. -Higher incidence of gram-negative bacteria and fungal infections among the group with malglycemia.
Storey & Von Ah (2015)	Patients with CML, ALL, CLL, AML N = 42	X			X*	X*	-Patients with hyperglycemia had a greater incidence of neutropenia and longer HLOS -No difference noted in infection
Villareal-Garza et al. (2012)	Metastatic or recurrent breast cancer N = 265		X*		X		-Patients with a mean glucose of >130 mg/dL during administration of palliative cancer treatments had poorer overall survival than those with normoglycemia.
Weiser et al. (2004)	Acute lymphocytic leukemia N = 278	Х*	X*				 Patients with hyperglycemia more likely to develop infection, sepsis or complicated infection. Patients with hyperglycemia had significant increase in mortality and recurrence of disease Delay in neutrophil not statistically significant

APPENDIX E. NCCN CYTOGENETIC RISK

Printed by Sue Storey on 3/4/2013 12:19:28 PM. For personal use only. Not approved for distribution. Copyright @ 2013 National Comprehensive Cancer Network, Inc., All Rights Reserved.

NCCN Comprehensive Cancer Network* NCCN Guidelines Version 2.2013 NCCN Guidelines Version 2.2013
--

RISK STATUS BASED ON VALIDATED CYTOGENETICS AND MOLECULAR ABNORMALITIES¹

RISK STATUS	CYTOGENETICS	MOLECULAR ABNORMALITIES
Better-risk	inv(16) ^{2,3} or t(16;16) ² t(8;21) ² t(15;17)	Normal cytogenetics: NPM1 mutation in the absence of FLT3-ITD or isolated biallelic CEBPA mutation
Intermediate-risk	Normal cytogenetics +8 alone t(9;11) Other non-defined	t(8;21), inv(16), t(16;16): with c-KIT ⁵ mutation
Poor-risk	Complex (≥3 clonal chromosomal abnormalities) Monosomal karyotype -5, 5q-, -7, 7q- 11q23 - non t(9;11) inv(3), t(3;3) t(6;9) t(9;22) ⁴	Normal cytogenetics: with FLT3-ITD mutation ⁶

¹ The molecular abnormalities included in this table reflect those for which validated assays are available in standardized commercial laboratories. Given the rapidly evolving field, risk stratification should be modified based on continuous evaluation of research data. Other novel genetic mutations have been identified that may have prognostic significance.

²Other cytogenetic abnormalities in addition to these findings do not alter better risk status.

³ Paschka P, Du J, Schlenk RF, et al. Secondary genetic lesions in acute myeloid leukernia with inv(16) or t(16;16): a study of the German-Austrian AML study group (AMLSG). Blood 2013;121:170-177.

⁴ For Philadelphia+ AML t(9;22), manage as myeloid blast crisis in CML, with addition of tyrosine kinase inhibitors. <u>See NCCN Guidelines for Chronic Myelogenous</u> Leukemia.

⁵Emerging data indicate that the presence of c-KIT mutations in patients with t(8;21), and to a lesser extent inv(16), confers a higher risk of relapse. These patients should be considered for clinical trials, if available.

⁶ FLT3-ITD mutations are considered to confer a significantly poorer outcome in patients with normal karyotype, and these patients should be considered for clinical trials where available. There is controversy as to whether FLT3-TKD mutations carry an equally poor prognosis.

Note: All recommendations are category 2A unless otherwise indicated.

Mational

Clinical Trials: NCCN believes that the best management of any cancer patient is in a clinical trial. Participation in clinical trials is especially encouraged.

Varsion 2.2013, 03/01/13 @ National Comprehensive Cancer Network, Inc. 2013, All rights reserved. The NCON Guidelines" and this Illustration may not be reproduced in any form without the express swritten permission of NCON".

APPENDIX F. MALGLYCEMIA AND AML OUTCOMES



APPENDIX G. CCI

- 1. Indication
 - 1. Assess whether a patient will live long enough to benefit from a specific screening measure or medical intervention
- 2. Scoring: Comorbidity Component (Apply 1 point to each unless otherwise noted)
 - 1. Myocardial Infarction
 - 2. Congestive Heart Failure
 - 3. Peripheral Vascular Disease
 - 4. Cerebrovascular Disease
 - 5. Dementia
 - 6. COPD
 - 7. Connective Tissue Disease
 - 8. Peptic Ulcer Disease
 - 9. Diabetes Mellitus (1 point uncomplicated, 2 points if end-organ damage)
 - 10. Moderate to Severe Chronic Kidney Disease (2 points)
 - 11. Hemiplegia (2 points)
 - 12. Leukemia (2 points)
 - 13. Malignant Lymphoma (2 points)
 - 14. Solid Tumor (2 points, 6 points if metastatic)
 - 15. Liver Disease (1 point mild, 3 points if moderate to severe)
 - 16. AIDS (6 points)
- 3. Scoring: Age
 - 1. Age <40 years: 0 points
 - 2. Age 41-50 years: 1 points
 - 3. Age 51-60 years: 2 points
 - 4. Age 61-70 years: 3 points
 - 5. Age 71-80 years: 4 points

Retrieved from http://www.fpnotebook.com/prevent/Exam/ChrlsnCmrbdtyIndx.htm

Author	Study Design	Concept Measured	Source	Statistical tests utilized
Ali et al. (2007)	Retrospective	Hyperglycemia > 110 mg/dL > 150 mg/dL > 200 mg/dL	Serum glucose	<u>Glycemia</u> : Mean, organized by level of mean hospital glucose <u>Outcomes</u> :Student <i>t</i> -test; Wilcoxon rank sum; Chi square; Logistic regression
Brunello et al. (2010)	Retrospective	Hyperglycemia ≥ 100 (fasting) ≥ 140 (post-prandial)	Serum glucose	<u>Glycemia</u> : Mean, standard deviation, median, minimum and maximum <u>Outcomes</u> : Linear regression (complications) Cox regression (overall survival; progression free survival); Logistic regression (toxicity)
Derr et al. (2008)	Retrospective	Hyperglycemia Interquartile range (25 th – 75th percentile)	All available glucose Serum glucose; point-of-care testing	<u>Glycemia</u> : Mean glycemia from admission to neutropenia <u>Outcomes</u> :Wilcoxan rank-sum, Kruskal-Wallis, Logistic regression (odds for infection)
Derr et al. (2009)	Retrospective	Hyperglycemia Q1 \leq 94 mg/dL Q2 94–109 mg/dL Q3 110–137 mg/dL Q4 $>$ 137 mg/dL	Serum glucose	<u>Glycemia</u> : Mean glucose divided into quartiles <u>Outcomes</u> :Cox proportional hazards regression(patient characteristics and overall survival)

APPENDIX H. MALGLYCEMIA MEASUREMENT TABLE

Fuji et al. (2007)	Retrospective	Hyperglycemia < 110 mg/dL Mild 110–150mg/dL Moderate–severe > 150 mg/dL	Fasting blood glucose	<u>Glycemia</u> : Categorized according to mean glucose <u>Outcomes</u> : Student t-test, Chi square, Wilcoxan rank-sum (patient characteristics), Logistic regression (odds ratios), Kaplan-Meier (Overall survival), Cox regression (hazard ratios for overall survival and non-relapse mortality)
Fuji et al. (2009)	Retrospective/Prospective matched case control	Malglycemia 80–110 mg/dL 111–140 mg/dL 141–179 mg/dL ≥ 180 mg/dL Variability standard deviation of mean glucose	Serum glucose	<u>Glycemia</u> : Mean, standard deviation <u>Outcomes</u> : Student t-test, Chi square, Wilcoxan rank-sum (patient characteristics), Cox regression (Hazard ratios), repeated measures with linear fixed model; Kaplan-Meier (probability of organ dysfunction
Garg et al. (2007)	Retrospective	Hyperglycemia < 91 mg/dL 91–100 mg/dL 101–110 mg/dL 111–120 mg/dL > 120 mg/dL	Serum glucose	<u>Glycemia</u> : Categorized into quintiles according to mean <u>Outcomes</u> : Students unpaired t-test, Chi square, Pearson's correlation coefficient
Gebremedhin et al. (2012)	Prospective	Hyperglycemia Mild (6.11–8.33 mmol/L) Moderate (8.34–9.98 mmol/L) Severe (minimum of 9.99 mmol/L)	Fasting blood glucose Excluded diabetic patients	<u>Glycemia:</u> Morning serum glucose for 10 days post-transplant sufficient to predict GVHD in the subsequent 90 days. General linear model used for fbs days 1–10. Glucose values log-transformed to normalize skewed distribution. <u>Outcomes:</u> Proportions compared using Chi square, means compared using t tests, association between level of hyperglycemia and cumulative incidence of GVHD using univariate analysis w Gray test and multivariate analysis using proportional hazards regression.

Griffith et al. (2011)	Prospective	Hyperglycemia Onset of Post transplantation diabetes mellitus (PTDM) at one fasting blood glucose > 126 or random glucose \ge 200 mg/dL	Serum fasting blood glucose	<u>Glycemia:</u> Spearman's rank correlation to test relationships of fasting glucose to covariates. Cox proportional hazards model to assess impact of PTDM as time dependent overall survival. <u>Outcomes:</u> Logistic regression to assess for confounding variables. Kaplan-Meier survival curves for overall survival.
Hammer et al. (2009)	Retrospective	Malglycemia < 70 mg/dL ≥ 126 mg/dL Variability a standard deviation of two or more measurements of 29 mg/dL or greater	Serum glucose	<u>Glycemia</u> : Individual, average, minimum and maximum blood glucose. Standard deviation <u>Outcomes</u> : Cox regression, Anderson-Gill model, regression models derived from likelihood-ration test and p value estimates from Wald test
Hardy et al. (2010)	Retrospective matched case control	Hyperglycemia ≥ 130 mg/dL ≥ 150 mg/dL	Serum glucose	<u>Glycemia</u> : Time adjusted glucose-weighting the average of all measurements by the length of time a patient was in a particular glucose measurement. Allows for adjustment of varying number of glucose measurements per patient. To eliminate bias the variable glucose was additionally defined and calculated as the average of the first measurements taken each day. <u>Outcomes</u> : Time weighting glucose measurements, Fisher exact test, Wilcoxan rank-sum, logistic models
Jackson et al. (2012)	Retrospective	Hyperglycemia Hypoglycemia < 80mg/dL Normoglycemia 80–120 mg/dL Moderate hyperglycemia 161– 200 mg/dL Severe hyperglycemia > 200 mg/dL	Peri-operative BG (Operative day and post op day 1)	<u>Glycemia</u> :Mean <u>Outcomes</u> : Chi square, two-tailed ANOVA, multivariate log regression

Karnchanasorn et al. (2012)	Retrospective	Hyperglycemia Blood glucose > 150 mg/dL	All available morning blood glucose. Serum glucose; point-of-care testing.	<u>Glycemia:</u> Converted point-of-care values to serum. Blood glucose measured by mean +/- standard deviation. Differences test 1-way analysis of variance or <i>t</i> -test <u>Outcomes:</u> Least squares regression analysis used to examine relationships between blood glucose and outcomes.
Matias et al. (2013)	Retrospective	One or more fasting blood glucose > 100 mg/dL Looked at early (1 week prior to induction) and late hyperglycemia occurred after neutropenia	Serum fasting blood glucose	MV logistic regression for infection and mortality
Pidala et al. (2011)	Retrospective	Hyperglycemia Proportion of glucose values for each patient and median value calculation > 200 mg/dL	All available glucose Serum glucose; point- of-care testing	<u>Glycemia</u> :Mean, minimum, maximum and standard deviation <u>Outcomes</u> :Mean, median and modes standard deviations (continuous variables), frequency, proportion(categorical), Wilcoxan rank-sum, Fisher exact test, Kaplan-Meier (overall survival), Cox regression
Rentschler et al. (2010)	Retrospective	Hyperglycemia ≥ 2 fasting blood glucose ≥ 126 mg/dL or 1 blood glucose ≥2 00 mg/dL	All available glucose Serum glucose; point- of-care testing	<u>Glycemia:</u> Individual and average blood glucose over LOS were calculated. Median and quartile ranges (<101, 101–108, 109– 120, 121–135, and >135 mg.dL), median glucose values compared using Wilcoxan-rank sum test. <u>Outcomes:</u> Categorical variables compared using test and chi square. Associations between time dependent variables using Cox proportional hazards regression.
Sheean et al. (2006)	Retrospective	Hyperglycemia ≥ 110 mg/dL ≥ 200 mg/dL	Fasting blood glucose	<u>Glycemia</u> : Recorded once per day for uniformity Total number of days and percentage of days above the two categories of hyperglycemia. Means, medians, modes and standard deviation <u>Outcomes</u> :Mean, median, standard deviations, Students unpaired t-test, Chi square, Wilcoxan rank-sum, multiple logistic regression (odds ratios)

Sheean, et al. (2013)	Retrospective	Hyperglycemia ≥ 7.0 mmol/L which equals 126 mg/dL	Fasting blood glucose	Glycemia: frequency, means, ranges, standard deviations. Transposed and examined longitudinally to depict average daily BGOutcomes: exact, Chi squareSurvival and mortality- Kaplan-Meier and Cox proportional hazards.
Soysal et al. (2012)	Retrospective	Hyperglycemia 140 mg/dL or greater	Random blood glucose	<u>Glycemia</u> :Mean, standard deviations, proportions <u>Outcomes</u> :Student <i>t</i> -test, Pearson, Chi square, Logistic regression (odds ratio)
Storey & Von Ah (2015)	Retrospective	Hyperglycemia FBG ≥ 126 mg/dL	Fasting blood glucose	<u>Neutropenia and infection:</u> Fisher's exact <u>HLOS</u> : Kaplan-Meier
Villereal-Garza et al. (2012)	Retrospective	Hyperglycemia >130 mg/dL	Fasting blood glucose	<u>Glycemia</u> : Arithmetic means, standard deviation, medians with ranges <u>Outcomes</u> : Mean, standard deviations (continuous variables), frequency, proportion(categorical), Chi square, Kaplan-Meier (overall survival), log rank tests(comparison among sub groups)
Weiser et al. (2004)	Prospective	Hyperglycemia ≥ 2 glucose determinations of ≥2 00mg/dL during the first 30 days of induction therapy.	Serum glucose	<u>Glycemia</u> : ≥ 2 glucose determinations of ≥ 200 mg/dL <u>Outcomes</u> : Kaplan-Meier (overall survival, complete remission duration), Chi square, Mann Whitney U test (differences in time to neutrophil recovery), Cox regression (independent predictor)

APPENDIX I. INSTITUTIONAL REVIEW BOARD APPROVAL



Research & Regulatory Affairs 3402 Harcourt Road Suite 805 Indianapolis, IN 46260 (317) 338-2194 Fax (317) 338-3058

September 13, 2013

Sue Storey, PhDc, RN, AOCNS 2001 W. 86th St. Indianapolis, IN 46260

R2013-106: Malglycemia in the Hospitalized Acute Myeloid Leukemia Patient

Dear Ms. Storey:

This letter is to confirm that the above mentioned protocol was granted exempt approval by the St. Vincent Institutional Review Board on September 12, 2013.

Please note that rescarch classified as exempt is not subject to continuing review and the other requirements of 45 CFR 46.

Approval by the IRB does not indicate institutional commitment of resources nor does it indicate privileges to perform new procedures. The Institutional Review Boards of St. Vincent Hospital and Health Care Center, Inc., are duly constituted Institutional Review Boards under 21 CFR Part 56 and operate in compliance with Good Clinical Practices and all applicable regulatory requirements.

A member of

Core Values

We are called to:

Service of the Poor Generosity of spirit for Sersons most in need.

Reverence Respect and compassion for the dignity and diversity of life.

Integrity nspiring trust through personal leadership.

Wisdom integrating excellence und stewardship.

Creativity Courageous innovation.

Dedication Affirming the hope and oy of our ministry. Please direct all inquires to the Regulatory Affairs Office, 8402 Harcourt Road, Suite 120, Indianapolis, Indiana 46260; the telephone number is 317-338-2194.

Sincerely,

Chair and Co-Medical Director Institutional Review Board St. Vincent Hospital and Health Care Center, Inc. /jik





S3 EXEMPT RESEARCH CATEGORIES FORM

AD(3-104 <u>DIRECTIONS</u>: This form is to be neatly typed and submitted to the IRB only when the investigator is contemplating the initiation of a research project which, in the investigator's judgment, is exempt from normal IRB review. The IRB will then determine whether the activity is covered by these regulations.

IRB Study Number:: Research Proposal Title:: Malglycemia in the Hospitalized Acute Myeloid Leukemia Patient

Research activities are exempt from regulations for the protection of human research subjects when the ONLY involvement of human subjects falls within one or more of the categories below. These exemptions do not apply to research involving prisoners, fetuses, pregnant women, human in vitro fertilization, or when there is additional involvement of human subjects beyond the categories listed below, when deception of subjects may be an element of the research, or when the activity might expose the subject to discomfort or harassment beyond levels encountered in daily life. The exemption of categories 2 or 3 below of exempt research does not apply when individuals under the age of 18 arc subjects of the activity, except for research involving observations of public behavior when the investigator(s) do not participate in the activities being observed.

Effective April 14, 2003, the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA) now clarifies policies and procedures relating to dc-identification of health information. Considerations for research that is exempt must qualify based on previous regulations (45CFR46) as well as HIPAA regulations when protected health information is used.

Check the appropriate category(ies) that applies to your research project:

- 1.— Research conducted in established or commonly accepted educational settings, involving normal educational practices, such as (i) research on regular and special educational instructional strategies, or (ii) research on the effectiveness of or the comparison among instructional techniques, curricula, or classroom management methods. [45CFR46.101(b)(1)]
- This category applies only when the information gathered about the individual does NOT pertain to his/her health. Otherwise, see #3 below.

Research involving the use of educational tests (cognitive, diagnostic, aptitude, achievement), survey procedures, interview procedures or observation of public behavior, unless the following two conditions exist: (i) information obtained is recorded in such a manner that the human subjects can be identified, directly or through identifiers linked to the subjects; and (ii) any disclosure of the subjects' responses outside the research could reasonably place the subjects at risk of criminal or civil liability or be damaging to the subjects' financial standing, employability or reputation. For more details, see the 2nd list of categories below (#3). [45CFR46.101(b)(2)]

3. This category applies when the information gathered about the individual pertains to his/her health.

Research involving the use of educational tests (cognitive, diagnostic, aptitude, achievement), survey procedures, interview procedures or observation of public behavior as long as the subjects cannot be identified, directly or through identifiers linked to the subjects. (See the list of identifiers under 7.d. below for details). [45CFR46.101(b)(2)]

- 4. All research involving the use of educational tests (cognitive, diagnostic, aptitude, achievement), survey or interview procedures or observation of public behavior that is not exempt under categories 2 or 3 above, (i) if the human subjects are elected or appointed public officials or candidates for public office; or (ii) federal statute(s) require(s) without exception that the confidentiality of the personally identifiable information will be maintained throughout the research and thereafter. [45CFR46.101(b)(3)]
- S. Research and demonstration projects which are conducted by or subject to the approval of Department of Health and Human Services (DHHS), and which are designed to study, evaluate, or otherwise examine: (i) public benefit or service programs; (ii) procedures for obtaining benefits or services under those programs; (iii) possible changes in or alternatives to those programs or procedures; or (iv) possible changes in methods or levels of payment for benefits or services under those programs. [45CFR46.101(b)(5)]. The research or demonstration project must be conducted pursuant to specific federal statutory authority, must have no statutory requirement that an IRB review the project, and must not involve significant physical invasions or intrusions upon the privacy of the subjects.

FRM-305 Exempt Research Checklist and Form.docx St. Vincent Institutional Review Board 1

Rev. 08/12

	IRB Study N	lumber:	35
	Research Pro	posal Title: Malglycemia in the Hospitalized Acute Myel	oid Leukemia Patient
ter en		a 1975 - 1976 - 1976 - 1976 - 1976 - 1976 - 1976 - 1976 - 1976 - 1976 - 1976 - 1976 - 1976 - 1976 - 1976 - 1976	Si Si waxaya ku waxaya ku
	 Taste an consume safe, or Drug Ac of the U 	Id food quality evaluation and consumer acceptance studies, ed or (ii) if a food is consumed that contains a food ingredient agricultural chemical or environmental contaminant at or belo liministration or approved by the Environmental Protection Ag .S. Department of Agriculture. [45CFR46.101(b)(6)]	(i) if wholesome foods without additives are t at or below the level and for a use found to be ow the level found to be safe, by the Food and ency or the Food Safety and Inspection Service
	 Research specimer manner t this exem addition, 	involving the collection or study of <u>existing</u> data, documents, is, if these sources are publicly available or if the informat hat subjects cannot be identified, directly or through identifie <i>pption <u>ALL</u></i> of the data, documents, records, or specimens mus indicate which of the following apply(ies): [45CFR46.101(b)	records, pathological specimens, or diagnostic tion is recorded by the investigator in such a rs linked to the subjects. [Note: <i>To qualify for</i> <i>t be in existence before the project begins</i>]. In (4)]
	a. The	data, documents, or records do NOT include health informatic	מי
	b. The by v cons	existing data, documents, records, pathological specimens, o vritten legal permission prior to April 14, 2003 (e.g. throug ent, or other expressed written legal permission).	h an informed consent, a waiver of informed
	c. The	health information pertains only to decedents	
	d. The remo	health information is de-identified. (Note: to qualify for wed or sufficient number of identifiers removed to be statis iffers below or the Use and Disclosure of Health Information	this exemption, either all identifiers must be tically de-identified. See the list of eighteen n for Research Standard Operating Procedures
	De-io	dentified data must have the following data removed:	
		• Name	
		 All geographic subdivisions smaller than a state, includ codes if the geographic unit of combining all the same people 	ing street address, city, county, precinct, zip three initial digits contains more than 20,000
	•	 All elements of dates (except year) for dates directly r admission date, discharge date, date of death; and all age year) indicative of such age, except that such ages and ele of age 90 or older. Telephone numbers 	elated to an individual, including birth date, s over 89 and all elements of dates (including ments may be aggregated in a single category
		Fax numbers	
	•	Electronic mail addresses	
		Medical record numbers	
	•	Health plan beneficiary numbers	
		Account numbers	
		Certificate/license numbers	
		Venicie identifiers and serial numbers, including license pl	ate numbers
		Web universal resource locators (URLs)	
		Internet protocol (IP) address numbers	
	•	Biometric identifiers, including finger and voice prints	
	•	Full face photographic images and any comparable images	; and
	•	Any other unique identifying number, character, or code.	

114

Rev. 08/12

S3 If, after having completed the Exempt Research Checklist, the investigator still believes the study qualifies as exempt research, complete the rest of this page and submit the original to:

St. Vincent Research & Regulatory Affairs Department 8402 Harcourt Road, Suite 120 Indianapolis, IN 46260

Note that the study cannot be initiated until written acceptance for the IRB is given.

PLEASE ALLOW 5-10 WORKING DAYS FOR EXEMPT REVIEW PROCESSING.

Principal Investigator: Address: 2001 W. 86th Contact Person: Sue Sto If this is a Student Research Research Proposal Title:	Storey, Sue D (Last, First, Middle Initial) St., Indianapolis, IN 46260 orey, PhD (c), RN, AOCNS arch Proposal, List Name of the	Department: <u>Clinical Nur</u> Phone: <u>317-338-5668</u> Phone: <u>317-338-5668</u> e Student: <u>Sue Storey</u>	E-Mail: slsto E-Mail: slsto E-Mail: slsto	rey@stvincent.org rey@stvincent.org
Address: <u>2001 W. 86th</u> Contact Person: <u>Sue Sto</u> If this is a Student Resea Research Proposal Title:	(Last, First, Middle Initial) St., Indianapolis, IN 46260 prey, PhD (c), RN, AOCNS arch Proposal, List Name of the	Phone: <u>317-338-5668</u> Phone: <u>317-338-5668</u> e Student <u>: Sue Storey</u>	E-Mail: slsto E-Mail: slsto	rey@stvincent.org
Contact Person: <u>Sue Sta</u> If this is a Student Research Proposal Title:	orey, PhD (c), RN, AOCNS urch Proposal, List Name of the	Phone: <u>317-338-5668</u> e Student: Sue Storey	E-Mail: slsto	rey@stvincent.org
If this is a Student Research Proposal Title:	arch Proposal, List Name of the	e Student: Sue Storey	Phone: 317.3	
Research Proposal Title			1 none <u>17-5</u>	38-5668
IRB Study Number:	Malglycemia in the Hospitali	ized Acute Myeloid Leuke	mia Patient	
Sponsor/Funding Agenc	V.	PI on G	rant:	
Sponsor Proposal #/Gran	nt #:	Period:	From:	to
Sponsor Type: Fede Grant Title (if different f	ral; 🗌 State; 🔲 Industry from research proposal title):	Not-for-Profit	Unfunded;	Internally Funded
	SECTION II:)	RESEARCH DESCRIPTION		
Describe the general pro- objectives and procedure interview guide). The purpose of this reth hypoglycemia, and/or a days, infection, septice acute myeloid leukemia and/or a combination o hospital length of stay,	rospective descriptive study is to en- combination of both hyperglycer mia, sepsis, hospital length of stay a. The hypotheses being tested are f both hyperglycemia and hypogly complete remission status and hor	examine the prevalence and i mia and hypoglycemia) on cl y, complete remission status s that there will be an associa ycemia on number of neutrop spital mortality.	mpact of malglyce inical outcomes (n and mortality) of p tion between hype benic days, infectio	mia (hyperglycemia, umber of neutropenic atients hospitalized with rglycemia, hypoglycemia n, septicemia, sepsis,
Signature of Principal I	nvestigator: <u>×</u>	S, RN, ADC	<u>18 Date: 9/</u>	4/13

FRM-305 Exempt Research Checklist and Form.docx St. Vincent Institutional Review Board

3

Rev. 08/12

i Na Jerra da Antonio da Compositiva da Compositiva da Compositiva da Compositiva da Compositiva da Compositiva d	SECTION III: EXEMPT REVIEW DETERMINATIO	N	<u></u>
Accented			
Denied			
	P.T. Hodgin, MD, MPH		
Authorized IRB Printed Name:_		P i	1-7013
Authorized IRB Signature:		Date: 7 - 1	
	$\langle \rangle$		
	\bigcirc		
	(c) Note (not or common state when the basis of the common state of the common stat		
			·····

REFERENCES

- Adham, S., Rawahi, H., Habib, S., Al Moundri, M. S., Viloria-Petit, A., & Coomber,
 B. L. (2014). Modeling of hypo/hyperglycemia and their impact on breast cancer progression related molecules. *PLOS ONE*, *9*(11), e113103. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0113103
- Adult BMI Calculator: English. (n.d.). Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Retrieved from http://www.cdc.gov/healthyweight/assessing/bmi/adult_bmi/ english_bmi_calculator/bmi_calculator.html
- Ali, N. A., O'Brien, J. M., Blum, W., Byrd, J. C., Klisovic, R. B., Marcucci, G., . . .
 Grever, M. R. (2007). Hyperglycemia in patients with acute myeloid leukemia is associated with increased hospital mortality. *Cancer*, *110*(1), 96–102. doi:10.1002/cncr.22777
- American Diabetes Association. (2013). Position statement: Standards of medical care in diabetes–2013. *Diabetes Care*, *36*(1), S11–S66.
- Ayra, A. K., Pokharia, D., & Tripathi, K. (2011). Relationship between oxidative stress and apoptotic markers in lymphocytes of diabetic patients with chronic non-healing wound. *Diabetes Research and Clinical Practice*, 94, 377–384. doi:10.1016/j.diabres.2011.08.004
- Badawi, O., Waite, M., Fuhrman, S. A., & Zuckerman, I. H. (2012). Association between intensive care unit-acquired dysglycemia and in-hospital mortality. *Critical Care Medicine*, 40(12), 3180–3188. doi:10.1097/CCM.0b013e3182656ae5

- Bagshaw, S. M., Bellomo, R., Jacka, M. J., Egi, M., Hart, G. K., & George, C. (2009). The impact of early hypoglycemia and blood glucose variability on outcome in critical illness. *Critical Care*, *13*(R91), 1–10. doi:10.1186/cc7921
- Baron, F., & Storb, R. (2006). The immune system as a foundation for immunologic therapy and hematologic malignancies: A historical perspective. *Best Practice & Research Clinical Haematology*, 19(4), 637–653.
- Barone, B., Yeh, H. C., Snyder, C. F., Peairs, K. S., Stein, K. B., Derr, R. L., ...
 Brancati, F. L. (2008). Long-term all-cause mortality in cancer patients with
 preexisting diabetes mellitus: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journal of American Medical Association*, 300(23), 2754–2764. doi:10.1001/jama.2008.824
- Becker, S., Dossus, L., & Kaaks, R. (2009). Obesity related hyperinsulinemia and hyperglycemia and cancer development. *Archives of Physiology and Biochemistry*, *115*(2), 86–96. doi:10.1080/13813450902878054
- Benfield, T., Jensen, J. S., & Nordestgaard, B. G. (2007). Influence of diabetes and hyperglycaemia on infectious disease hospitalization and outcome. *Diabetologia*, 50, 549–554. doi:10.1007/s00125-006-0570-3
- Bernadini, J., Callen, S., Fried, L., & Piraino, B. (2004). Inter-rater reliability and annual scoring of the Charlson Comorbidity Index. *Advances in Peritoneal Dialysis*, 20, 125–136.
- Biernacka, K., Uzoh, C. C., Zeng, L., Persad, R. A., Bahl, A., . . . Holly, J. M. (2013) Hyperglycemia-induced chemo-resistance of prostate cells due to IGFBP-2. *Endocrine Related Cancer*, 20(5), 741–751.

- Boucai, L., Southern, W. N., & Zonszein, J. (2011). Hypoglycemia-associated mortality is not drug-associated but linked to comorbidities. *The American Journal of Medicine*, 124, 1028–1035. doi:10.1016/j.amjmed.2011.07.011
- Bray, F., Jemal, A., Grey, N., Ferlay, J., & Forman, D. (2012). Global cancer transitions according to the human development index (2008–2030): A population based study. *The Lancet Oncology*, *13*(8), 790–801. doi:10.1016/ S1470-2045(12)70211-5
- Brinkman, C., Neumann, E., Blossfeld, J., Frese, S., Orthmann, P., Montiel, G., . . .
 Brixius, K. (2011). Influence of glycemic status and physical fitness on oxidative stress and the peroxiredoxin system in the erythrocytes of non-insulin dependent Type 2 diabetic men. *Experimental and Clinical Endocrinology & Diabetes, 119*, 559–564. doi:10.1055/s-0031-1279712
- Brunello, A., Kapoor, R., & Extermann, M. (2010). Hyperglycemia during chemotherapy for hematologic and solid tumors is correlated with increased toxicity. *American Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 34(3), 1–5. doi:10.1097/COC.0b013e3181e1d0c0
- Brunkhorst, F. M., Engel, C., Bloos, F., Meier-Hellmann, A., Ragaller, M., Weiler, N., & Reinhart, K. (2008). Intensive insulin therapy and pentastarch resuscitation in severe sepsis. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 358(2), 125–139.
- Buchner, T., Berdel, W. E., Haferlach, C., Haferlach, T., Schnittger, S., Muller-Tidow,
 C., & Hiddeman, W. (2009). Age-related risk profile and chemotherapy dose
 response in acute myeloid leukemia: A study by the German Acute Myeloid
 Leukemia Cooperative Group. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 27(1), 61–69.

Burnett, A. K., Hills, R. K., Milligan, D. W., Goldstone, A. H., Prentice, A. G.,
McMullin, M., . . . Wheatley, K. (2010). Attempts to optimize induction and
consolidation treatment in acute myeloid leukemia: results of the MRC AML12
trial. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 28(4), 586–595.

- Butler, S. O., Btaiche, I. F., & Alaniz, C. (2005). Relationship between hyperglycemia and infection in critically ill patients. *Pharmacotherapy*, *25*, 963–976.
- Buysschaert, M., & Sadikot, S. (2013). Diabetes and cancer: A 2013 synopsis. *Diabetes & Metabolic Syndrome: Clinical Research & Reviews*, 7, 247–250. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.dsx.2013.08.001
- Calle, M. C., & Fernandez, M. L. (2012). Inflammation and Type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes & Metabolism*, *38*, 183–191. doi:10.1016/j.diabet.2011.111.0886
- Camp-Sorrell, D. (2005). Chemotherapy toxicities and management. In C. H. Yarbro,
 M. H. Frogge, & M. Goodman (Eds.), *Cancer nursing: Principles and practice* (6th ed., pp. 412–457). Sudbury, MA: Jones & Bartlett.
- Carr, M. (2001). Diabetes mellitus: A hypercoaguable state. *Journal of Diabetes and its Complications, 15*, 44–54. doi:10.1016/S1056-8727(00)00132-X
- Ceriello, A., Novials, A., Ortega, E., La Sala, L., Pujadas, G., Testa, R., . . . Giugliano, D. (2012). Evidence that hyperglycemia after recovery form hypoglycemia worsens endothelial function and increases oxidative stress and inflammation in healthy control subjects and subjects with Type 1 diabetes. *Diabetes*, *61*, 2993–2997. doi:10.2337/db12-0224
- Ceriello, A., & Kilpatrick, E. S. (2013). Glycemic variability: Both sides of the story. *Diabetes Care, 36*(2), S272–S275.

- Charlson, M. E., Pompei, P., Ales, K. L., & Mackenzie, C. R. (1987). A new method of classifying prognostic comorbidity in longitudinal studies: Development and validation. *Journal of Chronic Disease*, 40, 373–383.
- Charlson Comorbidity Index: Family practice notebook. Retrieved from: http://www.fpnotebook.com/prevent/Exam/ChrlsnCmrbdtyIndx.htm
- Clement, S., Braithwaite, S. S., Ahmann, A., Smith, E. P., Schafer, R. G., & Hirsh, I. B. (2004). Management of diabetes and hyperglycemia in hospitals. *Diabetes Care*, 27(2), 553–591. doi:10.2337/diacare.27.2.553
- Collier, B., Dossett, L. A., May, A. K., & Diaz, J. J. (2008). Glucose control and the inflammatory response. *Nutrition in Clinical Practice*, 23(3), 3–15. doi:10.1177/011542650802300103
- Coto, J. A., Yehle, K. S., & Foli, K. J. (2014). The relationship between uncontrolled glycemia and the cost of hospitalization. *Clinical Nurse Specialist.* 28(5), 283–287. doi:10.1097/NUR.0000000000000071
- Derr, R., Hsiao, V. C., & Sauder, C. D. (2008). Antecedent hyperglycemia is associated with an increased risk of neutropenic infections during bone marrow transplantation. *Diabetes Care*, 31(10), 1972–1977. doi:10.2337/dc08-0574
- Derr, R. L., Ye, X., Islas, M. U., Desideri, S., Saudek, C. D., & Grossman, S. A. (2009). Association between hyperglycemia and survival in patients with newly diagnosed glioblastoma. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 27(7), 1082–1086. doi:10.1200/JCO.2008.19.1098

- de Visser, K. E., & Jonkers, J. (2009). Towards understanding the role of cancer-associated inflammation in chemoresistance. *Current Pharmaceutical Design*, 15, 1844–1853.
- Dandona, P., Chaudhuri, A., & Dhindsa, S. (2010). Proinflammatory and prothrombotic effects of hypoglycemia. *Diabetes Care*, *33*(7), 1686–1687.
- Dohner, H., Estey, E. H., Amadori, S. Appelbaum, F. R., Buchner, A. K., &
 Burnett, A. K. (2010). Diagnosis and management of acute myeloid leukemia in adults: Recommendations from an international expert panel on behalf of the European Leukemia Network. *Blood*, 115(3), 453.
- Dohner, H., & Gaidzik, V. L. (2011). Impact of genetic features on treatment decisions in AML. *Hematology*, 2011, 36–42.
- Dossett, L. A., Cao, H., Mowery, N. T., Dortch, M. J., Morris, J. M., & May, A. K. (2008). Blood glucose variability is associated with mortality in the surgical intensive care unit. *The American Surgeon*, 74, 679–685.
- Dotson, S., Freeman, R., Failing, H. J., & Adler, G. K. (2008). Hypoglycemia increases seruminterleukin-6 levels in healthy men and women. *Diabetes Care*, 31, 1222–1223.
- Duan, W., Shen, X., Lei, J., Xu, Q., Yu, Y., Li, R., Wu, E., & Ma, Q. (2014).
 Hyperglycemia, a neglected factor during cancer progression. *BioMed Research International*, 2014, 1–10. Retrieved from http://www.dx.doi.org/10.1155 /2014/
- Dunn, G. P., Bruce, A. T., Ikeda, H., Old, L. J., & Schreiber, R. D. (2002). Cancer immunoediting: From immuno-surveillance to tumor escape. *Nature Immunology*, 3(11), 991–998.

- Dunn, G. P., Old, L. G., & Schreiber, R. D. (2004). The immunobiology of cancer immunosurveillance and immunoediting. *Immunity*, 21, 137–148.
- Egi, M., Bellomo, R., Stachowski, E., French, C. J., & Hart, G. (2006). Variability of blood glucose concentration and short-term mortality in critically ill patients. *Anesthesiology*, 105(2), 244–252. doi:10.1097/00000542-200608000-00006
- Egi, M., Bellomo, R., Stachokowski, E., French, C. J., Hart, G., Hegarty, C., & Bailey, M. (2008). Blood glucose concentration and outcomes of critical illness: The impact of diabetes. *Critical Care Medicine*, *36*(8), 2249–2255. doi:10.1097/CCM.0b013e318181039a
- Egi, M., Bellomo, R., Stachowski, E., French, C. J., Hart, G. K., Taori, G., . . . Bailey, M. (2010). Hypoglycemia and outcome in critically ill patients. *Mayo Clinic Proceedings*, 85(3), 217–224. doi:104065/mcp.2009.0394
- Esposito, K., Nappo, F., Marfella, R., Giugliano, G., Giugliano, F., Ciotola, M., . . .
 Giugliano, D. (2002). Inflammatory cytokine concentrations are acutely increased by hyperglycemia in human: Role of oxidative stress. *Circulation, 106*, 2067–2072. doi:10.1161/01.CIR.0000034509.14906.AE
- Estey, E. (2010). High cytogenetic or molecular genetic risk acute myeloid leukemia. *American Society of Hematology, Education Book, 2010*(1), 474–480. doi:10.1182/asheducation-2010.1.474
- Etienne, A. Esterni, B., Charbonnier, A., Mozziconacci, M. J., Arnoulet, C., Coso, A., . . .
 Vey, N. (2007). Comorbidity is an independent predictor of complete remission in elderly patients receiving induction chemotherapy for acute myeloid leukemia. *Cancer, 109*, 1376–1383. doi:10.1002/cncr.22537

- Fanning, S., Sekeres, M. A., & Theil, K. (2009). Acute myeloid leukemia. Cleveland Clinic Disease Management Project. Retrieved from http://www.clevelandclinicmeded.com
- Fernandez, H. F., Sun, Z., Yao, X., Litzow, M. R., Luger, S. M., Paietta, E. M., . . . Tallman, M. S. (2009). Anthracycline dose intestification in acute myeloid leukemia. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 361(13), 1249–1259.
- Field, A. (2013). *Discovering statistics using IBM SPSS statistics* (4th ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Finfer, S., Liu, B., Chittock, D. R., Norton, R., Myburgh, J. A., McArthur, C., Foster. D., . . . Robinson, B. G. (2012). Hypoglycemia and risk of death in critically ill patients. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 367(12), 1108–1118.
- Franses, J. W., & Edelman, E. R. (2011). The evolution of endothelial regulatory paradigms in cancer biology and vascular repair. *American Association of Cancer Research*, 71(24), 1–7. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-11-1718
- Frederico, A., Morgillo, F., Tuccillo, C., Ciardiello, F., & Loguercio, C. (2007). Chronic inflammation and oxidative stress in human carcinogenesis. *International Journal* of Cancer, 121, 2381–2386. doi:10.1002/ijc.23192
- Freifeld, A., Bow, E. J., Sepkowitz, K. A., Boeckh, M. J., Ito, J. I., Mullen, C. A., . . . Wingard, J. R. (2011). Clinical practice guidelines for the use of antimicrobial agents in neutropenic patients with cancer: 2010 update by the Infectious Diseases Society of America. *Clinical Infectious Diseases*, 52(4), e56–e93. doi:10.1093/ cid/cir073

- Fuji, S., Kim, S., Mori, S., Fukuda, T., Kamiya, S., Yamasaki, S., . . . Takaue, Y. (2007).
 Hyperglycemia during the neutropenia period is associated with a poor outcome in patients undergoing myeloablative allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. *Transplantation*, 84(7), 814–820. doi:10.1097/01.tp.0000296482.50994.1c
- Fuji, S., Kim, S., Mori, S., Kamiya, S., Yoshimura, K., Kurosawa, S., & Fukuda, T. (2009). Intensive glucose control after allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation: A retrospective matched-cohort study. *Bone Marrow Transplantation*, 44, 105–111. doi:10.1038/bmt.2008.431
- Fulop, T., Kotb, P., Fortin, C., Pawelec, G., de Angelis, F., & Larbi, A. (2010). Potential role of immumosenescence in cancer development. *Annuals of the New York Academy of Science*, 1197, 158–165. doi:10.1111/j.1749-6632.2009.05370.x
- Fulop, T., Larbi, A., Douziech, N., Fortin, C., Guerard, K. P., Lesur, O., Kalil, A., & Dupis, G. (2004). Signal transduction and functional changes in neutrophils with aging. *Aging Cell*, 3(4), 217–226. doi:10.1111/j.1474-9728.2004.00110.x
- Gamble, J. M., Eurich, D. T., Marrie, T. J., & Majumdar, S. R. (2010). Admission hypoglycemia and increased mortality in patients hospitalized with pneumonia. *The American Journal of Medicine*, *123*, 556.e11–556.e16. doi:10.1016/ j.amjmed.2009.11.021
- Garg, R., Bhutani, H., Alyea, E., & Pendergrass, M. (2007). Hyperglycemia and length of stay in patients hospitalized for bone marrow transplantation. *Diabetes Care*, 30(4), 993–994. doi:10.2337/dc06-2563

- Gearhart, M. M., & Parbhoo, S. K. (2006) Hyperglycemia in the critically ill patient. AACN Clinical Issues, 17(1), 50–55.
- Germenis, A. E., & Karanikas, V. (2007). Immunoepigenetics: The unseen side of cancer immunoediting. *Immunology and Cell Biology*, 85, 55–59.
- Ghali, W. A., Hall, R. E., Rosen, A. K., Ash, A. S., & Moskowitz, M. A. (1996).
 Searching for an improved clinical comorbidity index for use with ICD-9-CM administrative data. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology*, *49*(3), 273–278.
- Giacco, F., & Brownlee, M. (2010). Oxidative stress and diabetic complications. *Circulation Research*, *107*, 579–591. doi:10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.110.223545
- Giamarellou, H., & Antoniadou, A. (2001). Infectious complications of febrile leukopenia. *Infectious Disease Clinics of North America*, 15, 457–482.
- Giugliano, D., Ceriello, A., & Esposito, K. (2008). Glucose metabolism and hyperglycemia. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 87(Suppl.), 217S–222s.
- Goldsby, R. A., Kindt, T. J., & Osborne, B. A. (2000). *Immunology* (4th ed.). New York, NY: W. H. Freeman.
- Gogitidze, N., Hedrington, M. S., Briscie, V. J., Tate, D. B., Ertl, A. C., & Davis, S. N.
 (2010). Effects of acute hypoglycemia on inflammatory and pro-atherothrombotic biomarkers in individuals with Type 1 diabetes and healthy individuals. *Diabetes Care*, *33*(7), 1529–1535. doi:10.2337/dc09-0354
- Griffith, M. L., Jagasia, M. H., Misfeldt, A. A., Chen, H., Engelhardt, B. G.,Kassim, A., . . . Jagasia, S. M. (2011). Pretransplantation C-peptide level predictsearly posttransplantation diabetes mellitus and has an impact on survival after

allogeneic stem cell transplantation. *Biology Blood Marrow Transplant*, *17*, 86–92. doi:10.1016/j.bbmt.2010.06.010

- Hammer, M. (2008). Association between glycemic status and graft-versus-host disease, infection, and mortality among hematopoietic stem cell transplant recipients.
 ProQuest LLC. (UI345687.)
- Hammer, M. J., Casper, C., Gooley, T. A., O'Donnell, P. V., Boeckh, M., & Hirsch, I. B. (2009). The contribution of malglycemia to mortality among allogeneic hematopoietic cell transplant recipients. *Biology of Blood Marrow Transplant, 15,* 344–351. doi:10.1016/j.bbmt.2008.12.488
- Hammer, M. J., Motzer, S. V., Voss, J. G., & Berry, D. L. (2010). Glycemic control among older adult hematopoietic cell transplant recipients. *Journal of Geronotological Nursing*, *36*(2), 40–50. doi:10.3928
 00989134-20091207-009891099
- Hammer, M. J., & Voss, J. G. (2012). Malglycemia and cancer: Introduction to a conceptual model. *Oncology Nursing Forum*, 39(3), E275–287.
- Hardy, S., Nowacki, A. S., Bertin, M., & Weil, R. J. (2010). Absence of an association between glucose levels and surgical site infections in patients undergoing craniotomies for brain tumors. *Journal of Neurosurgery*, *113*, 161–166. doi:10.3171/2010.2.JNS09950
- Hermanides, J., Titia, M., Vriesendorp, M., Bosman, R., Zandstra, D. F., Hoekstra, J. B.,
 & DeVries, J. H. (2010a). Glucose variability is associated with intensive care unit mortality. *Critical Care Medicine*, *38*(2), 838–842. doi:10.1097/
 CCM.0b013e3181cc4be9
Hermanides, J., Bosman, R. J., Vriesendorp, T. M., Dotsch, R., Rosendaal, F. R., Zandstra, D., . . . DeVries, J. H. (2010b). Hypoglycemia is associated with intensive care unit mortality. *Critical Care Medicine*, 38(6), 1430–1434. doi:10.1097/CCM.0b013e3181de562c

ICD-9 data.com. (n.d.). Septicemia. Retrieved from http://www.icd9data.com

- Ichim, C. V. (2005). Revisiting immunosurveillance and immunostimulation:
 Implications for cancer immunotherapy. *Journal of Translational Medicine*, *3*(8), 1–13. doi:10.1186/1479-5876-3-8
- Jackson, R. S., Amdur, R. L., White, J. C., & Macsara, R. A. (2012). Hyperglycemia is associated with increased risk of morbidity and mortality after colectomy for cancer. *Journal of American College of Surgeons*, 214(1), 68–80.
- Kalsbeek, A., Bruinstroop, E., Yi, C. X., Kileverik, L. P., La Fleur, S. E., & Fliers, E. (2010). Hypothalmic control of energy metabolism via the autonomic nervous system. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, *1212*, 114–129. doi:10.1111/j.1749-6632.2010.05800.x
- Karnchanasorn, R., Malamug, L. R., Jin, R., Karanes, C., & Chin, K. C. (2012).
 Association of hyperglycemia with prolonged hospital stay but not effect on engraftment after autologous hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. *Endocrine Practice*, 18(4), 508–518. doi:10.4158/EP11307.OR
- Kellenberger, L. D., Bruin, J. E., Greenaway, J., Campbell, N. E., Moorehead, R. A.,
 Holloway, A. C., & Petrik, J. (2010). The role of dysregulated glucose
 metabolism in epithelial ovarian cancer. *Journal of Oncology, 2010*, 1–13.
 doi:10.1155/2010/514310

- Kent, T., Soukup, V., & Fabian, R. (2001). Heterogeneity affecting outcome from acute stroke therapy: Making reperfusion worse. *Stroke*, 32, 2318–2327. doi:10.1161/ hs1001.096588
- Klastersky, J., Paesmans, M., Rubenstein, E. B., Boyer, M., Elting, L., Feld, R., . . .
 Talcott, J. A. (2000). The Multinational Association for Supportive Care in
 Cancer risk index: A multinational scoring system for identifying low-risk febrile
 neutropenic cancer patients. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, *18*, 3038–3051.
- Klaunig, J. E., & Kamendulis, L. M. (2004). The role of oxidative stress in carcinogenesis. *Annual Review of Pharmacology and Toxicology*, 44, 239–267. doi:10.1146/annurev.pharmtox.44.101802.121851
- Klepin, H. D., & Balducci, L. (2009). Acutemyelogenous leukemia in older adults. Oncologist, 14(3), 222–232.
- Kreutziger, J., Schlaepfer, J., Wenzel, V., & Constantinescu, M. A. (2009). The role of admission blood glucose in outcome prediction of surviving patients with multiple injuries. *The Journal of TRAUMA® Injury, Infection, and Critical Care, 67*(4), 704–708. doi:10.1097/TA.0b013e3181b22e37
- Krinsley, J. S. (2003). Association between hyperglycemia and increased hospital mortality in a heterogeneous population of critically ill patients. *Mayo Clinic Proceedings*, 78, 1471–1478.
- Krinsley, J. S., & Glover, A. (2007). Severe hypoglycemia in critically ill patients: Risk factors and outcomes. *Critical Care Medicine*, 35(10), 2262–2267. doi:10.1097/ 01.CCM.0000282073.98414.4B

- Krinsley, J. S. (2008). Glycemic variability: A strong independent predictor of mortality in critically ill patients. *Critical Care Medicine*, 36, 3008–3013.
- Kwoun, M. O., Ling, P. R., Lydon, E., Imrich, A., Zhensheng, Q., Palombo, J., & Bistrian, B. R. (1997). Immunologic effects of acute hyperglycemia in non-diabetic rats. *Journal of Parenteral Nutrition*, 1997(21), 91–99.
- Laerd Statistics. (2015). *IBM SPSS tutorials and statistical guides*. Retrieved from https://statistics.laerd.com
- Larrson, S. C., Mantzoros, C. S., & Wolk, A. (2007). Diabetes mellitus and risk of breast cancer: A meta-analysis. *International Journal of Cancer*, 121, 856–862. doi:10.1002/ijc.22717
- Larrson, S. C., Orsini, N., & Wolk, A. (2005). Diabetes mellitus and risk of colorectal cancer: A meta-analysis. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute*, 97(22), 1679–1687. doi:10.1093/jnci/dji375
- Lawson, R. A. (2013). Remission criteria in acute myeloid leukemia and monitoring for residual disease. *UpToDate*. Retrieved from http://www.uptodate.com/ contents/remission-criteria-in-acute-myeloid-leukemia-and-monitoring-forresidual-disease

- Lech-Miranda, E., Seweryn, M., Giebel, S., Holowiecki, J., Piatkowska-Jakubas, B.,
 Wegrzyn, J., . . . Robak, T. (2010). Infectious complications in patients with acute myeloid leukemia treated according to the protocol with daunorubicin and cytarabine with or without addition of cladribine. A multicenter study by the Polish Adult Leukemia Group (PALG). *International Journal of Infectious Diseases, 14*, e132–e140. doi:10.1016/j.ijid.2009.02.021
- Lemkes, B. A., Hermanides, J., DeVries, J. H., Holleman, F., Meijers, J. C. M., & Hoekstra, J. B. (2010). Hyperglycemia: a prothrombotic factor? *Journal of Thrombosis and Haemostasis*, 8, 1663–1669. doi:10.1111/ j.1538-7836.2010.03910x
- Leonidou, L., Mouzaki, A., Michalaki, M., DeLastic, A. L., Kyriazopoulou, V., Bassaria,
 H., & Gogos, C. A. (2007). Cytokine production and hospital mortality in patients
 with sepsis-induced stress hyperglycemia. *Journal of Infection*, 55, 340–346.
 doi:10.1016/j.jnf.2007.05.177
- Li, W., Ma, Q., Liu, J., Han, L., Ma, G., Liu, H., . . . Wu, E. (2012). Hyperglycemia as a mechanism of pancreatic cancer metastasis. *Frontiers in Bioscience*, *17*, 1761–1774.
- Ling, P. R., Mueller, C., Smith, R. J., & Bistrian, B. R. (2003). Hyperglycemia induced by glucose infusion causes hepatic oxidative stress and systematic inflammation but not STAT 3 or MAP kinase activation in liver in rats. *Metabolism*, 52, 868–874.

LoBiondo-Wood, G., Brown, C. G., Knobf, M. T., Lyon, D., Mallory, G.,

Mitchell, S., . . . Fellman, B. (2014). Priorities of Oncology Nursing Research:
The 2013 National Survey. *Oncology Nursing Forum*, 41(1), 67–76. doi:10.1188/
14.ONF.67–76

- Mandelli, F., Vignetti, M., Suciu, S., Stasi, R., Petti, M., Meloni, G., . . . de Witte, T. (2009). Daunorubicin versus mitoxantrone versus idarubicin as induction and consolidation chemotherapy for adults with acute myeloid leukemia: The EORTC and GIMEMA Groups Study AML-10. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 27(32), 5397–5403.
- Mantovani, A., Allavena, P., Sica, A., & Balkwill, F. (2008). Cancer-related inflammation. *Nature*, *454*, 436–444. doi:10.1038/nature07205
- Marchant, M. H., Viens, N. A., Cook, S., Vail, T. P., & Bolognesi, M. P. (2009). The impact of glycemic control and diabetes mellitus on perioperative outcomes after total joint arthroplasty. *The Journal of Bone & Joint Surgery*, *91*, 1621–1629. doi:10.1097/CCM.0b013e3181810378
- Martini, F., Nath, J., & Bartholomew, E. (2012). Fundamentals of anatomy & *physiology* (9th ed.). Boston, MA: Benjamin Cummings.
- Marik, P. E., & Raghavan, M. (2004). Stress-hyperglycemia, insulin and immunomodulation in sepsis. *Intensive Care Medicine*, *30*, 748–56.
- Massa, M. L., Gagliardino, J. J., & Francini, F. (2011). Liver glucokinase: An overview on the regulatory mechanisms of it activity. *Life*, *63*(1), 1–6. doi:10.1002/iub.1411

Matias, C., Lima, V., Teixeira, H. M., Souto, F. R., & Magalhaes, V. (2013).

Hyperglycemia increases the complicated infection and mortality rates during induction therapy in adult acute leukemia patients. *Revista Brasileira de Hematologia E Hemoterapia*, *35*(1), 39–43.

- Mizock, B. A. (2001). Alterations in fuel metabolism in critical illness. *Best Practice Research: Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism, 15*, 533–551.
- Monnier, L., Colette, C., & Owens, D. (2008). Glycemic variability: The third component of the dysglycemia in diabetes: Is it important? How to measure it? *Journal of Diabetes Science and Technology*, 2(6), 1094–1100.
- Monnier, L., Mas, E., Ginet, C., Michel, F., Villon, L., Cristol, J. P., & Collette, C. (2006). Activation of oxidative stress by acute glucose fluctuations compared with sustained chronic hyperglycemia in patients with Type 2 diabetes. *JAMA*, 295(14), 1681–1687.
- Mraovic, B., Hipzer, B. R., Epstein, R. H., Pequignot, E. C., Parvizi, J., & Joseph,
 J. I. (2010). Preadmission hyperglycemia is an independent risk factor for
 in-hospital symptomatic pulmonary embolism after major orthopedic surgery. *The Journal of Arthroplasty*, 25(1), 64–70. doi:10.1016/j.arth.2008.10.002
- Muehlbauer, P. M., & Schwartzentruber, D. J. (2005). Cancer vaccines. *Seminars in* Oncology Nursing, 19(3), 206–216. doi:10/1016/S0749-2081(03)00048-2
- Munro, B. H. (2005). *Statistical methods for health care research* (5th ed.). Philadelphia, PA: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins.

- National Cancer Institute. (2012). Lifetime risk (percent) of being diagnosed with cancer by site and race/ethnicity. *STEER Cancer Statistics Review 1975–2009*. Bethesda, MD: Author. Retrieved from http://seer.cancer.gov/csr/1975_2009_pops09
- National Comprehensive Cancer Network. (2012). *NCCN guidelines version* 2.2012. Retrieved from http://www.nccn.org
- Nowak, M. A., Michor, F., & Iwasa, Y. (2006). Genetic instability and clonal expansion. *Journal of Theoretical Biology*, 241(1), 26–32. doi:10.1016/j.tbi.2005.11.012
- O'Donnell, M., Abboud, C. N., Altman, J., Appelbaum, F. R., Arber, D. A., Attar, E., . . . Gregory, K. M. (2012). Acute myeloid leukemia. *Journal of the National Comprehensive Cancer Network, 10*, 984–1021.
- Onitilo, A. A., Engel, J. M., Glurich, I., Stankowski, R. V., Williams, G. M., & Doi, S. A.
 (2012a). Diabetes and cancer I: Risk, survival, and implications for screening. *Cancer Causes Control, 23*, 967–981. doi:10.1007/s10552-012-9972-3
- Onitilo, A. A., Engel, J. M., Glurich, I., Stankowski, R. V., Williams, G. M., & Doi, S. A. (2012b). Diabetes and cancer II: Role of diabetes medications and influence of shared risk factors. *Cancer Causes Control*, 23(7), 991–1008. doi:10.1007/ s10552-012
- Orozco, J. J., & Appelbaum, F. R. (2012). Unfavorable, complex and monosomal karyotypes: The most challenging forms of acute myeloid leukemia. *Oncology*, 26(8), 1–10.

- Parekh, N., Lin, Y., Hayes, R. B., Albu, J. R., & Lu-Yao, G. L. (2010). Longitudinal associations of blood markers of insulin and glucose metabolism and cancer mortality in the third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey. *Cancer Causes Control, 21*, 631–642. doi:10.1007/s10552-009-9492-y.
- Payandeh, M., Aeinfar, M., & Aeinfar, V. (2012). Treating the elderly patient with acute myelogenous leukemia. In S. Koschmieder & S. Krug (Eds.), *Myeloid Leukemia—Clinical Diagnosis and Treatment* (Chapter 13). Retrieved from http://www.intechopen.com doi:10.5772/29164
- Pidala, J., Kim, J., Kharfan-Dabaja, M. A., Nishihori, T., Field, T., Perkins, J., . . .
 Anasetti, C. (2011). Dysglycemia following glucocorticoid therapy for acute graft-versus-host disease adversely affects transplantation outcomes. *Biology of Blood and Marrow Transplantation*, *17*, 239–248. doi:10.1016/j.bbmt.2010.07.005
- Pitocco, D., Zaccardi, F., DiStasio, E., Romitelli, F., Santini, S., Zuppa, C., & Ghirlanda,
 G. (2010). Oxidative stress, nitric oxide and diabetes. *The Review of Diabetic Studies*, 7(1), 15–25. doi:10.1900/RDS.2010.7.15
- Plass, C., Oakes, C., Blum, W., & Marcucci, G. (2008). Epigenetics in acute myeloid leukemia. *Seminars in Oncology*, 35(4), 378–387. doi:10.1053/ j.seminoncol.2008.04.008.
- Polit, D. F., & Beck, C. T. (2008). *Nursing research: Generating and assessing evidence for nursing practice* (8th ed.). Philadelphia, PA: Lippincott, Williams & Wilkins.
- Pothiwala, P., Jain, S. K., & Yaturu, S. (2009). Metabolic syndrome and cancer. *Metabolic Syndrome and Related Disorders*, 7(4), 279–287.

- Price, C., & Knight, S. C. (2009). Methyglyoxal: Possible link between hyperglycaemia and immune suppression? *Cell*, 20(7), 312–317. doi:10.1016/j.tem.20093.03.010
- Pulte, D., Gondos, A., & Brenner, H. (2010). Expected long-term survival of patients diagnosed with acute myeloblastic leukemia during 2006–2010. Annals of Oncology, 21, 335–341.
- Qin, L., Wang, Y., Yao, L., & Wang, Z. (2011). AKT down-regulates insulin-like growth factor-1 receptor as negative feedback. *Journal of Biochemistry*, 150(2), 151–156. doi:10.1093/jb/mvr066
- Quan, H., Halfon, P., Fong, A., Burnand, B., Luthi, J. C., Saunders, L. D., . . .
 Ghali, W. A. (2005). Coding algorithms for defining comorbidities in ICD-9-CM and ICD-10 administrative data. *Medical Care*, 43(11), 1130–1139.
- Quan, H., Li, B., Couris, C. M., Fushimi, K., Graham, P., Hider, P., . . . Sundararajan, V. (2011). Updating and validating the Charlson Comorbidity Index and score for risk adjustment in hospital discharge abstracts using data from 6 countries. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, 73(6), 676–682. doi:10.1093/aje/kwq433
- Rabkin, Z., Israel, O., & Keidar, Z. (2010). Do hyperglycemia and diabetes affect the incidence of false-negative ¹⁸F-FDG PET/CT studies in patients evaluated for infection or inflammation and cancer? A comparative analysis. *The Journal of Nuclear Medicine*, *51*(5), 1015–1020. doi:10.2967/jnumed.109.074294
- Reiman, J. M., Kmieciak, M., Manjili, M. H., & Knutson, K. L. (2008). Tumor immunoediting and immunosculpting pathways to cancer progression. *Seminars in Cancer Biology*, 17(4). 275–287. doi:10.1016/j.semcancer.2007.06.009

- Rentschler, L. M., Swarts, S. J., Bierman, P. J., Devetten, M. P., Stoner, J. A., Puumala,
 S. E., & Goldner, W. S. (2010). Association between hyperglycemia and hospital length of stay in patients undergoing hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. *The Endocrinologist*, 20(5), 232–235. doi:10.1097/TEN.0b013e3181f47dbc
- Reuter, S., Gupta, S. C., Chaturvedi, M. M., & Aggarwal, B. B. (2010). Oxidative stress, inflammation, and cancer: How are they linked? *Free Radical Biology & Medicine*, 49, 1603–1616.
- Richards, R. S., Wang, L., & Jelinek, H. (2007). Erythrocyte oxidative damage in chronic fatigue syndrome. *Archives of Medical Research*, 38, 94–98. doi:10.1016/ j.arcmed.2006.06.008
- Richardson, L. C., & Pollack, L. A. (2005). Therapy insight: Influence of Type 3 diabetes on the development, treatment and outcomes of cancer. *Nature Clinical Practice Oncology*, 2(1), 48–53.
- Roboz, G. J. (2011). Novel approaches to the treatment of acute myeloid leukemia. *Hematology*, 2011(1), 43–50.
- Rodak, B. F., Fritsma, G. A., & Keohane, E. M. (2012). *Hematology: Clinical principles and applications* (4th ed.). St. Louis, MO: Elsevier Saunders.
- Rowe, J. (2009). Optimal induction and post-remission therapy for AML in first remission. *Hematology*, 2009, 396–405. doi:10.1182/asheducation-2009.1.396
- Ryu, T. Y., Park, J., & Scherer, P. E. (2014). Hyperglycemia as a risk factor for cancer progression. *Diabetes & Metabolism Journal.* 38, 330–336 doi:10.4093/ dmj.2014.38.5.330

- Saiepour, D., Sehlin, J., & Oldenborg, P. (2003). Hyperglycemia-induced protein kinase C activation inhibits phagocytosis of C3b- and immunoglobin G-opsonized yeast particles in normal human neutrophils. *Experimental Diabetes Research*, 4, 125–132.
- Schreiber, R. D. (2005). Cancer vaccine 2004 opening address: The molecular and cellular basis of cancer immunosurveillance and immunoediting. *Cancer Immunity*, 5(Suppl. 1), 1–8.
- Schneeweiss, S., & Maclure, M. (2000). Use of comorbidity scores for control of confounding in studies using administrative databases. *International Journal of Epidemiology*, 29, 891–898.
- Schwartzberg, L. S. (2006). Neutropenia: Etiology and pathogenesis. *Clinical Cornerstone*, 8(5), S5–S11.
- Shank, M., Xu, Y., Skrha, J., Dankner, R., Zick, Y., & Roth, J. (2008). Insulin resistance and hyperinsulinemia: Is hyperinsulinemia the cart or the horse? *Diabetes Care*, 31, S262–S268. doi:10.2337/dco8-s264
- Sheean, P. M., Freels, S. A., Helton, W. S., & Braunshweig, C.A. (2006). Adverse clinical consequences of hyperglycemia from total parenteral nutrition exposure during hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. *Biology of Blood and Marrow Transplantation*, 12(6), 656–664. doi:10.1016/j.bbmt.2006.01.010
- Siegelaar, S. E., Holleman, F., Hoekstra, J. B., & DeVries, J. H. (2010). Glycemic variability: Does it matter? *Endocrine Reviews*, 319(2), 171–182.doi:10.1210/ er.2009-0021

- Singh, P., Jain, A., & Kaur, G. (2004). Impact of hypoglycemia and diabetes on CNS: Correlation of mitochrondrial oxidative stress with DNA damage. *Molecular and Cellular Biochemistry*, 260, 153–159.
- Smith, M. J., & Liehr, P. R. (2008). *Middle range theory for nursing* (2nd ed.). New York, NY: Springer.

Soop, M., Duxbury, H., Agwunobi, A. O., Gibson, J. M., Hopkins, S. J., Childs,
C., . . .Carlson, G. L. (2002). Euglycemic hyperinsulinemia augments the cytokine and endocrine responses to endotoxins in humans. *American Journal of Physiology-Endocrinology and Metabolism, 282*, E1276–E1285.
doi:10.1152/apendo.00535.2001

- Soysal, D. E., Karakus, V., Seren, A. R., Tatar, E., Delik, M., & Hizar, S. (2012).
 Evaluation of transient hyperglycemia in non-diabetic patients with febrile neutropenia. *European Journal of Internal Medicine*, 23, 342–346.
 doi:10.1016/j.ejim.2011.12.010
- Stentz, F. B., Umpierrez, G. E., Cuervo, R., & Kitabchi, A. E. (2004). Proinflammatory cytokines, markers of cardiovascular risks, oxidative stress, and lipid peroxidation in patients with hyperglycemic crisis. *Diabetes*, 53, 2079–2086.
- Storey, S., & Von Ah, D. (2012). Impact of malglycemia on health outcomes in hospitalized patients with cancer: A review of the literature. *Oncology Nursing Forum*, 39(5), 258–465. doi:10.1188/12.onf.458–465.
- Storey, S., & Von Ah, D. (2015). Incidence and impact of hyperglycemia on hospitalized leukemia patients. *European Journal of Oncology Nursing*, 19(1). 13–17. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ejon.2014.08.005

- Swanson, C. M., Potter, D. J., Kongable, G. L., & Cook, C. B. (2011). Update on inpatient glycemic control in hospitals in the United States. *Endocrine Practice*, 17(6), 853–861. doi:10.4158/EP11042.OR
- Tabachnick, B. G., & Fidell, L. S. (2012). Using multivariate statistics (6th ed.). Boston,MA: Pearson.

Taubes, G. (2009). Prosperity's plague. Science, 325, 256–260.

- Tefferi, A., & Letendre, L. (2012). Going beyond 7 + 3 regimens in the treatment of adult acute myeloid leukemia. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, *30*(20), 2425–2438. doi:10.1200/JCO.2011.38.9601
- Texas oncology. (2014). *Acute myeloid leukemia induction*. Retrieved from: http://www.texasoncology.com/types-of-cancer/leukemia/ acute-myeloid-leukemia/acute-myeloid-leukemia-induction
- Thomas, M. (2010). Assessment and management of patients with hematologic disorders.
 In B. G. Smeltzer, B. G. Bare, J. L. Hinkle, & K. H. Cheever (Eds.), *Brunner & Suddarth's textbook of medical–surgical nursing* (12th ed., pp. 903–960).
 Philadelphia, PA: Lippincott, Walters & Wilkins.
- Tredan, O., Galmarini, C. M., & Tannock, I. F. (2007). Drug resistance and the solid tumor microenvironment. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute*, 99(19), 1441–1454. doi:10.1093/jnci/djm135

Turchin, A., Matheny, M. E., Shubina, M., Scanlon, J. V., Greenwood, B., & Pendergrass, M. L. (2009). Hypoglycemia and health outcomes in patients with diabetes hospitalized in the general ward. *Diabetes Care*, 32(7), 1153–1157. doi:10.2337/dc08-2127.

- Turina, M., Fry, D. E., & Polk, H. C. (2005). Acute hyperglycemia and the innate immune system: Clinical, cellular, and molecular aspects. *Critical Care Medicine*, 33(7), 1624–1632. doi:10.1097/01.CCM.0000170106.61978.08
- Umpierrez, G. E., Isaacs, S. D., Bazargan, N., You, X., Thaler, L. M., & Kitababchi,
 A. E. (2002). Hyperglycemia: An independent marker of in-hospital mortality in patients with undiagnosed diabetes. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism*, 87(3), 978–982. doi:10.1210/jc.87.3.978
- Van den Berghe, G., Wouters, P., Weekers, F., Verwaest, C., Bruyninickx, F., Schetz, M., . . . Bouillon, R. (2001). Intensive insulin therapy in critically ill patients. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 345(19), 1359–1367. doi:10.1210/ jc.2009-0663
- VanVoorhis, C. R., & Morgan, B. L. (2007). Understanding power and rules of thumb for determining sample sizes. *Tutorials in Quantitative Methods for Psychology*, 3(2), 43–50.
- Vasa, F. R., & Molitch, M. E. (2001). Endocrine problems in the chronically critically ill patient. *Clinics in Chest Medicine*, 22(1), 193–208.
- Villarreal-Garza, C., Shaw-Dulin, R., Lara-Medina, F., Bacon, L., Rivera, D.,
 Ursua, L., . . . Herrera, L. A. (2012). Impact of diabetes and hyperglycemia on survival in advanced breast cancer patients. *Experimental Diabetes Research*, 2012, 1–8. doi:10.1155/2012/7322027
- Vincent, A. M., McClean, L. L., Backus, C., & Feldman, E. L. (2005). Short-term hyperglycemia produces oxidative damage and apoptosis in neurons. *The FASEB Journal*, 19, 1–24. doi:10.1096/fj.04-2513fje

- Visconti, R., & Grieco, D. (2009). New insights on oxidative stress in cancer. *Current* Opinion in Drug Discovery & Development, 12(2), 240–245.
- Von Ah, D., Kang, D. H., & Carpenter, J. (2008). Predictors of cancer-related fatigue in women with breast cancer prior to, during, and after adjuvant therapy. *Cancer Nursing*, 31(2), 134–144. doi:10.1097/01.NCC.0000305704.84164.54
- Walker, L., & Avant, K. (2005). Strategies for theory construction in nursing (4th ed.). Upper Saddle River, NJ: Pearson Prentice Hall.
- Walrand, S., Guillet, C., Boirie, Y., & Vasson, M. (2004). In vivo evidences that insulin regulates human polymorphonuclear neutrophil functions. *Journal of Leukocyte Biology*, 76, 1104–1110.
- Wang, J., Alexanian, A., Ying, T. J., Dharmashankar, K., Vasquez-Vivar, J., Gutterman,
 D. D., & Wldlansky, M. E. (2012). Acute exposure to low glucose rapidly induces endothelial dysfunction and mitochondrial oxidative stress: Role for AMP kinase. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis and Vascular Biology, 32*, 712–720. doi:10.1161/
 ATVBAHA.111.227389
- Warner, R. M. (2008). Applied statistics: From bivariate through multivariate techniques. Los Angeles, CA: Sage.
- Weiser, M. A., Cabanillas, M. E., Konopleva, M., Thomas, D. A., Pierce, S. A., Escalante, C. P., . . . O'Brien, S. M. (2004). Relation between the duration of remission and hyperglycemia during induction chemotherapy for acute lymphocytic leukemia with a hyperfractionated cyclophosphamide, vincristine, doxorubicin, and dexamethasone/methotrexate cytarabine regimen. *Cancer*, *100*(6), 1179–1185. doi:10.1002/cncr.20071

- Wilson, C. S., Davidson, G. S., Martin, S. B., Andries, E., Potter, J., Harvey, R., . . .
 Willman, C. (2006) Gene expression profiling of adult acute myeloid leukemia identifies novel biologic clusters for risk classification and outcome prediction. *Blood*, 108(2), 685–696.
- World Health Organization. (2013). *BMI classification*. Retrieved from http://apps.who.int/bmi/index.jsp?introPage=intro_3.html
- Yi-Shing, M., I-Ping, Y., Hsiang-Lin, T., Ching-Wen, H., Suh-Hang, H. J., & Jaw-Yuan, W. (2013). High glucose modulates antiproliferative effect and cytoxicity of 5-Fluorouracil in human colon cancer cells. *DNA and Cell Biology*, 0(0), 1–9. doi:10.1089/dna.20132161
- Yoo, J. H., Choi, S. M., Lee, D. G., Choi, J. H., Shinn, W. S., Min, W. S., & Kim, C. C. (2005). Prognostic factors influencing infection-related mortality in patients with acute leukemia in Korea. *Journal of Korean Medical Science*, 20, 31–35.
- Zeng, L., Biernacka, K. M., Holly, J. M., Jarrett, C., Morrison, A. A., Morgan, A., & Perks, C. M. (2010). Hyperglycaemia confers resistance to chemotherapy on breast cancer cells: The role of fatty acid synthase. *Endocrine-Related Cancer*, 17, 539. doi:10.1677/ERC-09-0221
- Ziech, D., Franco, R., Georgakilas, A. G., Georgakila, S., Malmou-Mitsi, V., Schoneveld,
 O., . . . Panayiotidis, M. I. (2010). The role of reactive oxygen species and
 oxidative stress in environmental carcinogenesis and biomarker development. *Chemico-Biological Interactions*, 188, 334–339. doi:10.1016/j.cbi.2010.

CURRICULUM VITAE

Susan Storey

EDUCATION

Indiana University, Indianapolis, IN. PhD in Nursing

Indiana Wesleyan University, Marion, IN. Master of Science in Nursing

Indiana Wesleyan University, Marion, IN. Bachelor of Science in Nursing

CERTIFICATIONS

Advanced Oncology Clinical Nurse Specialist (AOCNS)

PUBLICATIONS

- Storey, S., & Von Ah, D., (2015). Prevalence and impact of hyperglycemia on hospitalized leukemia patients, *European Journal of Oncology Nursing*, 19(1), 13–17.
- Autor, S., Storey, S., & Ziemba-Davis, M. (2013). Knowledge of palliative care: An evaluation of oncology, intensive care and heart failure nurses. *Journal of Hospice and Palliative Care Nurse*, 15(5), 307–315.
- Reeves, D., Kam, T. & Storey, S. (2013). Oral antineoplastic handling at health care institutions in the United States: A survey of nurses and pharmacists. *Hospital Pharmacy*, 48, 308–313.
- Von Ah, D., & Storey, S., Jansen, C., & Allen, D. (2013). Coping strategies and interventions for cognitive changes associated with cancer and cancer therapy. *Seminars in Oncology Nursing*, 29(4, Special Ed.), 288–299.
- Iseminger, K., Burrato, C., & Storey, S. (In press). Ethics consultation and education in oncology: Enhancing the formation of "nurse-as-moral-agent". Book chapter. *Oncology Nursing Society*. Pittsburgh, PA.
- Storey, S., & Von Ah, D. (2012). Impact of malglycemia on clinical outcomes in hospitalized cancer patients: A review of the literature. *Oncology Nursing Forum*, 39(5), 458–464.
- Storey, S, Linden, E., & Fisher, M. (2008). Showcasing leadership exemplars to propel professional practice model implementation. *The Journal of Nursing Administration*, 38(3), 138–142.

Storey, S., Crist, L., Nelis, D., Murphy, L., & Fisher, M. L. (2007). Creation of a unique career enhancement program for a hospital-based education and development department. *Journal for Nurses in Staff Development*, 23(2), 55–62.

POSTERS

- Storey, S., & Von Ah, D. Malglycemia and health outcomes in hospitalized patients with acute myeloid leukemia (abstract winner). St Vincent Research Symposium, Indianapolis, IN. June 17, 2015.
- Storey, S., Brown, J., Foley, A., Newkirk, E., Powers, J., Barger, J., & Paige, K.
 Comparative evaluation of antimicrobial coated versus non-antimicrobial coated peripherally inserted central catheters and associated complications: A prospective randomized control trial. St. Vincent Research Symposium, Indianapolis, IN. June 17, 2015.
- Gupta, N., Reeves, D., & Storey, S. Outcomes of robotic surgeries for colorectal cancer at a community cancer center. St. Vincent Research Symposium, Indianapolis, IN. June 17, 2015.
- Storey, S., & Von Ah, D. Hyperglycemia in elderly patients hospitalized with leukemia. 39th Annual Midwest Nursing Research Conference, Indianapolis, IN, April 16– 19, 2015.
- Tang, C., Guilkey, R., Storey, S., Nielsen, A., & Von Ah, D. Impact of depressive symptoms and fatigue on quality of life in breast cancer survivors. 39th Annual Midwest Nursing Research Conference, Indianapolis, IN, April 16–19, 2015.
- Guilkey, R., Storey, S., Tang, C., Nielsen, A., & Von Ah, D. Pain and anxiety and quality of life in breast cancer survivors. 39th Annual Midwest Nursing Research Conference, Indianapolis, IN, April 16–19, 2015.
- Nielsen, A., Guilkey, R., Storey, S., Tang, C., & Von Ah, D. *Physical activity level and symptoms after diagnosis and treatment for breast cancer*. 39th Annual Midwest Nursing Research Conference, Indianapolis, IN, April 16–19, 2015.
- Storey, S., & Von Ah, D. *Hyperglycemia among elderly patients with leukemia*. St. Vincent Research Symposium. Indianapolis, IN. June, 2014.
- Storey, S., Brown, J., Foley, A., Powers, J., Newkirk, E., Barger, J., & Paige, K. A comparative evaluation of antimicrobial versus non-antimicrobial peripherally inserted catheters on central line associated blood stream infections: An interim analysis. St. Vincent Research Symposium. Indianapolis, IN. June, 2014.

- Gupta, N., Freeman, R., Storey, S., Reeves, D. Ascioti, A., Davis, C., Dugan, T.,
 Flanders, V., Givens, S., Heikal, M., Jhajria, S., Leagre, C., Liebross, R.,
 Mahidhara, R., Martinez, B., Moallem, M., Shaynak, A., & Toney, B. *The implementation of a risk-directed lung cancer screening program at a community teaching hospital.* St Vincent Research Symposium. Indianapolis, IN. June, 2015.
- Gupta, N., Storey, S., Reeves, D., & Shaynak, A. Outcomes from a community hospital lung cancer screening program. American Society of Clinical Oncology (ASCO). Chicago, IL. May, 2015
- Storey, S., & Von Ah, D. The impact of hyperglycemia on clinical outcomes of hospitalized patients. Sigma Theta Tau International 42nd Biennial Convention. Indianapolis, IN. November, 2013.
- Storey, S., & Von Ah, D. Predictors of hyperglycemia in hospitalized patients with leukemia. Oncology Nursing Society Research Conference. Dallas, TX. October, 2013.
- Storey, S., & Von Ah, D. Outcomes of hyperglycemia in the hospitalized leukemia patient (abstract winner). St. Vincent Health Research Conference. Indianapolis, IN. June, 2013.
- Storey, S., & Von Ah, D. *The impact of hyperglycemia on hospitalized leukemia patients*. Midwest Nursing Research Conference. Chicago, IL. March, 2013.
- Storey, S., & Von Ah, D. Malglycemia and clinical outcomes on the hospitalized leukemia patients. Oncology Nursing Society Research Conference. Phoenix, AZ. November, 2012.
- Storey, S., & Ziemba-Davis, M. Malglycemia in oncology patients before and after implementation of a hyperglycemia protocol. St. Vincent Health Research Conference. Indianapolis, IN. June, 2012.
- Reeves, D., Kam, T., & Storey, S. Survey of pharmacists & nurses on oral antineoplastic handling precautions. St. Vincent Health Research Conference. Indianapolis, IN. June, 2012.
- Storey, S., & Ziemba-Davis, M. Malglycemia in oncology patients before and after implementation of a hyperglycemia protocol. Purdue University Nursing Research Conference. November, 2012.
- Storey, S., Ziemba-Davis, M., & Kussro, M. Glycemic variations and outcomes in the hospitalized oncology patient. St. Vincent Health Research Conference. Indianapolis, IN. June, 2011.
- Autor, S., Storey, S., & Ziemba-Davis, M. Knowledge of palliative care: Evaluating oncology, intensive care and congestive heart failure nurses and case managers.
 St. Vincent Health Research Conference. Indianapolis, IN. June, 2011.

- Storey, S., Hubner, K., & Ziemba-Davis, M. Effectiveness and cultural assimilation of an evidence-based practice program for nursing. St. Vincent Health Research Conference. Indianapolis, IN. June, 2011.
- Powers, J., Brown, J., Coddington, A., Fischer, M., & Storey, S. Evaluation of factors related to the development of central line related bloodstream infections. St. Vincent Health Research Conference. Indianapolis, IN. June, 2011.
- Storey, S. Promoting a safe work environment: *The sampling of the operating room during intraoperative chemotherapy*. St. Vincent Health Research Conference. Indianapolis, IN. June, 2009.
- Kussro, M., & Storey, S. Use of probiotics for decreasing the incidence of antibiotic associated diarrhea and clostridium difficile associated diarrhea. St. Vincent Health Research Conference. Indianapolis, IN. June, 2009.
- Storey, S. Evidence-based practice: Measurement of knowledge attitude skills and habits of participants before and after a formal EBP program. Oncology Nursing Society. Advanced Practice Nursing Conference. Chicago, IL. November, 2007.

PRESENTATIONS

- 4/17/2015 Storey, S., & Von Ah, D. *Hyperglycemia in elderly patients hospitalized with leukemia*. 39th Annual Midwest Nursing Research Conference, Indianapolis, IN, April 16–19, 2015.
- Storey, S., & Von Ah, D. Glucose challenges in older adults: Hyperglycemia in hospitalized elderly patients with leukemia: A pilot analysis. Gerontologic Society of America. Washington, DC, November 5–9, 2014.
- 06/2014 Storey, S., & Von Ah, D. Hyperglycemia among elderly patients with leukemia.
 St. Vincent Research Symposium. Indianapolis, IN.
- 11/2013 Storey, S., & Hubner, K. *Outcomes from a formal evidence-based practice program*. Sigma Theta Tau International, 42nd Biennial Convention. Indianapolis, IN.
- 10/2013 Storey, S., & Latty, S. *The magical transformation of a culture: Measuring outcomes of a professional practice model.* ANCC National Magnet Conference. Orlando, FL.
- 06/2013 Storey, S., & Von Ah, D. *Outcomes of hyperglycemia in the hospitalized leukemia patient*. St. Vincent Health Research Symposium. Indianapolis, IN.

03/2011	Fischer, M., & Storey, S. <i>Tracking CNS time for productivity, focus and research</i> . National Association of Clinical Nurse Specialists Conference.
10/2009	Hubner, K., & Storey, S. <i>Outcomes of a formal evidence-based program</i> . JoAnna Briggs Institute International Convention. Adelaide, AUS.
03/2008	Storey, S., & Jones, D. <i>The preparation, education implementation of a patient family initiated rapid response program.</i> National Association of Clinical Nurse Specialists Atlanta, GA.
03/2008	Storey, S., & Hubner, K. <i>The role of the Clinical Nurse Specialist in the development of a formal evidence-based practice program</i> . National Association of Clinical Nurse Specialists Atlanta, GA.
10/2008	Implementing evidence-based practice. Discussion Panelist. Purdue Calumet-Research Hammond, IN.
11/2008	<i>The St. Vincent evidence-based practice program.</i> IUSON Translational Research Luncheon. Indianapolis, IN.
06/2008	Storey, S., & Hubner, K. <i>Evidence-based practice: Measurement of knowledge, attitude, skills, and habits.</i> St. Vincent Health Research Conference. Indianapolis, IN.

RESEARCH EXPERIENCE

Hospital

11/2014-05/2015	Outcomes of robotic surgery for patients with colorectal cancer. Sub Investigator.
01/2014-present	The implementation of a risk directed lung cancer screening program at a community teaching hospital. Sub Investigator.
09/2013-05/2015	A comparative evaluation of antimicrobial coated vs. non- antimicrobial coated peripherally inserted central catheters on the effect of central line related bloodstream infections. Principal Investigator.
2007–2013	Knowledge, attitudes, skills and habits of RN's before and after an evidence-based practice program implementation. Principal Investigator.
2010–2012	<i>Glycemic variations and outcomes in the hospitalized oncology patient</i> . Principal Investigator.
5/2008	Use of probiotics for decreasing the incidence of antibiotic- associated diarrhea and clostridium difficile associated diarrhea. Sub Investigator.

1/2008	Product performance evaluation of a drainable fecal collector prototype. Sub Investigator.		
4/2007	Environmental sampling of chemotherapy handling, administration and disposal in heated intraperitoneal chemotherapy (HIPEC) surgeries. Principal Investigator.		
06/2005	Development of the St. Vincent professional practice model. Principal Investigator.		
Hospital/Indiana University, Indianapolis, IN			
09/2013-05/2015	Malglycemia and health outcomes in hospitalized patients with acute myeloid leukemia		

PRECEPTORSHIP EXPERIENCE

08/2006-5/2010	Clinical Nurse Specialist preceptor
	Indiana University School of Nursing

DISSERTATION RESEARCH STUDY GRANT FUNDING

Sigma Theta Tau, granted February 2014. *Malglycemia in the hospitalized acute myeloid leukemia patient*. Role PI, \$5,000.

Foundation, granted February, 2014. *Malglycemia in the hospitalized acute myeloid leukemia patient*. Role PI, \$2,250.

PROFESSIONAL AFFILIATIONS & SOCIETIES

2006–present	National Association of Clinical Nurse Specialists
2006–present	Central Indiana Organization of Clinical Nurse Specialist (CIOCNS)
2006–present	Sigma Theta Tau International
2001–present	Oncology Nursing Society
2005–present	Central Indiana Oncology Nursing Society (CIONS)
2012-present	Midwest Nursing Research Society 2012-present
2006–2009	Toastmasters International Local Chapter–Indiana Vice President of Membership 7/07–6/08 Secretary 6/08–7/09
01/2006-08/2009	Institutional Review Board (January 2006–August 2009)

HONORS & AWARDS

- Elite 50 Award–Indiana University–Graduate and Professional Student Government (April 2015)
- Indiana University–Purdue University–Elite 50 Award (April 2015)
- Indiana University Graduate School Travel Scholarship Award (November 2014)
- Clinical Nurse Specialist Foundation Jan Bingle Scholarship Award (May 2014)
- Indiana University School of Nursing William and Doris Rodie Dissertation Award (February 2014)
- Indiana University School of Nursing PhD Leadership Fellowship Award (February 2014)
- Sigma Theta Tau International Rising Star Award (November 2013)
- Research Abstract Winner (Nursing category). St. Vincent Health Research Symposium (June 2013)
- Oncology Nursing Society Susan Baird Excellence in Clinical Writing Award (May 2013)
- Oncology Nursing Society Foundation Connections Research Conference Scholarship (November 2012)
- Indiana University Graduate School Travel Scholarship Award (November 2012)
- Walther Cancer Scholarship–Indiana University School of Nursing (October 2012)

Professional Nurse Recognition Award (May 2012)

Mary Humble St. Vincent Foundation Scholarship Award (April 2009)

COMMITTEE MEMBERSHIP

National

Glucose Control in Patients with Cancer Nursing Taskforce

Regional

Central Indiana Clinical Nurse Specialist Scholarship Committee